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PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS1 

 Mercer County Superseding Indictment 14-02-0232 charged Jamar 

Myers with: murder, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a (Count One); murder as an 

accomplice, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a and 2C:2-6 (Count Two); felony 

murder, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:11- 3a(3) (Count Three); first-degree robbery, 

contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:15-1 (Count Four); four counts of second-degree 

possession of a weapon for an unlawful purpose, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-4a 

(Counts Five, Six, Seven, and Twelve); two counts of second-degree unlawful 

possession of a weapon, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-5b (Counts Eight and 

Nine); fourth-degree tampering with evidence (Count Ten); and first-degree 

robbery, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:15-1 and 2C:5-1 (Count Eleven). (Da 1-13)2 

These charges relate to two incidents that occurred on April 29, 2011: an 

attempted robbery of Vizzoni’s Pharmacy in Hamilton, and a robbery and 

shooting at the Brunswick Avenue Pharmacy in Trenton. (Da 1-13); State v. 

 

1 Due to the interrelated nature of the procedural history and statement of facts, 

the two sections have been combined for clarity to the reader. 

 
2 Da = defendant-appellant’s appendix 

  1T = 11/29/16 plea transcript 

  2T = 7/7/17 sentencing transcript 

  3T = 3/3/23 motion transcript 

  4T = 3/19/24 SOA transcript 
 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, May 15, 2024, A-002045-22



 

2 
 

Myers, Docket No. A-0185-17, 2019 WL 1581430, at *1-3 (App. Div. Apr. 12, 

2019). 

 Mercer County Indictment 11-08-833 charged Myers with: first-degree 

robbery, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:15-1 (Count One); third-degree theft by 

unlawful taking, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:20-3a (Count Two); fourth-degree 

aggravated assault, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:12-1b(1) (Count Three); third-

degree terroristic threats, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:12-3a (Count Four); second- 

degree possession of a weapon for an unlawful purpose, contrary to N.J.S.A. 

2C:39-4a (Count Five); second-degree unlawful possession of a weapon, 

contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-5b (Count Six); fourth-degree possession of a 

defaced firearm, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-3d (Count Seven); third-degree 

theft by receiving stolen property, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:20-7a (Count 

Eight); and fourth-degree unlawful taking of a means of conveyance, contrary 

to N.J.S.A. 2C:20-10d (Count Ten). (Da 14-25) These charges relate to an 

armed robbery at a 7-Eleven in Hamilton that occurred on May 7, 2011. (Da 

14-25); Myers, 2019 WL 1581430, at *1-3.3  

 Myers moved to suppress evidence in the 7-Eleven Case, namely 

evidence found during the search of a car in which Myers was a passenger. 

 

3 For clarity, Indictment 14-02-0232 will be referred to as the “Pharmacy 

Case,” and Indictment 11-08-833 will be referred to as the “7-Eleven Case.” 
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Myers, 2019 WL 1581430, at *3. The car was pulled over following the 7-

Eleven robbery, and a warrantless search of the car led to the recovery of 

clothing, money, and a gun allegedly linking the occupants to the robbery. 

State v. Nyema, 249 N.J. 509, 515-18 (2022). On October 4, 2013, the trial 

court granted the suppression motion in part, suppressing the gun but finding 

the clothing and money admissible. (Da 26) 

 In the Pharmacy Case, the State filed a N.J.R.E. 404(b) motion seeking 

to admit the following evidence against Myers: the clothing and money 

deemed admissible in the 7-Eleven Case; surveillance footage from the 7-

Eleven Case; surveillance footage from another robbery that took place in 

Pennsylvania; and a letter allegedly sent by Myers in which he appeared to 

threaten someone. (Da 33, 52) On September 30, 2016, the trial court granted 

the 404(b) motion in part. While the court excluded the surveillance footage 

from the Pennsylvania robbery, the court deemed all the other evidence 

admissible. (Da 42-53) 

On November 29, 2016, the trial court held a pretrial hearing. (1T) The 

court noted that it had a few motions to address and then would proceed to trial 

on the Pharmacy Case. (1T 3-15 to 4-14) The court reiterated that once the 

trial began, it would not accept a negotiated plea. (1T 3-18 to 21) The court 

summarized Myers’s sentencing exposure and asked the State for its final plea 
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offer. (1T 4-18 to 5-4) The State explained that if Myers pleaded guilty to the 

felony murder charge in the Pharmacy Case and the armed robbery charge in 

the 7-Eleven Case, it would request a 30-year sentence with 30 years of parole 

ineligibility on the felony murder, concurrent to a 12-year NERA sentence on 

the armed robbery. (1T 5-5 to 6-2) The State would also ask Pennsylvania to 

run any convictions from the Pennsylvania robbery concurrent to Myers’s New 

Jersey sentence. (Ibid.) The State told Myers that if he went to trial on the 

Pharmacy Case and was acquitted, it would seek an extended term on the 7-

Eleven Case, which would subject Myers to life in prison. (1T 4-11 to 25, 5-24 

to 6-7, 9-3 to 10) The State also threatened to seek consecutive sentences on 

all cases if Myers proceeded to trial (1T 5-24 to 6-7, 9-10 to 15), and the judge 

stated that he would in fact impose consecutive sentences. (1T 8-11 to 23) 

After conferring with defense counsel, Myers decided to accept the 

State’s global plea offer. (1T 9-3 to 23, 12-9 to 28-16; Da 54-60) Pursuant to 

Rule 3:9-3(f), Myers entered into a conditional plea, preserving his right to 

appeal the 404(b) decision in the Pharmacy Case and the suppression decision 

in the 7-Eleven Case. (Da 54, 56)4 Immediately before Myers’s conference 

 

4 Rule 3:9-3(f) states: “With the approval of the court and the consent of the 

prosecuting attorney, a defendant may enter a conditional plea of guilty 

reserving on the record the right to appeal from the adverse determination of 

any specified pretrial motion. If the defendant prevails on appeal, the 

defendant shall be afforded the opportunity to withdraw his or her plea. 
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with defense counsel in which he decided to plead guilty, the court explained 

to Myers that, “over the last few years I’ve been handling your cases I’ve 

made a number of decisions,” and that “[o]bviously, even with a guilty plea, 

that doesn’t prevent you from filing an appeal and if an appellate court judge 

finds that I committed an error, that I was wrong in my 404(b) decisions or 

anything else, your guilty plea could be reversed.” (1T 9-25 to 10-8) The plea 

also gave Myers the right to withdraw if Pennsylvania did not run any 

potential sentence concurrent to his New Jersey sentence. (1T 15-12 to 24; 2T 

4-23 to 5-20; Da 56, 58) Pennsylvania declined to prosecute any charges 

against Myers. (Da 61-62)5 

On July 17, 2017, Myers was sentenced in accordance with the plea 

agreement to 30 years of imprisonment with 30 years of parole ineligibility on 

 

Nothing in this rule shall be construed as limiting the right of appeal provided 

for in R. 3:5-7(d).” 

 

Rule 3:5-7(d) states that rulings on motions to suppress physical evidence are 

always subject to appellate review following a guilty plea. Thus, while it was 

not necessary for Myers to explicitly condition his plea on his right to appeal 

the suppression motion, he did so anyway. (Da 54)  

 
5 Myers also pleaded guilty to three violations of probation in exchange for a 

sentence of time served. (2T 15-2 to 8; Da 54, 56) The State agreed to dismiss 

the remaining counts in the Pharmacy and 7-Eleven cases, as well as a fourth-

degree charge in another indictment. (2T 15-8 to 11; Da 56) 
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the Pharmacy case, concurrent to a 12-year NERA sentence on the 7-Eleven 

Case. (2T 16-13 to 24-22; Da 63-70)  

Myers appealed from his pretrial rulings, and on April 12, 2019, the 

Appellate Division affirmed in an unpublished opinion. Myers, 2019 WL 

1581430, at *4-9. The New Jersey Supreme Court subsequently granted 

certification limited to the suppression issue, and on January 25, 2022, the 

Supreme Court reversed the denial of Myers’s suppression motion, finding that 

the police lacked reasonable suspicion to stop the car that Myers was a 

passenger in and that all evidence found as a result of the stop must be 

suppressed. Nyema, 249 N.J. at 531-35. The 7-Eleven indictment was then 

dismissed due to “insufficient evidence upon which to predicate successful 

prosecution” (Da 71), and Myers moved to withdraw from his global plea 

agreement. (Da 72-74)  

On March 3, 2023, the trial court held a hearing on Myers’s motion to 

withdraw. (3T) At the hearing, defense counsel argued that because Myers 

entered into a “contingent plea,” his understanding was that if he was 

successful in appealing from any of his pretrial motions, he would be able to 

withdraw from his entire plea. (3T 14-10 to 15-20) Defense counsel also 

flagged that although the Supreme Court’s decision was about the 7-Eleven 

Case, it weakened the proofs in the Pharmacy Case, as the items suppressed by 
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the Supreme Court had been deemed admissible 404(b) evidence. (3T 11-8 to 

12-4) Counsel argued that if that 404(b) evidence been properly suppressed at 

the time of the plea, the outcome of the plea negotiations could have been 

different. (Ibid.) 

The trial court denied Myers’s motion to withdraw, concluding that 

Myers’s plea was taken in a “legally appropriate” way, and that Myers failed 

to meet his burden under State v. Slater, 198 N.J. 145 (2009). (3T 41-7 to 52-

9; Da 75)  

Myers filed a timely notice of appeal. (Da 76-80) Following the denial 

of Myers’s motion to transfer his case from the SOA calendar to the plenary 

calendar (Da 81-82), Myers’s appeal was argued on the March 19, 2024 SOA 

calendar. (4T) This Court affirmed the decision below (Da 83), and Myers 

moved for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 2:11-6. This Court granted 

Myers’s motion and transferred his case to the plenary calendar for briefing. 

(Da 84) This brief follows. 
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LEGAL ARGUMENT 

POINT I 

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING 

DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW 

FROM HIS GUILTY PLEA BECAUSE HE WAS 

ENTITLED TO WITHDRAW UNDER THE 

CONDITIONAL PLEA RULE. (3T 26-21 to 52-10; 

Da 75) 

 

In denying Myers’s motion to withdraw, the trial court found that 

Myers’s plea was taken in a “legally appropriate” way, and that Myers failed 

to meet his burden under State v. Slater, 198 N.J. 145 (2009). (3T 41-7 to 52-

9; Da 75) But the legality of Myers’s plea and the standard articulated in Slater 

were entirely inapplicable to Myers’s motion. Rather, Myers’s motion was 

governed by Rule 3:9-3(f) (“Conditional Pleas”), which requires that 

defendants be permitted to withdraw from their guilty pleas following 

successful appeals from pretrial rulings. Because the trial court applied the 

wrong standard in denying Myers’s motion to withdraw, and Myers has a right 

to withdraw under the proper standard, the decision below must be reversed. 

Rule 3:9-3(f) – the conditional plea rule – permits defendants to plead 

guilty while preserving the right to appeal from an adverse pretrial ruling. The 

rule states: “If the defendant prevails on appeal, the defendant shall be 

afforded the opportunity to withdraw his or her plea.” R. 3:9-3(f) (emphasis 
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added). In other words, in the case of a conditional plea, the plea is just that – 

conditional. Thus, motions to withdraw pursuant to the conditional plea rule 

are entirely different from motions to withdraw under Rule 3:9-3(e) (before 

sentencing) or Rule 3:21-1 (after sentencing). In the latter two situations, a 

defendant has changed his mind about pleading guilty and must show that the 

four factors articulated in Slater warrant withdrawal. Slater, 198 N.J. at 156-

62. But a defendant who enters into a conditional plea and succeeds on appeal 

has a right to withdraw under Rule 3:9-3(f), and Slater provides no grounds for 

denying the withdrawal motion. See State v. Diloreto, 362 N.J. Super. 600, 

615-16 (App. Div. 2003) (noting that unlike traditional applications to 

withdraw a guilty plea, a conditional plea is “premised on the right of a 

defendant to withdraw his plea” if his pre-plea motions were wrongly 

decided). Because our court rules automatically preserve the right to appeal 

rulings on physical suppression motions, the conditional plea rule applies to 

these motions, as well as to any other motion preserved in the plea agreement. 

See id. at 615-16. The right to withdraw also applies when “the defendant 

simultaneously pleads to multiple indictments and the pre-plea motion relates 

to only one.” Id. at 616 n.6. 

 Here, Myers pleaded guilty to multiple indictments as part of a global 

plea deal and preserved his right to appeal from two adverse pretrial rulings – 
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the suppression decision and the 404(b) decision. (Da 54)6 As the trial court 

explicitly told Myers prior to his decision to plead guilty, “even with a guilty 

plea, that doesn’t prevent you from filing an appeal and if an appellate court 

judge finds that I committed an error, that I was wrong in my 404(b) decisions 

or anything else, your guilty plea could be reversed.” (1T 10-4 to 8) (emphasis 

added). On appeal, the denial of Myers’s suppression motion was reversed. 

Nyema, 249 N.J. at 531-35. Under a straightforward application of the 

conditional plea rule and Diloreto, Myers has the right to withdraw from his 

guilty plea. See also State v. Kovack, 91 N.J. 476, 482 (1982) (“It is 

fundamental that when a defendant pleads guilty pursuant to a plea agreement, 

the terms of the agreement must be fulfilled. . . . and a defendant’s reasonable 

expectations generated by plea negotiations should be accorded deference.”) 

(citation omitted). The decision below depriving Myers of his right to 

withdraw was error. 

The rationale underlying the conditional plea rule further demonstrates 

why Myers should be permitted to withdraw. The conditional plea rule reflects 

the “basic principles of contract law” that govern plea agreements. State v. 

Means, 191 N.J. 610, 622 (2007). When the State and the defendant enter into 

 

6 Again, though it was unnecessary for Myers to explicitly preserve his right to 

appeal from the suppression decision, his decision to do so underscores the 

conditional nature of his guilty plea. 
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a plea agreement, they “reach a meeting of the minds,” and “consideration is 

present,” i.e., the defendant agrees to plead guilty to certain charges, and the 

State agrees to recommend a certain disposition. Ibid. The agreement is based 

on the information available to both parties at the time the defendant decides to 

plead guilty. When a defendant successfully appeals from a pretrial ruling, the 

defendant is in a different – and better – negotiating position. The conditional 

plea rule recognizes this change by permitting the defendant to reevaluate 

whether he would like to maintain his plea, renegotiate, or go to trial. Diloreto, 

362 N.J. at 616. 

The conditional plea rule also aligns with the well-established notion 

that a defendant who pleads guilty based on misinformation should be 

permitted to withdraw from his plea agreement. See State v. Taylor, 80 N.J. 

353, 365 (1979). When a defendant pleads guilty based on an erroneously 

decided pretrial ruling, he is essentially pleading guilty based on 

“misinformation,” as his plea is based on an inaccurate understanding of the 

State’s leverage against him. Thus, it would be “manifestly unjust to hold the 

defendant to his plea” after a successful appeal from a pretrial ruling. Kovack, 

91 N.J. at 482 (citation omitted). 

 It is not necessary for Myers to demonstrate why he may wish to 

withdraw, as he has a right to withdraw pursuant to the terms of his plea 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, May 15, 2024, A-002045-22



 

12 
 

agreement; however, the reasons he may wish to withdraw are fairly obvious 

from the record. When Myers pleaded guilty, evidence from the 7-Eleven Case 

(the clothing and money found in the car and the surveillance footage) was 

going to come in at his Pharmacy trial under 404(b). (Da 33, 42-53) Because 

our Supreme Court determined that the evidence found in the car was obtained 

in violation of Myers’s constitutional rights, Nyema, 249 N.J. at 531-35, it can 

no longer be used against him in the Pharmacy Case. See State v. Johnson, 118 

N.J. 639, 651 (1990) (“[E]vidence obtained in violation of a defendant’s 

federal- or state-constitutional rights is generally excluded as proof against the 

defendant.”) (citing cases).  

 As the trial court acknowledged, the evidence unlawfully recovered from 

the car was critical to the State’s proofs in the Pharmacy Case. (Da 50) (trial 

court reasoning that “the State’s identification evidence is limited to the 

credibility of [the] cooperating witness . . . and the clothing and cash 

discovered in the suspect’s automobile”). This is because the suspects’ faces 

were covered in the surveillance footage from both the 7-Eleven and the 

Pharmacy incidents. (Da 41, 50) The trial court reasoned that because the 

evidence in the car connected the occupants to the 7-Eleven robbery, it was 

admissible in the Pharmacy Case to prove identity due to a similar manner in 

which one of the suspects walked in the various surveillance videos. (Da 47-
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50) Without the car stop, the State’s evidence of identity is significantly 

weaker. See (Da 71) (dismissing 7-Eleven indictment due to “insufficient 

evidence upon which to predicate successful prosecution”). Put simply, our 

Supreme Court’s decision directly impacts the strength of the State’s case on 

the remaining indictment. Myers therefore has an incentive to withdraw and 

attempt to negotiate a new plea or proceed to trial.7 

Myers’s sentencing exposure has also changed because of his successful 

appeal. On the day of his guilty plea, Myers was ready to go to trial on the 

Pharmacy Case, but he pleaded guilty after the State emphasized the amount of 

prison he was facing due to a combination of the indictments against him. The 

State told Myers that if he went to trial on the Pharmacy Case and was 

acquitted, it would seek an extended term on the 7-Eleven Case, which would 

subject Myers to life in prison. (1T 4-11 to 25, 5-24 to 6-7, 9-3 to 10) The 

State further threatened to seek consecutive sentences on all cases if Myers 

proceeded to trial (1T 5-24 to 6-7, 9-10 to 15), and the judge stated that he 

would in fact impose consecutive sentences. (1T 8-11 to 23)  

 

7 At the SOA, this Court asked, “what can [Myers] get better than a 30 with 

30?” (4T 4-11 to 5-20) If Myers chooses to withdraw, the State may offer him 

the opportunity to plead to a lesser charge in the indictment (Da 1-13), or 

Myers could go to trial and receive an acquittal. 
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One can understand why Myers might have chosen to plead guilty out of 

fear of the worst-case scenario. See Means, 191 N.J. at 618 (acknowledging 

that plea bargaining “enables a defendant to reduce his penal exposure”) 

(citation omitted). But now, the worst-case scenario has changed. The 7-

Eleven Case was dismissed due to Myers’s successful appeal (Da 71), and the 

Pennsylvania case was never prosecuted. (Da 61-62) Thus, Myers’s aggregate 

sentencing exposure is lower, and he may feel differently about proceeding to 

trial on the Pharmacy Case. Put simply, the parties’ negotiating positions have 

changed. It is for this reason that the conditional plea rule permits defendants 

in Myers’s position to withdraw from their plea agreements. 

Jamar Myers explicitly conditioned his global plea agreement on the 

right to appeal from two adverse pretrial rulings. Myers rightly and reasonably 

understood that if he succeeded in appealing either of these rulings, he would 

be permitted to withdraw from the agreement. Under the trial court’s decision 

applying the wrong standard, Myers’s right to withdraw as a result of our 

Supreme Court’s decision in his case is not being honored. Myers respectfully 

requests that this Court reverse the decision below and permit him to withdraw 

from his plea. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the denial of Jamar Myers’s motion to 

withdraw from his guilty plea must be reversed.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

JENNIFER N. SELLITTI 

Public Defender 

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant 

 

 

BY:_______________________________ 

     ALISON GIFFORD  

Assistant Deputy Public Defender 

Attorney ID:  310912019 

 

Dated: May 15, 2024 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On May 7t11, 2011 Jamar Myers was aITested after being racially profiled and 

wrongfully accused of an armed robbery after a vehicle he occupied as a passenger 

was illegally stopped without probable cause or reasonable m1iculate suspicion. The 

vehicle was occupied by Jamar Myers, Ajene Drew, and Peter Nyema. 

On this same night of May 7t1,, 2011 Jamar Myers was also accused by f\iene 

Drew of the murder of A1jun "Reddy" Dyapa at the Brunswick Ave Pharmacy in the 

City of Trenton, New Jersey, that took place on April 29th, 2011, although Ajene 

Drew's claims contradicted and were inconsistent to the facts and evidence of the 

case. 

On May 14th May 15t11, and August 7th of2013 in a motion to suppress in the 

armed robbery case Jamar Myers stood before Hon Judge Pedro Jimenez who 

granted in pm1 and denied in part. Judge Jimenez ruled that a weapon found under 

the car hood would be suppressed ruling that it was obtain in an unlawful search, but 

the clothing and money found was admissible as evidence in the robbery case. Jamar 

Myers argued in his Pro Se brief that there was no probable cause 01: reasonable 

articulate suspicion to stop the vehicle Myers occupied, but stated they were stopped 

due to racial profiling. Myers also argued that the cloths were planted and were not 

in the car he occupied, but were found up the road. Which created a Brady issue in 

1 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, May 29, 2024, A-002045-22



the case with the video footage of the initial stop being destroyed without 

authorization or a copy persevered for discovery purposes (Da 94-95). Defendant 

Myers remained in the Mercer County Jail for 7 years fighting in his innocence the 

false accusations against him. 

On November 10, 2016, and October 14, 2016 defendant, Jamar Myers 

appeared before Honorable Robert Billmeier, J.S.C. on the State's motion to admit 

certain evidence ptli'suant to N.J.R.E. 404(b ). Judge Billmeier granted the motion, 

ruling that: evidence from the unrelated robbery Indictment 11-08-0833 would be 

admissible in the murder trial of Indictment 14-02-0232; Billmeier also ruled the 

two incidents charged in Indictment 14-02-0232 could be tried together. 

On November 29, 2016, Jamar Myers was forced under duress to enter into a 

global Conditional plea agreement, Under Rule 3:9-3(£). Without having full 

discovery and knowledge of the case against him. Myers took this conditional plea 

because illegally obtained evidence from the unrelated robbery case that was 

obtained through an unlawful search and seizure was improperly and illegally 

admitted into Jamar Myers homicide trial. Myers also plead guilty due to threats to 

kill his family ifhe spoke on his innocence and did not take the charge. Jamar Myers 

plead guilty to the felony murder charge in indictment number 14-02-0232-I and the 
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armed robbery charge in indictment number 11-08-833 that is protected my Court 

Rule 3:9-3(f) (Da 1-16). 

In exchange, the State agreed to recommend a 30-year sentence with 30 years 

of parole ineligibility on the felony murder, concun-ent to a 12-year NERA sentence 

on the armed robbery. The State also agreed to dismiss other New Jersey charges 

and agreed to actively pursue Pennsylvania to run pending charges concurrent to 

Myers's New Jersey sentence, which the State failed to do because PA never pursued 

any charges. Myers plea was conditioned on his right to appeal the denial of an 

N.J.R.E. 404B motion from the felony murder case, and a suppression motion from 

the armed robbery case of evidence that was illegally obtained by an unlawful search 

and seizure. Thus, Myers plea was conditioned on his right to appeal the trial court 

eJTor of admitting under N.J.R.E. 404B motion the evidence from the case armed 

robbery case into the felony murder trial, as well as the trial court suppression of 

illegally obtained evidence of an unlawful search and seizure in the robbery case. 

Again, evidence that was illegally obtained from the unrelated stop due to racial 

profiling. Under Rule 3:9-3(f), Jamar Myers preserved his right to appeal the 

decisions on the motions to suppress and to admit 404(b) evidence from the robbery 

case (clothing, video footage, and money) into Jamar Myers murder trial. 

On July 7, 20 I 7, Mr. Myers was sentenced in accordance with the plea 

agreement. A notice of appeal was filed on September 13, 2017. 
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On April 12, 2019 in an ui1published opinion, the Appellate Court Division 

affirmed the denial of Myers pretrial motions. On or about the year of2020 in State 

v. Nyema, 465 N.J. Super, 181, 185 (App. Div. 2020) reversed Nyema's conviction, 

and his sentence was vacated. (Emphasis added) 

On February 12, 2021, the New Jersey Supreme Court granted certification 

on the suppression issue related to Myers's armed robbery case. 

On January 25, 2022, in State v. Nyema, 245 N.J. 256 (2021 ), the New Jersey 

Supreme Court reversed the denial of Myers' s suppression motion, finding that there 

was no probable cause and the police lacked reasonable suspicion to stop the car that 

Myers was a passenger in, and thus all illegally obtained evidence found as a result 

of the illegal stop and unlawful search and seizure was suppressed. Myers armed 

robbery case was vacated and the matter remanded to the trial court. (Da 26, 

paragraph 3). 

On February 25, 2022, the armed robbery indictment and all counts was 

dismissed by the Mercer County Prosecutors office due to lack of evidence (Da 59). 

On or about April 15, 2022, Jamar Myers moved to withdraw from his global 

conditional plea agreement under Court rule 3:9-3(f) conditional pleas, and Myers 

asserts that: (1) He would have went to trial if the illegally obtained evidence from 

the unlawful sear?h and seizure was not, in etTor, wrongfully and illegally admitted 
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into Jamar Myers murder trial, Myers definitely would have went to trial, (2) Myers 

only accepted the plea deal because HIS 6TH Amendment Right to a fair trial was not 

"offered," to him and was violated when the illegally obtained evidence prejudiced 

was admitted (3) He is innocent (4 The agreement pe1iaining to the global 

conditional plea deal was not upheld by the trial court, the State or his attorney from 

what Mr. Myers understood the conditional plea deal to be (5) 404-B evidence that 

was ove1whelmingly prejudice that was improperly admitted and unlawfully 

obtained was adniitted into Myers homicide trial was suppressed. 

On or about March 3rd
, 2023, Jamar Myers stood before Judge Peter Warshaw 

for a hearing for Myers motion to withdraw his plea. The comi denied the motion, 

concluding that Myers was not permitted to withdraw under State v. Slater, 198 N.J. 

145 (2009) (Da 60-73). 

The lower comi improperly used the wrong law State v. Slater, 198 to govern 

Jamar Myers motion to withdraw his plea. Myers did not file a motion to withdraw 

his plea before his sentence, or after his sentence. Which are both governed by State 

v. Slater, 198 N.J. 145 (2009), and the prongs Slater holds. Defendants who enter 

into conditional pleas, who succeed on appeal his/her Right to withdraw is governed 

under Cami R. 3:9-3(£), As in the above case with Myers. Slater has no standing 

here. 
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On March 14, 2023, Myers filed a Notice of Appeal on the trial court's denial 

of Myers motion to withdraw plea, it was assigned to the SOA track. 

Sometime after being put on the SOA track Myers respectfully requested that 

his appeal be transfen-ed from the SOA calendar to the plenary track for briefing. 

The request to transfer from the SOA calendar to the plenary track was denied. 

The case involves significant and complex issues which are not amendable to 

resolution on the SOA calendar and requires briefing. The argument sought to be 

briefed by Myers include, but are not limited to: 

1. The trial court applied the wrong standard in denying Myers's motion to 

withdraw. The trial comi conducted an analysis under State v. Slater, 198 

N.J. 145 (2009),but the proper question was whether Myers should be 

permitted to withdraw pursuant to R. 3:9-3(f), which governs plea 

withdrawals following successful appeals of pretrial motions. 

2. 2 The trial comi en-ed in denying Myers's motion. Rule 3:9-3(f) permits 

withdrawal when a defendant successfully appeals from a pretrial ruling. 

This rule applies where, as here, the defendant Myers simultaneously 

pleads to multiple indictments. See State v. Diloreto, 362 N.J. Super 600, 

616 n.6 (App. Div. 2003). The rationale behind this rule is rotted in basic 

principles of contract law and fundamental fairness. 
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3. Without the providence and protection of Court Rule. 3:9-3(f), that gives 

Myers the right to decide to withdraw his plea, Myers would have went to 

trial, and never took any plea deal. 

On March I 9°1
, 2024, Jamar Myers oral argument took place, on March 19°', 

2024 Myers SOA oral argument was decided and denied (Da 74-84). 

On March 28°1
, 2024 Myers defense filed a motion for reconsideration to the 

appellate comt (Da 85-91 ). On April 4°1
, 2024, the appellate court of appeals vacated 

its denial of Myers appeal for the motion to withdraw his guilty plea and the appellate 

court granted Myers motion for reconsideration and transferred his motion to the 

plenary calendar Myers initially requested and a scheduling for legal brief arguments 

have been set (Da 92). 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On May 7,201 I Jamar Myers and codefendants Ajene Drew and Peter Nyema 

were aITested after being racially profiled pulled over without probable cause and 

wrongfully accused of a 7-11 robbery solely because of the defendant's skin 

complexion matched the suspects as black men. Myers and defense counsel asserted 

that certain clothing evidence' was found up the road, and was planted in the vehicle 

Myers occupied, and that the video of the initial stop would have proved such. But 

it was destroyed without authority, which created a brandy issue and violation (Da 

94-95). 

On the same night May 7, 2011 Jamar Myers was accused by codefendant 

Ajene Drew who alleged that Jamar Myers was the one who killed Brunswick Ave 

Pharmacist Aijun Reddy Dyapa on April 29t11, 2011, in the City of Trenton, New 

Jersey, although Ajene Drew's claims contradicted and were inconsistent to the facts 

of the case and the investigation. Sometime in 201 I after defendant Myers airest he 

received an anonymous threat letter by someone that was threatening to kill Myers 

family if he said anything and did not take the murder charge he was accused of. 

On Friday, June 24, 2011 Jamar Myers sought to speak to detective 

Gary Britton to inform the detective that people were threatening to kill and take the 

lives of Myers family, and police detective Gary Britton did nothing to help the 
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defendant protect his family from people who might have been making actual 

possible threats towards Myers family. The detective also did no further 

investigation of Myers claims of people possibly threatening his family (Da 93). 

Jamar Myers stayed in Mercer County Corrections Center for seven years awaiting 

trial for a 7-11 robbery Myers was accused of. 

On November 10, 2015, and August 30u', 2016 a 404-b motion was heard 

before Judge Robert C. Billmeier and evidence of an unrelated crime (the robbery 

indictment) was prejudicially, illegally, and improperly admitted into Jamar Myers 

murder trial. The 404-B admission of the illegally obtained evidence into Myers 

murder trial prejudiced Myers from being offered a fair trial. 

Vizzoni's Pharmacy; On April 29, 2011, about 5:30 p.m., a person dressed 

in all dark clothing wearing a hooded sweatshirt and dark colored boots with a mask 

on his face approached the front door, and attempted to gain entry[to Vizzoni's 

pharmacy]. When the suspect could not gain entry, he turned and walked away. That 

person attempted to open the door with his right hand. His left hand was in his pocket 

not visible. Although the elements of the crime do not support the crime charge, 

Jamar Myers was still charged with robbery and attempted robbery although "no 

attempted robberv" occurred. The trial court believed that the same individual has 

'dog-eared' boots in the two pharmacy surveillances, was wearing a black sweatshirt 
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with the Champion brand emblem visible in the two pharmacy incidents, and appears 

to be wearing a black handkerchief with white spots. 

Brunswick Avenue Pharmacy; On April 29, 2011 at about 5:55 p.m., there 

was a robbe1y and homicide at the Brunswick A venue Pharmacy in Trenton. The 

two victims/ eyewitnesses, who were also employees at the pharmacy gave 

statements to the police that a masked man came in, demanded narcotics, and 

engaged in a struggle with Mr. Dyapa, during which the gun went off and the man 

fled the pharmacy. Mr. Dyapa died as a result of his injury. The two female 

victims/eyewitnesses stated that the suspect had "dread style hair" was brown skin, 

between 20-25 years of age. A hair style (dread style hair) that Jamar Myers has 

never had, which is a main description factor to the suspect's physical identity that 

Myers does not fit, and exculpates Myers. 

Hamilton 7-11 Robbery; On May 7,2011, at 12: 12 a.m., there was a robbery 

at a 7-11 in Hamilton. The store clerk told police that two black males wearing dark 

clothing stole around $358 from the register and a cellphone then fled on foot out of 

sight. The clerk said that the man holding the gun was wearing a dark sweatshirt, 

panty hoes as a mask, dark gloves and tan boots. 
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On October 25, 2021 the robbery case indictment 11-08-0833 was argued 

before the Supreme Court on the issue of whether officers had a reasonable atiiculate 

reason to stop the car the defendant Myers occupied as a passenger. 

On January 25, 2022 the Supreme Court made their decision granting Myers 

certification reversing State v. Myers, 245 N.J. 250, 215 (2021) vacated the 

conviction and reJnanded back to the trial court. (Da 22-58). Then on February 25, 

2022 the prosecution office dismissed all charges and the whole robbery indictment 

11-08-0833-1 (Da 59). 

In essence and totality of the Supreme Court decision the 404-B evidence from 

the robbery case that was dismissed that was illegally, wrongfully and improperly 

admitted into the defendants homicide trial which hindered the defendant from 

obtaining and being offered a fair trial; was in fact directly affected by the Supreme 

Court decision. It is an etTor, and prejudice for evidence of any kind from another 

case/indictment tl]at has been illegally obtained, to lawfully be used under 404-B or 

any other lane of admission into a defendant's trial; Myers was never offered a fair 

trial. 

Myers argues that the deal was a global conditional plea deal. Myers assetis 

that his understanding, that was given by the trial courts (Da 6, box 10, lines 3-9, 

and by his attorney (Da 6, box 10, lines 9-15, and Da 6, box 11, lines 1-15). Myers 
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understanding that it was all together (the robbery case and the murder case) and if 

Myers prevailed on appeal the whole plea and sente4dnce would be reversed, and 

remanded back to the trial court. The defendant must stress the comts that Myers 

would NOT have taken any plea deal, and stress that he was readily willing to go to 

trial. 

Furthermore, sadly on April 19, 2022, at three a.m. in Hamilton Township, 

New Jersey, Myers mother was shot in her head and face and Myers younger brother 

who now suffers from brain damage was shot in his neck and was practically 

paralyzed. The victims, the defendant Jamar Myers mother positively identified the 

suspect who attempted to murder her and her son as the person Peter Nyema. 

On or about April 28th, 2022, after Jamar Myers mother and younger 

brother were almost murdered, the Trenton Police Department arrested and accuses 

Peter Nyema for the attempted murder of Jamar Myers mother and brother, and Peter 

Nyema now awaits Prosecution for two count of attempted murder and a slew of 

other serious charges by the M~rcer County Prosecution office. These charges 

brought against the suspect accused for attempting to murder Myers family is 

sufficient evidence of Myers asse1ting that threats to his family had in fact, been 

made back on Juve 24, 2011 when Myers requested to speak to Det. Gary Britton 

(Da 93, last paragraph). 
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Legal Argument 

DEFENDANT PREVAILED ON APPEAL, AND DUE TO COURT 

RULE 

3:9-3{F) MYERS MUST BE AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO 

WITHDRA WL HIS PLEA 

Comi Rule_ 3 :9-3(±) states: Conditional Pleas. With the approval of the court 

and the consent of the persecuting attorney's defendant may enter a conditional plea 

of guilty reserving on the record the right to appeal from the adverse determination 

of any pretrial motion. If the defendant prevails on appeal, the defendant shall be 

afforded the right to withdraw his or her plea. Nothing in this rule shall be construed 

as limiting the right of appeal provided for in R. 3:5-7(d) (Page 1-2 of Table of 

authorities). 

The word SHALL in the Men-iam -Webster's Dictionary and Thesaurus, 

copyrighted 2014, it defines shall as: "MUST" or need, and likely in the future. 

Without R. 3:9-3(±) in place that does protect and provide the right for Myers who 

prevailed on appeal, to withdraw his plea. Myers would not have plead guilty to 

crimes he is innocent of. 

Furthermore, New Jersey Criminal Practice and Procedures, subsection 12.22, 

under Conditional Pleas states: Rule 3:9-3(t) provides for "conditional pleas" of 
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guilty. A "conditional plea" of guilty is a guilty plea where the defendant reserves 

the right to appeal from the adverse determination of any specific pretrial motion. If 

the defendant wins the appeal, he/she is then afforded an oppmiunity to withdraw 

his/her guilty plea (Page 3-4 of Table of authorities). 

The New Jersey Supreme Court ruled that the stop was raced based, without 

probable cause, or reasonable aiiiculate suspicion (Da 26, Da 27).There was also the 

evidence issue and Brandy violation of the video of the initial stop being destroyed. 

Defendant Myers, Nyema, and counsel's argued that the clothing was not found in 

the vehicle they occupied, but that a cop pulled up to the scene where the defendants 

were stopped at and stated: "I found these up the road." Defendant stated that the 

video of the initial stop would have shown and proved this (Da 94-95. The video, 

#795, was destroyed 'without' authorization or a copy made for discovery purposes. 

(Da. 95). 

Thus, it was a great prejudicial issue to admit this evidence into the murder 

trial Myers is accused of, which extremely prejudiced Myers and violated his right 

to be 'offered' a fair trial in the murder case. Again, Myers prevailed on appeal and 

should be afforded his right to stand in his legal right, of prevailing on .appeal, and 

be given the opportunity to withdraw his plea. 
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On November 29°', 2016 Jamar Myers agreed to a "conditional guilty 

plea" under Comi R. 3:9-3(f) based on the condition that Myers preserved his 

right to appeal a motion to suppress in the robbery case of illegally obtained 

evidence from an unlawful search and seizure, and also under the conditional 

plea Myers preserved his right to appeal a 404-b pre-trial motion to admit 

evidence from the robbery case into Jamar Myers homicide trial (Da 6, box 

10, lines 4-9) statiing at : 'Obviously, Here the trial courts directly informed 

Myers that his guilty plea could be reversed if an appellate court made comi 

judge finds that I committed "an error" that was wrong in my 404 (b) decision 

or anything else (Da 6, box 10). 

On January 25, 2022 the Supreme Court revered State v. Jamar Myers, 

245 N.J. 250, 251 (2021), vacated the conviction and remanded to the trial 

comi (Da 2,6 paragraph 4)). Also, In State v. Nyema, 245 NJ. 256 (2021) the 

New Jersey Supreme Court and New Jersey Court of Appeals not only vacated 

the conviction they also vacated the sentence. 

On February 25 th 2022, the Mercer County Prosecution Office 

dismissed Indictment; 11-08-0833-I against Jamar Myers and all charges and 

counts. 
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Thus, Jamar Myers "prevailed on appeal," so he "shall be afforded the 

right to withdraw his plea." Quoting New Jersey Court R. 3:9-3(f), (Page 1-2 

of Table of authorities). The decision from the Appellate Court in State v. 

Nyema, 465 N.J. Super and the New Jersey Supreme Comi in Nyema, 245 

N.J. and the certification of State v. Jamar Myers, alone affords Myers the 

right to withdraw his guilty plea. With the Mercer County Prosecution 

dismissing the indictment due to an unlawful stop, based on racial profiling, 

and an unlawful search and seizure, and illegally obtained evidence was in 

en-or wrongfully admitted into Jamar Myers murder trial. Jamar Myers firmly 

states that he would not have plead guilty, and would have went to trial to 

have his innocence proved (emphases added). In state v. Nyema, 465, N.J. 

Super. 181, 185 (App. Div. 2020). It states: Accordingly, Nyema's conviction 

was reversed and his sentence was vacated. Moreover, Nyema's sentence was 

vacated by this very same appeals court. Maybe a different panel, but yet and 

still by the same appellate comi. It would be manifestly unjust for Jamar 

Myers "global" plea, and the entire plea deal to also not be vacated. The word 

global is defined as: "Of, relating to or applying to a whole. 

Also, if the appeals court is saying that the murder indictment sentence 

can stand on its own while the robbery case indictment can be dismissed 

individually, that is not a global plea to what Myers understanding of the trial 
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comi's explanation was, or Myers attorney, and it is not a conditional plea 

from the defendants understanding, and that means the defendant was told a 

lie, and put under false pretense by the trial comi, of what the "global" 

conditional plea deal meant. Because again, Myers sh·ongly state, he would 

not have taken a plea deal and would have went to trial if the trial comi judge 

Billmeier had informed defendant that one of the sentences under the 

"global/whole conditional plea deal could still stand. So what is being stated, 

that is making it an issue now that Myers has in fact prevailed on appeal, and 

wises to take his rightly opportunity to withdraw his plea? 

because Myers did in fact prevail on appeal, and the guilty plea is 

governed under 3:9-3(f) he should be afforded "his right to decide" whether 

he wants to renegotiate plea terms since things are significantly differently 

with the robbery case indictment dismissed and completely out the picture, or 

decide to go to trial as Myers initially planned to, being that he plead guilty 

on the day he was to stati his jury selection. 

On page 15-16 of the trial courts 404-b opinion the trial comi judge 

Robeti Billmeier stated that Ajene Drew was to testify that Myers is the 

masked suspect he drove to several crimes, although there is no evidence that 

supports Ajene Drew's claims. Ajene Drew also cannot testify in any way to 

Drew's unsupported allegations of Myers alleged involvement in the 7-11 
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alleged robbery in Hamilton Township at Myers murder trial (Da 96-98). The 

State also no longer has the ability to speak of or admit the illegally obtained 

evidence from the robbery case at Myers murder trial due to the Mercer 

County Prosecutor office dismissal of the robbery case indictment (Da 59). 

\,Vith all the above factors that have completely changed the murder 

case and the State's ability to pile up multiple things that did in fact prejudice 

the defendant Jamar Myers from being offered a fair trial, the murder case 

position, a~d bargaining positioning has changed. The New Jersey Supreme 

comi has declared that "Other crimes evidence is considered highly 

prejudicial State v. Vallejo, 198 NJ. 122, 133 (2009) (citing State v. Stevens, 

115, NJ. 289, 309 (1989). The trial court in the above case matter admitted 

the 404-b evidence from the robbery case into the murder trial Myers is 

accused of, although it was in fact highly prejudicial. Jamar Myers states that 

the trial comi great en-or, and abused its discretion, when it admitted the 

evidence, and years later now, the New Jersey Supreme court has agreed that 

the stop was unlawful so everything seized from the stop was. unlawfully 

obtained. Thus anything used from the robbery case is prejudicial and illegal. 

Jamar Myers simply request the New Jersey Appeals Court to stand by 

its "own" laws, and court rule (comi R. 3:9-3(f) that states: "It shall afford a 

defendant the right to withdraw his or her plea (Page 4-5 of Table of 
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authorities). Myers prevailed on appeal and respectfully ask to withdraw his 

plea to go to trial, knowing he will now have a fair chance at trial. Myers 

asse1is that he would have never taken any plea deal had the lower trial court 

not admitte.d illegally obtained evidence from an unrelated case of an unlawful 

search and seizure into Myers murder trial, that the State only were using to 

bolster its case. 

At the SOA hearing the appeals court stated: "Where do we go next?" 

Myers asserts that should be afforded to Myers to be able to make the decision 

of, where does he go from here (Da 82, lines 16-20). Myers can decide several 

directions to go in: 

(1) Jamar Myers can go to trial like Myers originally was going to do, 

even with the fact his lawyer had not given Myers full discovery. 

Along with the fact that illegally obtained evidence from an 

unlawful search and seizure from an unrelated robbery case was 

admitted into Myers murder trial. 

(2)Myers can now renegotiate a new agreement due to the change of 

facts, and evidence, etc. Which allow Myers to argue other factors 

and unaddressed evidence issues that can change the standards of 

the degree of crime Myers is charged with to a lower degree. 
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Fmihennore, it was not a "bargain" deal that Myers got as it has so easily been 

stated by the State, may I remind the court's, the state is not the defendant. So for 

the state to asse1i that Myers got a bargain that is saying to Myers he got the best 

deal so accept it. It also implies that Myers does not have a right to be protected by 

all laws such as R. 3:9-3(f). State v. Diloreto, 362 N.J. and R. 3:9-3(f) which provides 

protection for Myers and all defendants to withdraw their conditional guilty plea. 

This rule provides a defendant the ability to argue his pretrial issues that a defendant 

believes were wrongfully, improperly, and/or illegally ruled or admitted into his/her 

case. 

At the SOA hearing, the prosecutor stated: "additionally, although counsel 

argues that bargaining positions have changed, the law hasn't." (Da 81, 19-20) 

The state is right, the law has not changed and the Supreme Comi has "made 

law" and established R. 3:9-3(f) which states that a defendant who prevails on appeal 

shall be offered the opportunity to withdraw his/her plea. That is the law ( emphasis 

added). 

Thus, Myers has prevailed on appeal by the New Jersey Supreme Comi, 

a conditional plea was in place and established and Myers must be afforded his right 

and the opportunity to withdraw his plea (Da 22-58). 
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Being that R. 3:9-3(f) is the law, and it comes from one of the highest 

courts oflaw, the Supreme Court. What is the state implying? That the law does not 

apply to Jamar Myers. Is the State asse1iing that Myers is not afforded the right to 

withdraw his plea, based on what grounds), Myers prevailed on appeal that is it. If 

the state is implying that this law, (3:9-3(f), does not apply to Myers, when it 

specifically does. Then who is the state saying it applies to? Non-Black defendants, 

people of a ce1iain ethnic background? Does not R. 3 :9-3(f) apply to all defendants 

who have a conditional plea in place, who prevailed on appeal? 

The state fmiher incorrectly states; "if the defendant plead guilty to first 

degree murder again, he would still have to be sentenced to the mandatory minimum 

30/30 and the state "thinks" it would be prejudiced. (Da 81, 19-24). Although the 

state has not provided "how it thinks" it would be prejudiced, that holds no strength 

here at all, when a defendant wins on appeal by the higher Court. 

Whether the state thinks it would or wouldn't be prejudiced, it was the 

state who agreed to the conditional plea, that was global and all together, as the 

defendant Jamar Myers understood it to be, and the state knew of the conditional 

plea and the State knew conditional pleas are protected and governed by R. 3:9-3(f). 

So, the State could not be prejudiced by the withdrawal of Myers decision to 

withdraw. 
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In fact, it is the defendant Jamar Myers who will be prejudiced and has 

been prejudiced by the trial court's eITor and improperly admitting illegally obtained 

evidence that stemmed from a vehicle stop that was based solely on racial profiling 

that wrongfully allowed an unlawful stop and seizure to take place. If the evidence 

was not admitted in eJTor, some years ago into the murder Myers is accused of, 

Myers would have continued with his jury selection and trial (Da 2, box 3, lines 25). 

Wha~ Myers did not get was the benefit of being offered a fair trial, and 

Myers did get a bargain deal as the State wises to suggest. So, to be forced to plead 

guilty to crimes Myers is innocent of, and would have rather went to trial on, that is 

no bargain. (Da 81, 3-18). Myers asserts if the evidence that was obtained by an 

unlawful search and seizure was not, in eJTor, admitted into Myers' murder trial, 

defendant Myers would have went to trial on all case matters against him. 

There are multiple issues within the other cases the state was more than 

willing to dismiss. Those cases were dismissed because the state had no evidence 

that established or supp01ted Myers' guilt of any of the crimes charged, because the 

elements of the crime do not support the crimes charged. 

The trial court judge Billmeier may have claimed that Myers would "get a fair 

trial" (Da 3, box 4, lines 1-2). But no fair was would have taken place with the 

admission of the illegally obtained evidence that took away Myers right to be offered 
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a fair trial. It took the New Jersey Supreme comi to suppress and correct the lower 

court's error. 

For multiple reasons the state would not be prejudiced. Myers also will 

not have to plead to 30/30 or plead to anything. It still is the defendant's decision and 

opportunity to make that choice, and that choice and opportunity is what the State is 

trying to take away from Jamar Myers, that the law states Myers has a right to 

(emphasis added). The state is trying to deny Myers and all other future defendants 

their legal right to choose to withdraw their plea. This is a direct attack on a 

defendant's right to challenge a lower comi's decision, it is an also attack on 

defendant's challenging alleged evidence against him/her, and the evidence legal 

admission into a 1efendants trial etc. 

For the appellate comi not to allow Myers to withdraw his guilty plea 

he is entitled to be afforded the opportunity to do would be to say a defendant has 

no definite right to appeal, even especially after prevailing on appeal, as in this above 

case. That comes from a comi rule of 3 :9 _3 (f). This would open a battle in every 

county in New Jersey and 3rd circuit states, once the state can challenge a Supreme 

Court decision, and a defendant ability to prevail on appeal who wants to withdraw 

his plea. What's next? 
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It wip destroy the laws in place, protections for defendants like Jamar 

Myers and process of the appeal courts that defendants should never feel unsafe from 

challenging an unjust lower comt's ruling, and/or eIToneous decision, or the denial 

to be protected by the law. Supreme Court Rule. 3:9-3(f) is the law. 

Therefore, Jamar Myers respectfully and urgently request the Appellate court 

to uphold the law the Supreme co~1rt has set and established under comt R . 3:9-3 (f). 

Myers plea was a global plea, it was conditional, and Myers asse1ts he wants to 

withdraw his plea and prepare for trial as he stands in his innocence. Myers kindly 

request the appe!late courts vacate his conviction, vacate Myers sentence, and 

remand back to the trial courts. 

Sincerely, 

Jamar Myers 
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THE COURT: 
14-02-0232. 

... it is superseding indictment 

May I have your appearances? 
MR. GRILLO: Good morning, Your Honor. 

2 

3 

Assistant Prosecutor Michael Grillo appearing on behalf 
of the State. 

MR. NARDELLI: And this is Prosecutor Mike 
Nardelli for the State. 

THE COURT: All right. Counsel? 
MR. HESKETH: Good morning, Your Honor. 

Edward Hesketh for Jamar Myers to my left. 
THE COURT: All right. Mr. Myers, I believe 

you've been in jail since about May 2011 --
MR. MYERS: Yes. 
THE COURT: -- well over five-and-a-half 

years so I've cleared my calender for the month of 
December, I know the attorneys have, so you're going to 
be given your day in court. There's a couple of 
motions that I need to address before the jury is 
brought over but once, you know, I start proceeding 
then I'm not going to accept any negotiated plea. I 
know Mr. Hesketh has been working very hard, him and 
Mr. Garzia, to try to resolve the case, you know, I 
know you're facing a very serious charge on this first 
degree murder and jury will determine your guilt or 
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innocence. I have nothing to do with it and believe me 
you're going to get a fair trial. 

However, I think, you know, perhaps we were 
scheduled to have the voir dire conference a couple of 
weeks ago. Mr. Hesketh was on trial outside of Mercer 
and that's the only reason that conference did not take 
place but what you would have heard two weeks ago, and 
you probably have heard already but I'll repeat it, if 
a jury finds you guilty you're exposed to 75 years 
NERA, which means you would have to serve approximately 
64 years before you're eligible for parole. If in fact 
the jury finds you innocent of this first degree 
murder, then I'm going to move on to the armed robbery 
at the 7-Eleven in Hamilton. You already have a trial 
date of a January 2017, you and Pete Nyema, and with 
that armed robbery, I know you're somewhat familiar 
your prior criminal record, you probably could be found 
as a persistent offender. 

And you could be facing, I want to say, Mr. 
Grillo, life in prison for that armed robbery given Mr. 
Myer's prior criminal history? 

MR. GRILLO: Yes, Your Honor, that's correct. 
Given his status as a persistent offender it would be 
the State's intention to move for an extended term 
should he be convicted by a jury. 

5 

THE COURT: And tell me once again, Mr. 
Grillo, what is the State's final offer to resolve this 
murder case as well as any other pending charges 
against Mr. Meyers? 

MR. GRILLO: As Your Honor is aware, Mr. 
Myers was also charged in a first degree armed robbery 
in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for an incident 
that occurred approximately a half-an-hour before the 
robbery in Hamilton Township. Within the past couple 
of weeks I've had communication with Mr. Hesketh, the 
State has indicated it would be willing to call 
Pennsylvania and ensure that they would run any 
sentence he may receive for that armed robbery 
concurrent to what has been extended in our state. 
That is, that he plead guilty to murder, to receive a 
30-year period of New Jersey State Prison with a 30-
year period of parole ineligibility. That would run 
concurrent to not only the Pennsylvania charge but to 
the robbery in Hamilton as well, I believe the number 
we placed on it was a 12 NERA. We have every reason to 
believe, although we have not received an assurance 
from Pennsylvania, based on what he is facing, his 
criminal history and what he would be facing here, that 
they would be willing to do that, but, as I've 
indicated to Mr. Hesketh, the minute the first juror 
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walks in the door and we begin picking that offer is no 
longer available. In the same vein, we would rescind a 
concurrent offer on our robbery here in the State of 
New Jersey. Mr. Meyers would face each of his three 
charges in succession and any sentence would be 
required to run consecutive and that, as Your Honor is 
well aware, comes from State v. Yarbough. 

THE COURT: Mr. Hesketh, anything you would 
like to add? 

MR. HESKETH: Judge, I'd like to just add a 
couple of things. Number 1 is during the pendency of 
this matter, obviously, the discovery was very 
voluminous. I have had the opportunity to give -- I 
believe Mr. Meyers has all the paper discovery in the 
case. Additionally, some of the videotape statements, 
or all of the videotape statements, to my knowledge 
have been transcribed and he's had access to them. 
What he did not have access to was the actual video 
audio/video statements themselves on the CD media. 
Obviously, that's a -- it's a number of hours. It 
would be difficult for the jail and myself to sit down 
with Mr. Meyers for hours on end looking at videos. 

He did see the pertinent videos here in court 
during the 404(b) motions and I'm satisfied, Judge, 
that those are the pertinent videos that would be used 

in this trial by the State but nevertheless, Judge, on 
behalf of Mr. Meyers I did submit all of the DVDs and 
CDs to the Public Defender's Office and requested that 
they put them on a flash drive. I have repeatedly 

7 

asked them to do it, I know it's a -- it's a difficult 
task. They accommodated me, they finally came through 
with a flash drive which I have now turned over. I 
believe I've indicated to the Court I've asked for some 
assistance in perhaps allowing that to go back to the 
jail and I know that there's an e-mail message out to 
Deputy Warden Oliver as to that effect, but, in 
essence, Judge, once he has that flash drive in his 
hand he will have everything completed. 

And Judge, he wants to see the videos. He 
wants to see them, not read the transcripts, he wants 
to see them and he -- that's his prerogative. 

THE COURT: Well, let me ask Mr. Grillo. The 
video that the State hopes to get before the jury would 
be the video of the murder of the pharmacist at the 
Brunswick Pharmacy, the attempted robbery of Vizzoni's 
on South Broad Street, Vizzoni's Pharmacy, and third, 
the 7-Eleven video surveillance from that robbery on 
Arena Drive in Hamilton. 

Other than those three videos, do you intend 
to show the jury any additional videos? 

na 
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MR. GRILLO: No, Judge. It's just those 

three. 
THE COURT: Because as you indicated, Mr. 

Hesketh, when we -- when I conducted a 404(b) hearing 
those videos were shown to me. They were put up on a 
screen. In fact, Mr. Meyers has the best view in the 
courtroom because he's right next to the screen so I'm 
convinced he's had an opportunity, like I did, to look 
at those videos and the videos speak for themselves, 
that -- they don't change. 

8 

But so, Mr. Meyers, as I said, this is your 
last opportunity to accept the plea as indicated by Mr. 
Grillo. Once I start moving forward this morning then 
that plea is off the table. Even if you tell me during 
jury selection, Judge, I want to plead, I'm not going 
to let yo.u. The rule is you have to plead open to all 
the charges in the indictment, including the murder 
charge. That, as I said, under case law from the New 
Jersey Supreme Court, if you're found guilty of 
whatever charges you're charged with then I have to run 
everything consecutive. I will not run anything 
concurrent because that's contrary to the holdings of· 
the New Jersey Supreme Court. 

Do you want me to give you a moment or 
whatever to speak with Mr. Hesketh privately or do you 

9 

want me to just proceed with the trial? Because once I 
start there's no turning back. 

MR. HESKETH: Judge, I'd like to speak to him 
privately but I would just like to address one other 
issue. So basically what Mr. Grillo said and so that 
Mr. Meyers understands it, that if in fact he was to 
prevail here at the homicide trial the next case would 
put him in jeopardy of, in essence, getting something 
perhaps even worse than a 30 do 30 because of his 
status as a persistent offender. He then would have to 
go to Pennsylvania and face whatever charges he has to 
face there without the benefit of having any 
involvement of the State to try to make a global deal 
here today that we're talking about, so that would be 
two issues. And then, obviously, if he was to be 
convicted of the homicide charge certainly the Court 
can sentence him up to 75 years in jail, which is 
essentially life. 

So Judge, just so he's aware of that and what 
I would like to do is if I could just have a couple of 
minutes to speak with him, Your Honor, before he 
answers in open court and this way I understand exactly 
where he's coming from. 

THE COURT: And that's fine. 
And obviously, Mr. Meyers, over the last few 
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years I've been handling your cases I've made a number 
of decisions. Some decisions were contrary to the 
State, some were contrary to your interests. 
Obviously, even with a guilty plea, that doesn't 
prevent you from filing an appeal and if an appellate 
court judge finds that I committed an error, that I was 
wrong in my 404(b) decisions or anything else, your 
guilty plea could be reversed. So I will give Mr. 
Hesketh a few minutes. 

Why don't we take Mr. Meyers back into the 
holding cell? 

And Mr. Hesketh, let me know when you're 
ready to proceed. 

MR. HESKETH: 
MR. GRILLO: 

And Judge, just one 
Your Honor --

MR. HESKETH: -- one more issue if I could. 
THE COURT: Yes. 

, MR. HESKETH: A couple of weeks ago, although 
I've been in trial September, October, November, 
various counties, I did have a chance to sit down with 
Mr. Meyers and discuss this case. With the assistance 
of the Court Deputy Warden Oliver allowed him to come 
upstairs to the regular attorney visitation room. I 
know Mr. Garzia, who represents him on the robbery, has 
had an opportunity to speak with him, and, lastly, on 

11 

the Wednesday before Thanksgiving Mr. Garzia and I met 
with Mr. Meyers to discuss this matter. So just that 
the record is clear, okay, although I have been in 
trial there has been no -- at no time has Mr. Meyers 
been left to his own devices to try to figure this out. 
He's had the assistance of, I believe, two veteran 
defense attorneys who were able to speak with him at 
length given the -- given the input. 

So Judge, if you will allow us a few minutes 
I think that we'll get a final answer from Mr. Meyers 
and we'll know whether we're going forward or not. 

THE COURT: All right. So the Court is in 
recess until so -- to give Mr. Meyers one last 
opportunity to speak to his attorney, Mr. Hesketh, 
privately. Thank you. 

MR. GRILLO: Your Honor, just one -­
THE COURT: Oh, yes. Mr. Grillo? 
MR. GRILLO: -- thing before. I just want to 

make that the record is entirely complete and accurate 
and Mr. Meyers has a full understanding of what he's 
facing. Even in a scenario where he prevails in the 
homicide, based on N.J.S.A. 2C:43-7a(l) through (7), 
which encompasses extended term ranges, if he's found 
guilty of the first degree robbery in Hamilton and just 
the first degree robbery in Hamilton alone, he would be 
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facing, based on his criminal record, a term of 20 
years to life. 

THE COURT: Okay. So I think everyone has 

12 

had their opportunity to say what they needed to say so 

we're in recess. 
Thank you, counsel. 
MR. GRILLO: Thank you. 

(Recess) 
THE COURT: You may be seated. All right. 

Good afternoon, counsel. The Court has been 
presented plea papers in the matter of State of New 
Jersey versus Jamar Myers. There are several 
indictments involved but I think the main one is 
Indictment 14-02-0232 wherein defendant is charged with 

first degree murder. 
Counsel, may 
MR. GRILLO: 

State, Your Honor. 

I have your appearances? 
Michael Grillo on behalf of the 

MR. HESKETH: Edward Hesketh, Your Honor, Mr. 

Jamar Myers to my left. 
Stand up Mr. Myers, please. 
THE COURT: All right. Mr. Myers, in order 

to accept your guilty plea I need to place you under 
oath. If you put your left hand on that Bible? 

MR. HESKETH: He'll affirm, Judge. 

THE COURT: Oh, okay. 
JAM AR MEYERS, DEFENDANT, AFFIRMED 
EXAMINATION BY THE COURT: 

13 

Q Mr. Meyers, I want to advise you that if 
you provide the Court with any false testimony you can 
be charged with perjury and the guilty plea could be 
withdrawn, do you understand that? 

A Yes. 
Q 

seeing or 

Do you have any difficulty with hearing, 
reading English? 

A No. 
Q How old are you? 

A Thirty-one. 
Q How far did you go in school? 

A I graduated. 
Q From high school? 

A Yeah, I graduated to college as well. 
Q Are you under the influence today from any 

alcohol, drugs or medication that could affect your 
ability to think clearly or understand the nature of 
today's proceeding? 
A No. 

Q I'll be asking 
sometimes call for a yes 
can focus in on deciding 

you a series of questions that 
or no answer, I do this so I 
whether or not to accept your 

oa., 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, May 29, 2024, A-002045-22



FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, March 15, 2023, A-002045-22 

1 
2 

3 
4 

5 
6 

7 

8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

23 
24 
25 

1 
2 

3 
4 

5 
6 

7 
8 

9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

23 
24 
25 

guilty plea. By asking you these questions I'm not 
trying to lead you into saying anything that is not 
true or what anyone else wants you to say, do you 
understand that? 
A Yes. 

Q If you feel you're being forced into an 
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answer or being forced to say something which is not 
true by the way I or any attorney asks you a question 
let me know before you respond, do you understand that? 
A Yes. 

Q I'm going to ask you to listen as the 
prosecutor puts the proposed negotiated plea on the 
record since-~ excuse me -- I'll be asking you if that 
is your understanding. 

THE COURT: Mr. Grillo? 
MR. GRILLO: Thank you, Judge. It's the 

State's understanding that Mr. Meyers is prepared to 
enter a guilty plea to Count 3 of Indictment 14-02-0232 
which charged felony murder in first degree. In 
exchange the State is recommending a 30-year period of 
incarceration with a 30-year period of parole 
ineligibility. That would run concurrent to a plea of 
guilty to Count 1 of Indictment 11-08-833 which charged 
robbery in the first degree. The State would be 
recommending 12 years subject to No Early Release Act 

15 

on that charge. 
In addition, it's the State's understanding 

that Mr. Meyers will be pleading guilty to three 
separate VOPs. They are contained in Accusation 08-03-
0231, 09-10-0992, that's an indictment and Indictment 
10-.01-0100. Mr. Meyers will receive time served 
sentences on each of those three violations of 
probation. Finally, the State will be dismissing the 
entirety of, I believe it's Indictment 11-07-0657, 
which charged fourth degree aggravated assault on a law 
enforcement officer. 

In addition, the State has indicated to Mr. 
Meyers that it is seeking a guarantee from the 
Commonwealth of -- Commonwealth of Pennsylvania that 
upon a plea of guilty to first degree armed robbery 
it's an offense committed there, they would recommend a 
concurrent sentence. Based on some conversations and 
our understanding with the charges there they would be 
inclined to do so, but at this point, short of the 
guarantee, what we've indicated in the plea papers is 
if for some reason, some unforseen reason that 
Pennsylvania is not willing to run their sentence 
concurrent, Mr. Meyers is free to withdraw his guilty 
plea without opposition from the State. 

THE COURT: And it's -- and I know this from 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, May 29, 2024, A-002045-22



FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, March 15, 2023, A-002045-22 

1 
2 

3 
4 
5 

6 

7 

8 

9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

23 
24 
25 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

16 

having conducted some hearings, the Pennsylvania 
charges are specifically related to alleged crimes Mr. 
Meyers committed at the 7-Eleven in Falls Township, New 
-- Pennsylvania? 

MR. GRILLO: That's correct, Judge. Your 
Honor I believe has seen the video. The offense 
occurred about a half-an-hour prior to the robbery in 
Hamilton. The proofs are essentially the same. 

THE COURT: Thank you. Mr. Hesketh, is that 
the plea you negotiated? 

MR. HESKETH: Yes, that's correct, Your 
Honor. And just to have you made aware that I did 
complete a NERA form for Mr. Meyers, one for the armed 
robbery, first degree, in Hamilton, which would subject 
him to a five-year period of parole supervision after 
the completion of his sentence. And I also -- I also 
completed one for the felony murder, Judge, just to be 
safe but I'm not certain that if he does 30 do 30 if 
that would apply but I did complete it and it's 
attached to the plea form. 

And lastly, Your Honor, you could see on the 
bottom of the first page that Mr. Meyers is reserving 
his right to appeal the 404(b) decision in the homicide 
case and the motion to suppress physical evidence in 
the Hamilton armed robbery case. 

Other than that, Judge, I think that's -­
that's what our deal is. 

17 

THE COURT: Right. And this Court made the 
decision on the 404(b) in the murder charge and Judge 
Jimenez rendered an opinion as to the armed robbery and 
I think he suppressed -- did not suppress cash and 
clothing found in a car but did suppress the gun found 
under the front hood. 

MR. HESKETH: Correct. 
THE COURT: But certainly -- Mr. Meyers 

certainly has the opportunity to file that appeal. 
BY THE COURT: 

Q So Mr. Meyers, I understand you're prepared 
to plead guilty to a first degree felony murder, is 
that correct? 
A Yes. 

Q A first degree armed robbery? 
A Yes. 

Q And the three VOPs for which everyone agrees 
you're going to get time served when I sentence you, is 
that your understanding? 
A Yes. 

Q And you understand with your felony murder 
that's going to be 30 years and you would have to do 30 
years before you're eligible for parole? 
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A Yes. 
Q And everything else runs concurrent to that? 

A Yes. 
Q Do you have any questions about what you're 

pleading guilty to? 
A No. 

Q Do you have any questions about the 
consequences of your guilty plea? 
A No. 

Q Mr. Meyers, if I accept what you tell me and 
if I'm satisfied you're pleading guilty knowingly, 
intelligently and voluntarily and if I find that you 
understand everything going on here today, I will have 
a great deal of difficulty believing at a later date 
that you did not enter this guilty plea of your own 
free will. In other words, no one is forcing you to 
plead guilty, do you understand that? 
A Yes. 

Q At that point you would have the burden to 
prove to me that it would be in the interest of justice 
to allow you to withdraw your guilty plea before I 
sentence you, do you understand that? 
A Yes. 

Q Do you believe you've had enough time to 
discuss all these cases with your attorney, Mr. 
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Hesketh? 
A Yes. 

Q Has he shared with you the discovery the 
prosecutor would use against you in these cases? 

A Yes. 
THE COURT: And Mr. Hesketh, you acknowledge 

you received and fully reviewed all discovery in these 
files with your client? 

MR. HESKETH: Yes, sir. 
Q Mr. Meyers, by pleading guilty you're giving 

up certain guaranteed constitutional rights, this 
includes the right to a jury trial, and as you know 
today was the day to start selecting that jury, you 
have the right to be presumed innocent by that jury, 
the right to have the State prove your guilt beyond a 
reasonable doubt, you would be able to testify to a 
trial or remain silent, your silence could not be used 
against you, Mr. Hesketh could cross examine State 
witnesses and confront evidence and you would be able 
to bring in your own witnesses and evidence in your own 
defense, do you understand those rights? 
A Yes. 

Q Is anyone forcing you to give up those 

rights? 
A No. 

Da.10 
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Q Are you satisfied with the advice Mr. Hesketh 
has given you on these files? 
A Yes. 

Q Has he answered all of your questions to your 
satisfaction? 
A Yes. 

Q Has any other promises been made to you other 
than what we've just discussed on the record? 
A Yes -- oh, say that again? 

Q Has anyone else promised you, like, something 
better than what was just discussed? 
A No. 

Q Okay. And finally, are you pleading guilty 
to the first degree felony murder because you're guilty 
of that crime? 
A Say that again? 

Q Okay. Yes, there was some noise in the 
background. Are you pleading to the first degree 
felony murder because, in fact, you're guilty of that 
crime? 
A Yes. 

Q And are you pleading guilty to first degree 
armed robbery because you're guilty of that crime? 
A Yes. 

Q All right. I'm going to have Mr. Hesketh ask 

21 

you questions so the Court can receive a factual basis 
for those guilty pleas. 

THE COURT: Counsel? 
MR. HESKETH: Thank you, Your Honor. 

EXAMINATION BY MR. HESKETH: 
Q Mr. Meyers, you are familiar with Indictment 

14-02-232, correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And in that indictment you and Mr. Drew are 
charged in Count 3 with felony murder, correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And on the 29th of April, 2011, you were, in 
fact, in the City of Trenton, right? 
A Yes. 

Q And you were on Brunswick Avenue by the 
Brunswick Pharmacy? 
A Yes. 

Q And you were with Mr. Drew, correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And Mr. Drew was the driver of the car? 
A Yes. 

Q And initially when you entered the store, was 
your purpose in going into the store was to pass a 
phony prescription for Percocets? 
A Yes. 
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Q But once you entered the store you were armed 
with a handgun, correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And during the course of you entering that 
store, did your purpose change from passing the script 
to actually attempting or deciding to commit an armed 

robbery? 
A Yes. 

Q And at some point you did, in fact, attempt 
to commit that armed robbery, correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And you pulled a gun out, right? 

A Yes. 
Q And you demanded that the pharmacist, Mr. 

Arjun Reddy Dyapa, turn over some Percocets to you, 

correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And during the course 
to commit that robbery you did, 
death of Mr. Arjun Reddy Dyapa, 

of that -- that attempt 
in fact, cause the 
right? 

A Yes. 
Q 

attempted 
A Yes. 

Q 

And it was during the course of that 
robbery, correct? 

And the gun went off and it shot the 

pharmacist and that led to his death, correct? 
A Yes. 

23 

MR. GRILLO: The State is satisfied with the 
factual basis, Judge. 

MR. HESKETH: The second count, Your Honor, 
is in regards to Indictment 11-08-0833. 

that 
A 

Q Mr. Meyers, you are familiar with that case, 
was the Hamilton 7-Eleven armed robbery, correct? 

Yes. 
Q And on that evening, May 7th, 2011, you were 

in fact, in Hamilton, right? 
A Yes. 

Q And you entered the store, the 7-Eleven 
store, armed with a handgun and your purpose was to 
commit an armed robbery, correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And when you entered the store you were 
wearing a black hoodie shirt which had some white 
graphics on the front of the shirt, isn't that correct? 

A Yes. 
Q And in fact we saw that on the video, right? 

A Yes. 
Q And the person that you were in the store 

with on that date was not Ajene Drew, correct? 
A No. 
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Q And you did, in fact, commit that armed 
robbery and took some money from the store owner, 
correct? 
A Yes. 

24 

Q And you converted that money to your own use, 
right? 
A Yes. 
EXAMINATION BY MR. GRILLO: 

Q Just briefly, Mr. Meyers, just to clarify, 
the color of the sweatshirt that you were wearing that 
had the graphics on it, it was -- it was a dark color 
even if it wasn't black, is that correct? 
A Yes. 

Q Okay. And the two individuals that appear in 
that video, one of them has a handgun, is that correct? 
A Yes. 

Q Are you the individual with the handgun? 
A Yes. 

MR. GRILLO: The State has no further 
questions, Your Honor, is satisfied with the factual 
basis. 

THE COURT: Mr. Meyers, do you have a copy of 
the plea papers with you at counsel table? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 
MR. HESKETH: What do you want to do with the 

25 

VOPs? 
THE COURT: Oh, I'm sorry. You can continue. 

EXAMINATION BY MR. HESKETH: 
Q Okay. Mr. Meyers, you understand that there 

was three indictments to which you were serving 
probation on, correct? 
A Yes. 

Q And as a result of your guilty plea here, 
your arrest and now subsequent guilty plea, you 
acknowledge that you violated those probationary terms, 
correct? 
A Yes. 

MR. GRILLO: The State is satisfied, Judge. 
THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. I did forget 

about the VOPs. 
EXAMINATION BY THE COURT: 

Q So now, Mr. Meyers, you have a copy of the 
plea papers in front of you? 
A Yes. 

Q 
a copy of 
you? 
A Yes. 

Is -- do you recognize what you're looking is 
plea papers that Mr. Hesketh reviewed with 

Q And did he review -- we'll begin with the 
plea form, all five pages of that plea form? 

13 
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A Yes. 
Q And did you yourself read the plea form to 

yourself? 
A Yes. 

Q And as you read every 
by placing your initials, J.M., 
corner of every page and signed 
page? 
A Yes. 

page, did you sign all 
at the bottom right 
your name on the last 

Q 
following 
A Yes. 

And are the circled yes or no answers 
each question your truthful responses? 

Q And as Mr. Hesketh indicated, there's 
supplemental plea forms indicating that once you're 
released from State Prison you'll be under parole 
supervision for five years 
A Yes. 

Q -- knowing that, do you still wish to plead 
guilty? 
A Yes. 

Q Do you believe you've entered this guilty 
plea voluntarily? 
A Yes. 

Q Do you believe you've entered this guilty 
plea with knowledge of the consequences including the 

27 

30 years -- 30 years in prison you're going to have to 
serve before you're eligible for parole? 
A Yes. 

Q Are you asking the Court to accept your plea 
of guilty to first degree felony murder, first degree 
armed robbery and the three VOPs? 
A Yes. 

THE COURT: The Court finds the defendant, 
Jamar Myers, has provided an adequate factual basis to 
accept his guilty plea to Count 3 of Indictment 14-02-
232, felony murder in the first degree. Likewise, I 
find he has provided a factual basis to accept his 
guilty plea to Count 1 of Indictment 11-08-833, armed 
robbery in the first degree and similarly find because 
of these guilty pleas he violated the terms of his 
probation in these three matters including 08-03-0231, 
09-04-0439 and finally 10-01-0100. I find the 
defendant has entered these guilty pleas knowingly, 
intelligently and voluntarily and not as a result of 
any threats or any promises not disclosed on the 
record. Defendant has entered these pleas after 
consulting with his attorney, Edward Hesketh, and upon 
the advice of competent counsel with who this defendant 
has admitted he is satisfied with. As a result I find 
the defendant understands the nature of the charges and 
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consequences of his plea. I find the defendant has 
been very alert and comprehending throughout this 
entire proceeding as illustrated by the Court's 
colloquy with him. I find the defendant is not under 
the influence of any alcohol, drugs or medication which 
could have interfered with his ability to think clearly 
and understand these proceedings. I find the defendant 
has knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his 
constitutionally guaranteed rights and signed the plea 
form which the Court incorporates into its findings. I 
find the defendant has not been threatened or coerced 
in pleading guilty, that he understands the range of 
sentence that may be imposed, including the 30-year -­
year period of parole ineligibility. I therefore 
accept defendant guilty pleas and set this matter down 
for sentencing. 

Are counsel available Friday, February 3rd in 
the afternoon? 

Mr. Grillo, do you believe there'll be any 
family members of the deceased that will be addressing 
the Court? 

MR. GRILLO: I do, Judge. I think for now we 
can set it for that day. I think that's enough time 
that they can make themselves available. If for some 
reason someone who wants to be here can't make it that 
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day I'll just request an adjournment from the Court. 
THE COURT: All right. See I'm thinking I'm 

going to set it down for 3 p.m. and that'll be the only 
matter I'm going to hear, whatever other matters will 
be taken care of. 

MR. GRILLO: Okay. Thank you, Judge. 
THE COURT: So I'm suggesting, Mr. Hesketh, 

Friday, February 3rd at 3 p.m. Obviously, Mr. Myers' 
family members certainly may want to attend and they 
certainly have the opportunity to address the Court. I 
don't think there's any need for any sentencing memos 
because I think the plea is going to be rather 
straightforward. 

And Mr. Grillo, are you hopeful that by 
February 3rd you'll know what the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania is doing with their charges? 

MR. GRILLO: Yes, Judge. We're going to 
continue to pursue some sort of guarantee from them and 
as soon as we have one we'll advise the Court and Mr. 
Hesketh. 

THE COURT: Yes, because obviously I prefer 
not sentencing him until we know that there's no longer 
in effect a contingent play. 

MR. GRILLO: Correct. 
THE COURT: You're available? 
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MR. HESKETH: Very good. No, that's good, 
Judge. That's even better. 

30 

THE COURT: Okay. So thank you, counsel. I 
know you worked very hard. We were all prepared to 
start selecting the jury now but I will see you all on 
February 3rd. Thank you, counsel. 

MR. GRILLO: Thank you, Judge. 

* * * * * 
C E R T I F I C A T I O N 

I, MYRIAM LOPEZ, the assigned transcriber, do 
hereby certify the foregoing transcript of proceedings 
on CD, playback number 9:46:11 to 12:34:32, is prepared 
in full compliance with the current Transcript Format 
for Judicial Proceedings and is a true and accurate 
compressed transcript of the proceedings as recorded, 
and to the best of my ability. 

Isl Myriam Lopez 
MYRIAM LOPEZ AOC# 677 
J&J COURT TRANSCRIBERS, INC. DATE: February 16, 2018 
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\ \ - 1'16"1 

List the charges to which you are pleading guilty: . 
Statutory Maximum 

Ind./Acc./Comp.# Count Nature of Offense 

1 Lt_ 0 -;,-, &'.l;,. .3 F E'LO/V "'l fY\~(\_.o ,,-
De'f,f_ee Time Fine 
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Max 

Max 

Max 

Your totai ,exposure a~lt of this plea is: 
----. 

Total l Ir·," I i°00 (,. 

2. a. Did you commit the offense(s) to which you are pleading guilty? 

b. Do you understand that before the judge can find you guilty, you will have to tell the 

judge what you did that makes you guilty of the particular offense(s)? 

VCCOAssmt* 

\00,Jc, 

\Cl0.oio 

). "'\) . •Ji.;, 

Please Circle 

Appropriate 

.-- Answer 

l@l [Nol 

8 [No] 

; 3. Do you understand what the charges mean? -.~_-[No] 

4. Do you understand that by pleading guiity you are giving up ce1iain rights? Among them 

are: 
a. The right to a jmy trial in which the State must prove you guilty beyond a reasonable 

doubt? 

b. The right to remain silent? 

c. The right to confront the witnesses against you? 

d. Do you understand that by pleading you are not waiving your right to appeal ( 1) the 

denial of a motion to suppress physical evidence (R. 3:5-7( d)) ti1~(-2)..tlle-den.ial of 
.acceptanrunto..a.pr.etJ.:ial...int-»titifliJrtlgram-(W-l}(~-8(-g))? 

e. Do you further understand that by pleading guilty you are waiving your right to appeal 

the denial of all other pretrial motions except the following: _ 

Lt O Y (3 D1_c C,,151 o -1 I rJ I C\ ' () ¢< d- Ja::: ('I\••)' ' "' T"" 

• Victims ofCrjroe Compensation Office Assessment 

Main Plea Form/ Revised Form Promulgated by Directive #05~11 (08/01/2011), CN 10079-English 
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5. Do you understand that if you plead guilty: 
a. You will have a criminal record? [No] 

[No] b. Unless the plea agreement provides otherwise, you could be sentenced to serve the 
maximum time in confinement, to pay the maxiiimm fine and to pay the maximum 
Victims of Crime Compensation Agency Assessment? 

c. You nm~t pay a 1?-inimum Victi~ns of Crim~ Compe?sation Agency assessmen~ o~ $.50 . r;~ 
($100 nnmmum 1fyou are convicted ofa crnne ofv10lence) for•each-count to "'h1ch you~J 
plead guilty? (Penalty is $30 if offense occurred between Jantia1y 9;) l 986}1rid December, i 

22, 1991 inclusive. $25 if offense occurred before Januaiy·I, 1986.) •• • • 

[No] 

d. If the offense occuJTed on or after February 1, 1293 but was befortMarch!,13,,1995, and ~] · [No] 
you are being sentenced to probation or a State correctional facilit)i, you'mµst pay a V 
transaction fee of up to $ 1.00 for each occasion when a m1yment or installment payment 
is made? If the offense occmTed on or after March 13, 1995 and,the sentence is to 
probation, or the sentence otherwise requires payments offinandial obljgationsT<i'the ,, . 
probation divi;ion, you must pay a transaction fee ofup to $2'.-00 for ea~h o~casi~ti wl1en 
a payment or instal1ment payment is made? · 1 

• • 

[No] . ,· ~>_lf·. _1 t)1e offens_e occur'.·ed o_n or after August 2, 1993 you 1:3-ust pay a
1
$~5 Safe 

•~ghl;)_orhood Services Fund assessment for each conv1ct10n? . • . . . 

f;. ,Iftherh'ense occurred on or after Janua1y 5, 1994 and you ;efab;~~en~ticecito 1~:l.. /~
1

[Noj 
, probat10n, you must pay a fee of up to $25 per month for the t\:\!lll of prol'!at1qn?-... 1 

g. if the crime occurred on or after Januaiy 9, 1997 you must pay~ t~,•E~;f~;c~1~~nt }~~' [No] 
Officers Training and Equipment Fund penalty of $30? .i ' • .. ·, --~-- ..... ~· 

11.' You wi~l be r~qu~red to p1:ov_ide a rl~~f~~pl~~·~11ich c~uld be :se? by l~~~nforcement_~ [No] 
.. . for the mvest;gatlou of cnmmal act1v1ty, a;1ilpay for the cost of tcstmg? .. ~-~-~·•·-··· • · -· 

i. Co~. P1:1ter Crime Prev~tion Fund Penalty, N .. '.A, 2. C:4 .. 3-3:8 (L 2009, . 143). If the" Yes]' [No] 
cnm rnvolves a v10lat1 ofN.J.S.A. 2C:24-4b )(b) (knowrngly possessm or I\ f I 
know·• ly viewing child omography, N.J.S.A. 2 :3M:3i(st::Bing, distributing r . 

1 

/\J P 

criminal a tivity in violation f any provision of Title , chapter 20, you will be . 

assessed an ndatory penalty a listed below for each o \1se for which you pied g 'lty? 

(1) $2,000 in e case ofa 1st de ree crime 

~~~- ~l,~~~ ~~ ~~e ca::~~: ~;g g::r:e ~:::: . • -I ft/JrrVY----
(4) $ 500 in the ca';. ofa 4th degree ·ime \. ~ 
( 5) $ 250 in the case~f a disorderly pe ons or petty disorderly persons offense 

.; 

Total CCPF Penalty $ 
--------~---,. 
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6. Do you understand that the court could, in its discretion, impose a minimum time in @ [No J. 
confinement to be served before you beco1J1e eligible for parole, which period could be as 
long as one half of the period of the custodial sentenced imposed? 

7. Did you enter a plea of guilty to any charges that require'amandatoryperiod of parole. @sl [No] 
ineligibility or a mandato1y extended term1 

a. If you are pleading guilty to such a charge, the minimum mandat01y period of parole 

ineligibility is .12_ years and _Q_ months (fill iJli the num~r ofy~ars/months) and 

the maximum period of parole ineligibility can be _,1__Q__ years and . • io months (fill in 

the number of years/months) and this period cannot be reduced by good time, work, or 
minimum custody credits. • • ' ·!, • \ • • • 

b. If you are pleading guilty to such a charge/the minimum mandat01y extended.term is 
__ years and __ ·_ months. ( fill in the number of ye&rs/months) and the m&ximum 

mand&t01y extended tetm can be _. •·- years and _._._months (fillin the mimbetof 
years/months). -'' • • • 

8. Are yQu pleading guilty to & crime .th&t contains a presumption of imprisomnent which 
means th&t itis ahnost cert&iii tl)at you will go to state prison? • 

9. Are you presently on probation or parole? . ! • ' 

a. ,Do you realize that a guilty plea may result in a violation of your probation or 
· '•parole? • 

[No] 

[No] [NA] 

• 10. Are.you presently serving a custodial sentence __ 9n another charge? [Yes] io 
• • •• • [·y• ·e~s··i·· • .. ·o·] -~ a. Do you understand that a guilty pleamay.caffectyoµr pargte·e1igibi1ity? ~] 

11. Do you understand thatifyou have plea;g~:tt•i;t<?r¥ve been found guilty on···· .. [Yes]··· [N~] .[NA] 

other c)mrges, or are presently serving a custodial term ai1d the plea agreement is 

silent oh the issue, the court may require that all sentendes be made to rnn 
consecutively? • 

12. List any charges the prosecutor has agreed to recommend for <lisi'nissal: 
Ind./Acc./Compl.# 

JLJ-o:;,-&s;i.. 

) 1 • O"i, 133 

I I - o): .. 0657 

Count Nature of Offense and Degree 

f:; l.. L fl uV\ fl J ('J J /V (.r Co-.J/\. ✓-\ 
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( l"'/'f\--Lc,.t.":, ffLS No,· f2..ucv [. O,JC,_u(l,ILCV"'• ,0 Jill l p U;:'YI, S°Tfl,):::'- . 

·os ," <) ('JCiT oPP aS-c , , /:;L..1.- 0(\.01'-' '10 f s -1\t{\ c: ', (_)'\..JS) Cc,rJc.0(2.(l.C'V--r, 

Defendant's Initial ?'l:-':f-~.L-
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14. Has the prosecutor promised that he or she will NOT: 

a. Speak at sentencing? 

b. Seek an extended term of confinement? 

c. Seek a stipulation of parole ineligibility? 

15. Are you aware that you must pay restitution if the comt finds there is a victim who 

has suffered a loss and if the court finds that you are able or will be able in the 

future to pay restitution? • 

@1 

[Yes] ~ 

® [No] 

[Yes] ((§1 

[No] [NA] 
i 

16. Do you understand that if you are a public office holder or employee, you can be 

required to forfeit your office or job by virtue of your plea of guilty? 

[Yes] [No] @ 

17. a. Are you a citizen of the United States? 

If you have answered "No" to this question, you must answer Questions 17b -

17f. If you have answered "Yes" to this question, proceed to Question 18 

b. Do you understand that if you are not a citizen of the United States, this guilty 

plea may result in. your removal from the United States and/or stop you from 

being able to legally enter or re-enter the United States? 

0 [No] 

[Yes] [No] 

c. Do.you understand that you have the right to seek individualized advice from an attorney [Yes] [No] 

, ~bout the effect your guilty plea will have on your immigration status? 
:i' 

d~ Have you discussed with an attorney the potential immigration consequences of 
•• your piea? If the answer is "No," proceed !P question 17e .. If.the. answer is 

"Yes," proceed to question l 7f. ' ~ • • 

e. Would you like the opportunity to do so? 

f. Having been advised of the possible immigration consequences and of your 
right to seek individualized legal advice on your itmnigration consequences, do 

you still wish to plead guilty? • • ' 

' 

[Yes] [No] 

[Yes] [No] 

[Yes] [No] 

18. a. Do you understand that pursuant to the rules of the Interstate Compact for Adult Offender ®] [No] 
Supervision if you are residing outside the State of New Jersey at the time of sentencing 

that return to your residence may be delayed pending acceptance of the transfer of your 

supervision by your state ofresidence? 

b. Do you also understand that pursuant to the same Interstate Compact transfer of your 
supervision to another state may be denied or resu·icted by that state at any time after 

sentencing if that state detennines you are required to register as a sex offender in that 

state or if New Jersey has required you to tegister as a sex offender? 

r9 [No] 

19. Have you discussed with your attorney the legal docu·ine of merger? [Yes] [No] @ 

Main Plea Form/ Reyised Form Promtilgated by Directive #05-11 (08/0,112011 ), CN 10079-English 
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_., ...,_ ~ 
·,.-~ ... ,-,1· 

20. },re yrili giving up yourrightat sentence to·afgu; that th.ere are-charges you pleaded [Yes] ~- [NA] 
guilty to for which you cannot be give1(a separate,sentence? V 

J 

21. List any other promises or rep"reseritations that have been made by you, the prosecutor, yom defense 
attorney, or anyone else as a part of this plea of guilty: • 

' 
- tv. C, l)fL./·' "'-c 

I 
Lo c ,, 

22. Have. any promises other thari those mentioned on this form, or any threats, been made in 
order to cause you to plead guilty? 

·[Yes]@) 

23. a. Do you understand that the judge is not bound by any promises or recommendations of @ 
•· the prosecutor and that the judge has the right to reject the plea before sentencing you and 

[No] 

•. the right to impose a more severe sentence? • 

b. Do you understand that if the judge decides to impose a more severe sentence than 
recommended by the prosecutor, that you may take back your plea? 

.. c:\ Do you u~derstand that if you a~·e pennitted_ to take back your plea ?f guilty because of· 
\, the Judge s sentence, that anytlung you say m fmtherance of the gmlty plea caimot be 
.~sed against you at trial? • 

~ - . 

24. Are you satisfied with the advice you have-r~6~iveir from yonr lawyer? 
• ~~- -

25. Do you have any questions concerning this ;1;!? 
' \ 

-~ [No] 

• / 

~;[No] 

1 ~ 
[Yes] ~ 

[ ] This plea is the result ofthejudge's conditional indications of the maximum sentence he or she would 

impose independent of the prosecutor's recommendation. Accordingly, the "Supplemental Plea Fmm for 
Non-Negotiated Pleas" has been completed. 

Main Plea Form/ Revised FonnPromtilgated by Directive #05-11 (08/01/2011), CN 10079-English Defendant's Initials / J: P}yj -1 _.,.,,. 
fefge5 6f5 • . 
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JUSTICE PIERRE-LOUIS delivered the opinion of the Court. 

In this case, we must determine whether reasonable and articulable 

suspicion existed when a police officer conducted an investigatory stop of the 

vehicle in which defendants were riding. After the robbery of a 7-Eleven store 

in Hamilton, police dispatch alerted officers that the suspects. were two Black 

males, orie arm.ed with a gun. Sergeant Mark Horan heard the radio 

transmission and made his way to the scene. While en route, Sergeant Horan 
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SYLLABUS 

This syllabus is not pait of the Cou1t's opinion. It has.been prepared by the Office of the 

Clerk for the convenience of the reader. It has been neither reviewed nor approved by the 

Court. In the interest of brevity, pmtions of an opinion may not have been summarized. 

State v. Peter Nyema (A-39-20) (085146) 

State v. Jamar J. Myers (A-40-20) (082858) 

Argued October 25, 2021 -- Decided January 25, 2022 

PIERRE-LOUIS, J., writing for a unanimous Court. 

In this case, the Comt considers whether reasonable and a1ticulable suspicion 

existed when a police officer conducted an investigatory stop of the vehicle in which 

defendants Petel'Nyema and Jamar Myers were riding with co-defendant Tyrone Miller. 

Around rt1idnight on May 7, 2011., a 7-Eleven was 1;obbed. At approximately 

12:15 a.m., Sergeant Mark Horan of the Hamilton Township Police Depattment received 
a tr·ansmission about the anned robbery, which "had just occu!1'ed." Horan testified that 

the dispatch described the suspects "as two Black males, one with a handgun." Horan 

activated the lights and sirens on his marked patrol car and drove towards the 7-Eleven. 

Approximately three-qua1ters of a mile from the 7-Eleven, Horan saw a car 

approaching in the oncoming traffic lai1e. Using the spotlight mounted to his police 

vehicle to illuminate the inside of the car, he observed that the occupants were a man and 

a woman and let them pass. Sergeant Horan testified that as he continued on, a second 

set of headlights approached. He illuminated the inside of the vehicle and observed three 

Black males; "[t]he description of the suspects was two Black males so at that point I 

decided to issue a motor vehicle stop on the second vehicle." Horan latecexplained that 

he was also struck by the lack of reaction to the spotlight by the occupants of the car, and 
that he "took into consideration the short distance from the scene, as well as the short 

amount of time from the call" as he made the stop. 

Upon stopping the vehicle, Sergeant Horan radioed he<1dquaiters with the license 

plate number and a description of the car, and two more officers arrived. Before he 

approached the vehicle, Horan learned from one of the other officers that the robbery 

suspects had been wearing dark or black clothing or jackets. As he approached, Horan 

observed "some dark jackets" on the unoccupiedrear passenger seat and on the floor of 

the vehicle. Horan spoke with the driver, who was later identified as Miller. Nyema was 
sitting in the passenger seat and Myers was in the rear passenger-side seat. The 

dispatcher advised Horan that the vehicle had been rep01ted stolen. All three occupants 

were placed under an-est. 
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More officers an-ived on the scene, and while several officers secured the 
an-estees, others assisted Horan in searching for a weapon. First, Horan retrieved the 

• clothing he had observed from the backseat of the vehicle. Then, he and the other 
officers searched other parts of the vehicle, locating additional clothing in the tnmk and a 
black semi~automatic handgun under the hood. Searches of the men themselves yielded 

just under $600 cash. Approximately $600 was reported stolen frorri the 7-Eleven. The . . 

vehicle was then impounded, and police transported the three men to the police station. 

Miller pied guilty to two weapons offenses and agreed to testify against Nyema 
and Myers, who jointly moved to suppress the physical evidence seized from the stop. 
The trial court granted the motion in part as to the items seized from the trunk and the 
hood. But the court found that the initial stop was supp01ted by reasonable and 
articulable suspicion, that the retrieval of clothing from the interior of the vehicle was 
pe1mitted under the plain view exception to the wan-aµt requirement, and that the money 
was lawfully seized incident to defendants' an·est. As to the robbery of the 7-11, both 
Myers and Nyema pied guilty to first-degree robbery. 

Both defendants appealed from the pattial denial of their motion to suppress. In 
Myers's case, the Appellate Division affirmed. In Nyema's case, the Appellate Division 
held that the stop was not based on reasonable and a1ticulable suspicion. 465 N.J. Super. 
181, 185 (App. Div. 2020). Accordingly, Nyema's conviction was reversed, his sentence 
vacated, and the matter remanded for fiuther proceedings. Ibid. 

The Couit granted certification in Nyema. 245 N.J. 256 (2021 ). Ori reconsideration, 

it granted certification in Myers "limited to the issue of whether the police officer had 
reasonable articulable suspicion to stop the car." 245 N.J. 250,251 (2021). 

HELD: The only info1mation the officer possessed at the time of the stop was the race 
and sex of the suspects, with no further descriptors. That information, which effectively 
placed every single Black male in the area under the veil of suspicion, was insufficient to 
justify the stop of the vehicle and therefore does not withstand constitutional scmtiny. 

1. Searches and seizures conducted without warrants issued.upon probable cause are 
presumptively unreasonable and are invalid unless they fall within one of the few well­

delineated exceptions to the warrant requirement. The exception at issue in this case is an 

investigative stop, a procedure that involves a relatively brief detention by police during 
which a person's movement is resh·icted. An investigative stop or detentio11 does not 

offend the Federal or State Constitution, and no warrant is needed, if it is based on 
specific and a1ticulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those 
facts, give rise to a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. (pp. 21-22) 

2. Although reasonable suspicion is a less demanding standard than probable cause, 

neither inarticulate hunches nor an arresting officer's subjective good faith suffices. 

2 
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Dete1mining whether reasonable and articulable suspicion exists for an investigat01y stop 

is a highly fact-intensive inquhy that demands evaluation of the totality of circumstances 

sul1'oundi11g the police-citizen encounter. In many cases, the reasonable suspicion 

inquhy begins with the description police obtained regarding a person mvolved in 

criminal activity and whether that information was sufficient to initiate an investigato1y 
detention. In State v. Shaw, 213 N.J. 398 (2012), and State v. Caldwell, 158 N.J. 452 

.(1999), the Court determined that police lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct an 

evidentiary stop based on descriptions lintited to the race and sex of the suspect. The 
Comt reviews those cases in detail and notes that even inquh-ies or investigative 

techniques that do not qualify as searches and seizures must still compo1t with the Equal 

Protection Clause. And New Jersey jurisprudence is well-settled that seemmgly furtive 

movements, without more, are insufficient to constitute reasonable and aiticulable 

suspicion. The totality of the ch-cmnstances of the encounter must be considered in a fact­

sensitive analysis to detennine whether officers objectively possessed reasonable and 

aiticulable suspicion to conduct an investigato1y stop. (pp. 23-27) 

. 3. Applying those principles, the Court does not find that the information Sergeant Horan 
possessed at the thne of the motor-vehicle stop constituted reasonable and aiticulable 

suspicion. Ce1tainly, race and sex ·-- \vhen· taken together with other, discrete factors -­

can support reasonable and inticulable suspicion. But here, the initial description did not 

provide any additional physical descriptions that would differentiate the two Black male 

suspects from any other Black men m New Jersey. And the radio dispatch indicated th!lt 
the store was robbed by two Black men. Sergeant Horan testified that upon seeing three 

Black males in the vehicle, he inferred that the third was the getaway driver. While 

Sergeant Horan's inference was reasonable, the reality is that the ambiguous nature of the 

descriptiort could have resulted m Black men in any configuration and using any mode of 

transpo1tat\on being stopped because the only descriptors ofthe suspects were race and 

sex. Sergeant Boran saw the clothing and learned the car had been repo1ted stolen after 

the stop, but infonnation acquired after a stop cannot retroactively serve as the basis for 

the stop. Defendants' non-reaction to the spotlight-- like nervous behavior that courts 

have reasonably found not to suppo1t reasonable suspicion -- did not justify the stop. 

And even considering the closeness of Sergeant Horan's encounter with defendants m 

te1ms of spatial and temporal proximity to the robbery does not add significantly to the 

analysis of whetl1er the stop was lawful because the 7-Eleven was located on a roadway 

close to a maj01' interstate highway a11d the record is unclear as to when the robbery 

actually occurred. The non-specific and non-individualiz_ed factors asse1ted here do not 

add up to a totality of circumstances analysis upon which reasonable suspicion can be 

found. Zero plus zero will always equal zero. (pp. 28-33) 

• AFFIRMED in Nyema; REVERSED and REMANDED in Myers .. 

CHIEF JUSTICE RABNER and JUSTICES ALBIN, PATTERSON, FERNANDEZ­

VINA, and SOLOMON join in JUSTICE PIERRE-LOUIS's opinion. 
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used the mounted spotlight on his marked police car to illuminate the interior 

of passing vehicles in order to search for the robbery suspects. In the first 

. . 
vehicle Horan encountered, a man and a woman reacted with annoyance and 

alarm when Horan shone the spotlight into their car. When Horan came across 

a second vehicle, approximately three-quarters of a mile from the store, he 

illuminated the interior of the car with the spotlight and saw three Black males 

inside. According to Horan, the men did not react to the spotlight at all. 

Horan viewed that non-reaction as "odd" considering the reaction of the 

passengel's in the first car. At that point, the only information Horan had about . . . 

the robbery was that the suspects were two Black males, one with a gun, who 
' • 

fled the i:obbery on foot. Dispatch had not provided any additional identifiers. 

Based on the race and sex of the occupants and their non-reaction to the 

spotlight, Sergeant Horan executed a motor vehicle stop of the car. After 

stopping the car, Horan learned that the vehicle had been reported stolen so 

defendants were placed under arrest. A search of the car revealed dark 

clothing -- clothes matching what the suspects were wearing during the • 

robbery -- and a handgun hidden under the hood of the car. 

Defendants Peter Nyema, Jamar Myers, and a third co-defendant were 

charged with a host of offenses related to the 7-Eleven robbery. Nyema and 

Myers jointly moved to suppress the items seized during the search of the 
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vehicle, arguing that the stop was unlawful because it was not based on 

reasonable suspicion. The trial court denied the motion to suppress and both 

Myers and Nyema eventually pied guilty to first-degree robbery. 

In separate appeals, both men challenged the denial of the motion to 

suppress, resulting in opposite Appellate Division outcomes. In Myers's 

appeal, an Appellate Division panel affirmed the trial court's denial of the 

motion to suppress, ruling that the stop was supported by reasonable suspicion. 

In Nyema's appeal, a different Appellate Division panel reversed the trial court 

and vacated Nyema's conviction and sentence, finding that Sergeant Horan did 

not have reasoiiable suspicion to conduct the stop of the car. 

We granted both defendants' petitions for certification on the question of 

whether reasonable and articulable suspicion existed to stop the car. We now 

reverse the Myers decision and affirm in Nyema. The only information the 

officer possessed at the time of the stop was the race and sex of the suspects, 

with no further descriptors. That information, which effectively placed every 

single Black male in the area under the veil of suspicion, was insufficient to 

justify the stop of the vehicle and therefore does not withstand constitutional 

scrutiny. 
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I. 

We rely on the testimony developed at the evidentiary hearing on 

defendants' motion to suppress for the following summary. 

Around midnight on May 7, 2011, a ?-Eleven in Hamilton, New Jersey' 

was robbed. At approximately 12: 15 a.m., Sergeant Mark Horan of the 

Hamilton Township Police Department received a transmission about the 

armedrobbery, which "had just occurred." Horan testified that the dispatch 

described the suspects "as two Black males, one with a handgun." 

Horan activated the lights and sirens on his marked patrol car and drove 

towards the ?-Eleven at a "relatively high speed" for one to two minutes, 

shutting off the lights and sirens as he drew closer. According to Sergeant 

Horan, traffic was light because it was late at night. Approximately three­

quarters of a mile from the ?-Eleven, Horan saw a car approaching in the 

oncoming traffic lane. Using the spotlight mounted to his police vehicle to 

illuminate the inside of the car, 1 he observed that the occupants were a man 

and a woman and let them pass. Sergeant Horan testified as follows: 

I continued on. The second set of headlights 
approached me, I illuminated the inside of that vehicle 
and I observed three Black males, you know, that went 
past me. 

1 This was not a standard procedure sanctioned by the Hamilton Police 
Department, but a technique that Horan employed while searching for suspects 
at night. 
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The description of the suspects was two Black males so 
at that point I decided to issue a motor vehicle stop on 
the second vehicle. 

He would later explain that the man and the woman in the first vehicle 

reacted to the spotlight with "alarm or annoyance," and that the "driver 

shielded his eyes a little bit." In contrast, the occupants of the second vehicle, 

including defendants, showed no reaction and kept looking straight ahead. 

Horan testified that the occupants of the second vehicle "were all males, Black 

males. And I received no response from any of them that I could observe, no 

one looked at me, no one turned towards the car. It was as if I wasn't there.'' 

He explained that this non-reaction "struck [him] as odd." He further testified 

that it was his "experience that sometimes people who prefer not to be noticed 

tend to ignore the spotlight." 

Upon witnessing the non-reaction of the vehicle's occupants, Horan 

activated his lights and executed a stop of the second vehicle. Horan testified 

that at the time of the stop, 

[t]he sex and race were consistent with that of the 
description. I had three occupants in the vehicle. The 
suspects were described at the time of the call as two. 
So I had, at least, that. I took into consideration the 
short distance from the scene, as well as the short 
amount of time from the call and all those things 
considered is what I took into consideration to effect 
the stop. 

7 



Upon stopping the vehicle, Sergeant Horan radioed headquarters with the 

license plate number and a description of the car -- a 2000 silver Toyota 

Corolla with Pennsylvania license plates. 

Two more officers arrived just as Horan was exiting his patrol car. All 

three approached the vehicle with their weapons drawn. Horan ordered the 

driver to turn off the engine and told all occupants to place their hands on the 

roof. Before he approached the vehicle, Horan learned from one of the other 

officers that the robbery suspects had been wearing dark or black clothing or 

jackets. As he approached, Horan observed "some dark jackets" on the 

unoccupied rear passenger seat and on the floor of the vehicle. 

Horan spoke with the driver, who was later identified as co-defendant 

Tyrone Miller, a/k/a Ajene Drew. Nyema was sitting in the passenger.seat and 

Myers was in the rear passenger-side seat. The dispatcher asked Horan to 

confirm the license plate 1rnmber arid when he did, the dispatcher advised 

Horan that the vehicle had been reported stolen. All three occupants were then 

removed from the vehicle and placed under arrest. 

More officers arrived on the scene, and while several officers secured 

the arrestees, others assisted Horan in searching for a weapon. First, Horan 

retrieved the clothing he had observed from the backseat of the vehicle; Then, 

he and the other officers searched other parts of the vehicle, locating additional 
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clothing in the trunk and a black semi-automatic handgun wrapped in a red 

bandana under the hood. Searches of the men themselves yielded just under 

$600 cash. Approximately $600 was reported stolen from the 7-Eleven 

robbery. The vehicle was then impounded, and police transported the three 

men to the police station. 

II. 

On August 23, 2011, a Mercer County grand jury charged Nyema, 

Myers, ana Miller in a multiple count indictment. 

All three men were chal'ged with first-degree robbery, as well as theft, 

aggravated assault, terroristic threats, several weapons offenses, and theft by 

receiving stolen property. They were each also charged with conduct-specific 

counts related to the' theft of tl1e car or the arrest, and Miller was charged with 

possession of a firearm as a felon. 

Miller pied guilty to two second-degree weapons offenses and agreed to 

testify against Nyema and Myers. 

A. 

Nyema and Myers jointly moved to suppress the physical evidence 

seized from the stop. During a three-day evidentiary hearing, the trial court 

heard testimony from Sergeant Horan; Nyema's father, who owned the vehicle 

and who testified that it had not been reported stolen; and Detective William 
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Mulryne, who testified that he had personally taken the stolen vehicle report 

from Nyema's father several days before the car stop. 

The trial court granted the motion in part and denied it in part, 

suppressing the handgun found under the hood of the car but ruling that the 

clothing and money had been lawfully seized. The court reasoned that because 

the initial stop was supported by reasonable and articulable suspicion, the 

retrieval of the clothing from the interior of the vehicle was permitted under 

the plain view exception to the warrant requirement and the money was 

lawfully seized incident to defendants' arrest. However, the trial court found 

that the full warrantless search of the vehicle, including the trunk and hood, 

which yielded the handgun, could not be justified by exigent circumstances 

because the vehicle's occupants were already securely in custody and the 

vehicle was located in a residential neighborhood shortly after midnight. 

Although the court found that defendants did not have a reasonable 

expectation of privacy in the vehicle because it had been reported stolen, the 

court explained that a lack of privacy interest was not a valid substitute for 

probable cause; rather, it was only one factor in determining whether exigent 

circumstances justified a warrantless search. The court concluded that the 

officers could have simply impounded the vehicle and searched it back at the 

police precinct or applied for a warrant while at the scene. 

10 
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In upholding Horan's reasonable suspicion for the initial car stop, the 

court noted that the stop occurred close to the robbery in terms of both time 

and. space; that Horan observed the vehicle approaching from the direction of 

the ctime scene; that the vehicle's occupants "gave no response whatsoever to 

the lights shone on them, made no eye contact whatsoever"; and "[a]lso, to be 

quite honest, the racial makeup of the occupants of the vehicle, three Black 

males traveling away from the scene." 

B. 

Myers -- Guilty Plea and Sentencing 

On November 29, 2016, Myers pied guilty to first-degree robbery of the 

7-Eleven, reserving his right to appeal several evidentiary rulings, including 

the denial of his motion to suppress based on the stop. Myers also pied guilty 

to first-degree felony murder on an unrelated indictment2 and entered guilty 

pleas to three violations of probation. 

On July 7, 2017, .!viyers was sentenced to a term of thirty years for the 

unrelated felony murder, with no possibility of parole, and a concurrent term 

of twelve years, subject to the No Early Release Act (NERA), for the armed 

2 In February 2014, Myers was charged in a second indictment related to two 
offenses that occurred in Trenton on April 29, 2011 -- an attempted robbery of 
one pharmacy and the completed robbery of another pharmacy, during which 
the pharmacist was shot and killed. 
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robbery of the 7-Eleven. For the probation violations, Myers was sentenced to 

five years. 

Myers appealed, arguing, among other things, that the joint motion to 

suppress should have been granted in its entirety because the initial stop was 

not based on reasonable suspicion and, furthermore, that the plain view 

exception to the warrant requirement did not justify the officers' entry into the 

vehicle. 

The Appellate Division affirmed the trial court's rulings and Myers's 

conviction. Regarding the motion to suppress, the court noted that the trial 

court had specifically rejected Myers 's argument that the stop was based solely • 

on defendants' race and sex. Rather, the Appellate Division found that 

the trial court pointed out that the suspects were 
reported to be African-American and, therefore, there 
was a reasonable and particularized suspicion . to 
conduct an investigatory stop of a vehicle with African­
American men inside when that vehicle was seen a 
short distance from the 7-Eleven in the early morning 
when there were few other cars on the road. 

The Appellate Division concluded that "those factual findings are 

supported by the evidence in the record" and that there was therefore no basis 

for reversal. The court also affirmed the trial court's ruling that seizure of the 

clothing from the backseat of the vehicle was justified by the plain view 

exception to the warrant requirement. This Court denied Myers's petition for 
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certification seeking review of the denial of his motion to suppress. 240 N.J. 

22 (2019). 

C. 

Nyema -- Trial, Guilty Plea and Sentencing 

On September 20, 2017, a jury trial proceeded in Nyema's case. After 

the State rested, Nyema entered an open guilty plea to first-degree robbery. 

Nyema's sentencing took place almost a year later on September 6, 2018, 

immediately after an unsuccessful motion to withdraw his guilty plea. The 

court sentenced Nyema to a custodial term of fifteen years, subject to NERA. 

Like Myers, Nyema appealed the partial denial of the joint motion to 

suppress; arguing that police lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct the initial 

stop and that, even if the stop had been lawful, the officers' warrantless entry 

into the vehicle to seize clothing from the backseat was not justified by the 

plain view exception. 

The Appellate Division held that the stop was not based on reasonable 

and articulable suspicion. State v. Nyema, 465 N.J. Super. 181, 185 (App. 

Div. 2020). Accordingly; Nyema's conviction was reversed, his sentence 

vacated, and the matter remanded for fui"ther proceedings. Ibid. 

The Appellate Division rejected the trial court's conclusion that Nyema 

lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in the vehicle because it had been 
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reported stolen. Id. at 189. In the court's view, although evidence had been 

presented to indicate that the vehicle had been repotted stolen, no testimony 

indicated that the vehicle actually was stolen and, therefore, Nyema retained a 

reasonable expectation of privacy in his father's car. Id. at 189-90. The comi 

then considered whether the stop was based on a reasonable and articulable 

suspicion. Id. at 190. The court summarized Sergeant Horan's testimony on 

why he stopped the vehicle as: "(1) a store had.been robbed by two Black 

men; (2) the car was within three quarters of a mile from the store, traveling 

away from it; and (3) the three Black men in the car did not react to the 

spotlight he pointed into their vehicle." Id. at 191. 

The court explained that "[t]he men's non-reaction to the light does not 

add much to a reasonable articulable suspicion" because Horan only observed 

them for a second or two as they drove by. Ibid. Furthermore, the court noted 

that the record "does not establish how much time passed between when the 

robbery occurred and the car was stopped"; therefore, it was unclear "whether 

Horan had a reasonable basis to assume the perpetrators were still in the area." 

Id. at 192. 

The court found that "[k]nowledge of the race and gender of criminal 

suspects, without more, is insufficient suspicion to effectuate a seizure." Ibid. 

Because Horan's information amounted to little more than the race and sex of 
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the criminal suspects, it amounted only to a hunch, not to reasonable suspicion. 

Ibid. To hold otherwise "would mean that the police could have stopped all 

cars with two or more Black men within a three-quarters-of-a-mile radius of 

the 7-Eleven store." Ibid. 

The State petitioned this Court for certification, arguing that the Nyema 

decision directly conflicted with Myers and improperly focused "solely upon 

the suspect's description." 

This Court granted the State's petition for certification. 245 N.J. 256 

(2021). Because the Appellate Division's published opinion in Nyema's case 

held that Horan did not have reasonable suspicion to stop the car based on the 

same exact set of facts in Myers's case, Myers filed a motion for 

reconsideration of his petition for certification. This Court granted Myers 's 

motion for reconsideration, "limited to the issue of whether the police officer 

had reasonable articulable suspicion to stop the car." 245 N.J. 250, 251 

(2021). 

III. 

A. 

With regard to Myers, the State contends that the Appellate Division 

correctly upheld the trial court's finding that there was reasonable and 
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articulable suspicion to stop the vehicle based on the evidence in the record. 

The State urges this Court to affirm that holding. 

Regarding Nyema, the State argues that the Appellate Division decision 

should be reversed and Nyema's conviction reinstated. The State contends 

that, in addition to the defendants' race and sex, the motion court found 

reasonable suspicion based on (1) the short duration between the initial 

robbery report and the stop; (2) the location and direction of the vehicle in 

relation to the 7-Eleven; (3) the presence of three individuals in the car, giving 

rise to the inference that the two robbers had been joined by a getaway driver; 

and ( 4) the occupants' non~reaction to the spotlight. 

As for the time, the State argues that the Nyema decision was incorrect 

in finding that the State failed to present evidence establishing how much time 

elapsed between the robbery and the stop. To the contrary, the State notes that 

Sergeant Horan testified that he saw the defendants' vehicle about two or three 

minutes after receiving the report that.a robbery had "just occurred." 

Regarding defendants' behavior when Sergeant Horan used the spotlight on the 

second vehicle, the State argues that Nyema erred by discounting the 

defendants' non-reaction to the spotlight, particularly because that response 

contrasted so starkly with the reaction of the occupants of the previous vehicle. 
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According to the State, "[t]he defendants' abnormal non-reaction suggested a 

calculated effort on the part of all three defendants to avoid detection." 

B. 

The Attorney General, appearing as amicus curiae, takes no position 

regarding whether the investigatory stop in this case should be upheld. The 

Attorney General appears for the limited purpose of reiterating that racial 

• profiling, in all its fo1111s, must be eliminated from policing decisions. The 

Attorney General asserts that consideration of a person's race or ethnicity -- in 

drawing an inference that an individual may be involved in criminal activity or • 

in exercising police discretion with respect to how the officer will deal with 
. I 

that person -- will not be tolerated and is prohibited by Attorney General Law 

Enforcement Directive No. 2005-1, which established a statewide policy 

prohibiting the practice of "Racially-Influenced Policing." The Attorney 

• General notes, however, that under Directive No. 2005-1, when race is a 

descriptive factor in connection with a "Be-On-The-Lookout" announcement, 

or a pre-existing investigation into a specific criminal activity, it may be 

deemed an objective identifier. The Attorney General emphasizes that the 

correct legal standard for adjudicating whether reasonable suspicion exists is 

the totality-of-the-circumstances test. 
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C. 

Because defendants' arguments are substantially similar, we consider 

them together. 

Myers argues that the stop was not supported by reasonable suspicion 

because "[t]he only similarities between the description of the suspects and the 

men are their race and gender." He emphasizes that the officer stopped a car 

occupied by three Black men based only on a report that two Black men had 

fled on foot after a nearby robbery. Myers argues that "there was no 

description of the suspects other than their race," and that "accept[ing] this 

meager description as constituting reasonable suspicion" would allow police to 

have stopped any number of Black men, whether in a car or on foot, within a 

three-quarter-mile radius of the crime scene. 

Nyema takes the same position as Myers. Nyema argues that the 

Appellate Division decision in his case correctly concluded that reasonable 

suspicion did not exist. Analyzing the stop based on the totality of the 

circumstances, Nyema contends that both the proximity to the 7-Eleven and 

the defendants' non-reaction to the spotlight "provided zero basis for 

reasonable suspicion," leaving only a description of the two Black men fleeing 

on foot to establish reasonable suspicion for the stop. 

18 
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D. 

Several amici support defendants' positions. 

Black Ministers and Other Clergy Members (collectively, Clergy 

members) argue that the other factors in this case -- proximity to the crime 

scene and the non-reaction to the spotlight -- fail to create reasonable and 

articulable suspicion. The Clergy members also contend that race-based stops 

cause tremendous harm and are unreasonable because they fail to meaningfully 

limit the number of people subjected to them. Furthermore, such stops involve 

an aggravated or uncomfortable response from Black motorists, which may 

result from a legitimate fear of potential violence from law enforcement. The 

Clergy members recommend that this Court create a prophylactic rule 

preventing police officers from effectuating stops where the only or 

predominant basis for the stop is that the stopped individuals match the race 

and gender of the suspects. 

The Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers of New Jersey (ACDL) 

argues that this Court must affirm in Nyema and reverse in Myers because law 

enforcement impermissibly stopped the defendants on the basis of race. The 

ACDL reasons that racial profiling has been a historically pervasive problem 

and that investigative stops based on race are unconstitutional. 
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Amicus the Seton Hall University School of Law Center for Social 

Justice (the Center) argues that the suspects' non-reaction, location, and 

description provided no individualized basis for reasonable suspicion. 

Regarding location, the Center reasons that defendants' location provided no 

basis for individualized suspicion because the suspects could have driven in 

any direction away from the 7-Eleven and been anywhere within a fifty-mile 

radius of the store. The Center argues that the suspects' description provided 

no basis for reasonable suspicion other than identifying Black males, which 

was an impermissible basis for an investigatory stop. 

In their joint amicus brief, the Latino Leadership Alliance ofNew Jersey 

(LLANJ) and the National Coalition of Latino Officers (NCLO) argue that the 

State failed to prove that police had reasonable suspicion to conduct an 

investigatory stop of the vehicle bas.ed on specific and articulable facts. 

Further, the LLANJ and NCLO contend that racial profiling significantly 

undermines trust in the criminal justice system and makes the state less safe 

for everyone. 

Amicus Kristin Henning, Director of the Georgetown Law Juvenile 

Justice Clinic & Initiative, argues that there was no rational basis to believe 

that the men's non-reaction to the officer shining the light into the car had any 

bearing on suspicion. Furthermore, Henning contends that implicit racial bias 
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thrives when officers rely on vague, race-based descriptions. In this case, the 

description relied solely on race and sex, which is insufficient to constitute 

reasonable and.articulable suspicion. Henning argues that race~based over­

policing weakens constitutional protections and harms individuals, 

communities, and public safety. 

IV. 

A. 

Our standard of review on a motion to suppress is deferential -- we must 

"uphold the factual findings underlying the trial court's decision so long as 

those findings are 'supported by sufficient credible evidence in the record."' 

State v. Ahmad, 246 N.J. 592,609 (2021) (quoting State v. Elders, 192 N.J. 

224, 243 (2007)). This Court defers to those findings in recognition of the trial 

court's "opportunity to hear and see the witnesses and to have the 'feel' of the 

case, which a reviewing court cannot enjoy." Elders, 192 N .J. at 244 (quoting· 

State v. Johnson, 42 N.J. 146, 161 (1964)). A trial court's legal conclusions, 

however, and its view of "the consequences that flow from established facts," 

are reviewed de novo. State v. Hubbard, 222 N.J. 249, 263 (2015). 

B. 

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, 

Paragraph 7 of the New Jersey Constitution, in almost identical language, • 
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protect against unreasonable searches and seizures. Under both Constitutions, 

"searches and seizures conducted without warrants issued upon probable cause 

are presumptively unreasonable and therefore invalid." Elders, 192 N.J. at 246 

(citations omitted). Consequently, "the State bears the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that [the] warrantless search or seizure 'fell 

within one of the few well-delineated exceptions to the warrant requirement."' 

Ibid. (quoting State v. Pineiro, 181 N.J. 13, 19-20 (2004)). 

The exception at issue in this case is an investigative stop, a procedure 

that involves a relatively brief detention by police during which a person's 

movement is restricted. See State v. Rosario, 229 N.J. 263, 272 (2017) 

(describing an investigative stop as a police encounter during which an 

objectively reasonable person would not feel free to leave). When police stop 

a motor vehicle, the stop constitutes a seizure of persons, no matter how brief 

or limited. State v. Scriven, 226 N.J. 20, 33 (2016). An investigative stop or 

detention, however, does not offend the Federal or State Constitution, and no 

warrant is needed, "if it is based on 'specific and articulable facts which, taken 

together with rational inferences from those facts,' give rise to a reasonable 

suspicion of criminal activity." State v. Rodriguez, 172 N.J. 117, 126 (2002) • 

(quoting Terryv. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968)). 
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Although reasonable suspicion is a less demanding standard than 

probable cause, "[n]either 'inarticulate hunches' nor an arresting officer's 

subjective good faith can justify infringement of a citizen's constitutionally 

guaranteed rights." State v. Stovall, 170 N.J. 346, 372 (2002) (Coleman, J., 

concurring in part and dissenting in part) (quoting State v. Arthur, 149 N.J. 1, 

7-8 (1997)); accord State v. Alessi, 240 N.J. 501, 518 (2020). Determining 

whether reasonable and articulable suspicion exists for an investigatory stop is 

a highly fact-intensive inquiry that demands evaluation of "the totality of 

circumstances surrounding the police-citizen encounter, balancing the State's 

interest in effective law enforcement against the individual's right to be 

protected from unwarranted and/or overbearing police intrusions." State v. 

Privott, 203 N.J. 16, 25-26 (2010) (quoting State v. Davis, 104 N.J. 490,504 

(1986)). 

In many cases, the reasonable suspicion inquiry begins with the 

description police obtained regarding a person involved in criminal activity 

and whether that information was sufficient to initiate an investigatory 

detention. In State v. Shaw, this Court determined that the police lacked 

reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigatory stop when law enforcement 

arrived at a multi-unit apartment building to execute an arrest warrant for a 

Black, male fugitive. 213 N.J. 398, 401, 403 (2012). There, the police saw the 
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defendant, also a Black male, exit the building with a friend and immediately 

separate, seemingly because he saw the officers. Id. at 403. "[T]he only 

features that [the testifying officer] could say that [the defendant] shared in 

common with the targeted fugitive were that both were Black and both were 

men." Ibid. That commonality was insufficient to justify the stop, even in 

conjunction with the officer's belief that the two men split up to avoid police 

attention. See id. at 411-12. 

In State v. Caldwell, police acting on a tip from an informant conducted 

an investigatory stop of the defendant based on a descriptio.n that the 

individual sought was a Black man standing in front of a building. 158 N.J. 

452, 454-55 (1999). In invalidating the stop, this Court found that the 

"description of the suspect ... was clearly inadequate" and explained that 

. "police must have a sufficiently detailed description of the person to be able to 

identify that person as the suspect named by the informant." Id. at 460. The 

Court concluded that "[w]ithout such a requirement, police could theoretically 

conduct wide-ranging seizures on the basis of vague general descriptions." 

Ibid. The Court further noted that the tip lacked physical descriptors such as 

"the individual's height, weight, or the clothing he was wearing," and it 

included "no distinguishing characteristics that would have assisted [the 

officer] in making a positive identification of the suspect." Ibid. 
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In his concurring opinion, Justice Handler pointed out that "[r]ace alone 

is not a specific and articulable fact sufficient to establish the reasonable, 

particularized suspicion needed for an investigatory stop of a defendant. 

Adding gender to race does not augment the description -of the suspect so that 

he could fairly be picked out by officers intending to investigate." Id. at 468 

(Handler, J., concurring). In Justice Handler's view, the minimal description 

that consisted simply of the race and sex of the individual was "descriptive of 

nothing" in the constitutional context. Ibid. 

New Jersey courts, moreover, have noted that even inquiries or 

investigative techniques that do not qualify as searches and seizures and 

therefore do not require reasonable and articulable suspicion must still compoit 

with the Equal Protection Clause. See, e.g., State v. Maryland, 167 N.J. 471, 
' 

484 (2001) ("[T]he questioning of [a] defendant as part of a field inquiry is not 

sustainable if the officers approached him. and his companions solely because 

of their race and age."); State v. Segars, 172 N.J. 481,493 (2002) ("[I]frace is 

the sole motivation underlying the use of a M[obile] D[ata] T[erminal] [in 

checking the status of a driver's license], it is illegal .... "). 

Indeed, in 2005; the Attorney General issued Law Enforcement Directive 

2005-1, which established a statewide policy prohibiting the practice of 

racially influenced policing. See Attorney General, Directive Establishing an 
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Official Statewide Policy Defining and Prohibiting the Practice of"Racially­

Influenced Policing" (June 28, 2005) (Directive 2005-1). The Directive 

dictates that law enforcement officers are not to 

consider a person's race or ethnicity as a factor in 
drawing an inference or conclusion that the person may 
be involved in criminal activity, or as a factor in 
exercising police discretion as to how to stop or 
otherwise treat the person, except when responding to 
a suspect-specific or investigation-specific "Be on the 

lookout" (B.O.LO.) situation .... 

The Directive further emphasizes that it does not prohibit officers "from taking 

into account a person's race or ethnicity when race or ethnicity is used to 

describe physical characteristics that identify a particular individual ... being 

sought by a law enforcement agency in furtherance of a specific investigation 

or prosecution." Ibid. 

In addition to the race and sex of the suspect, our courts have considered 

whether" other factors such as nervous behavior, furtive movements, or other 

actions form the basis for reasonable and articulable suspicion. Our 

jurisprudence is well-settled that seemingly furtive movements, without more, 

are insufficient to constitute reasonable and articulable suspicion. See 

Rosario, 229 N.J. at 277 ("Nervousness and excited movements are common 

responses to unanticipated encounters with police officers on the road .... "); 

State v. Lund, 119 N.J. 35, 47 (1990) ("[M]ere furtive gestures of an occupant 
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of an automobile do not give rise to an articulable suspicion suggesting 

criminal activity." (quoting State v. Schlosser, 774 P.2d 1132, 1137 (Utah 

1989))). 

Similarly, when circumstances are not otherwise suspicious, "[a] 

person's failure to make eye contact with the police does not change that." 

State v. Stampone, 341 N.J. Super. 247,252 (App. Div. 2001); see also United 

States v. Foster, 824 F.3d 84, 93 ( 4th Cir. 2016) (noting that lack of eye 

contact is an "ambiguous indicator" that "may still contribute to a finding of 

reasonable suspicion" but that courts are "hesitant" to weigh heavily "because 

it is no more likely to be an indicator of suspiciousness than a show of respect 

and an attempt to avoid confrontation." ( quotation omitted)); United States v. 

Hernandez-Alvarado, 891 F.2d 1414, 1419 n.6 (9th Cir. 1989) ("[A]voidance 

of eye contact has been deemed an inappropriate factor to consider unless 

special circumstances make innocent avoidance of eye contact improbable.") 

(alteration and quotation omitted); United States v. Smith, 799 F.2d 704, 707 

(11th Cir. 1986) (finding the defendant-driver's failure to look at a patrol car 

to be "fully consistent with cautious driving" that "in no way gives rise to a 

reasonable suspicion of illegal activity either alone or in combination with the 

other circumstances surrounding the stop"). 
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In sum, the totality of the circumstances of the encounter must be 

considered in a very fact-sensitive analysis to determine whether officers 

objectively possessed reasonable and articulable suspicion to conduct an 

investigatory stop. State v. Gamble, 218 N.J. 412,431 (2014); Pineiro, 181 

N.J. at 22. 

V. 

Applying those principles to the present case and taking into account the 

totality of the circumstances, we do not find that the information Sergeant 

Horan possessed at the time of the motor-vehicle stop constituted reasonable 

and articulable suspicion. 

Sergeant Horan testified that he "believe[ d] that the entirety of the initial 

dispatch" stated that there were "two suspects described as Black males, one 

with a handgun." Certainly, race and sex -- when taken together with other, 

discrete factors -- can support reasonable and articulable suspicion. But here, 

the initial description did not provide any additional physical descriptions such 

as the suspects' approximate heights, weights, ages, clothing worn, mode of 

transportation, or any other identifying feature that would differentiate the two 

. Black male suspects from any other Black men in New Jersey. That vague 

description, quite frankly, was "descriptive of nothing." See CaldweU, 158 

N.J. at 468 (Handler, J., concurring). If that description alone were sufficient 
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to allow police to conduct an investigatory stop of defendants' vehicle, then 

law enforcement officers would have been permitted to stop every Black man 

within a reasonable radius of the robbery. Such a generic description that 

encompasses each and every man belonging to a particular race cannot, 

without more, meet the constitutional threshold of individualized reasonable 

suspicion. 

And the radio dispatch indicated that the store was robbed by two Black 

men. Sergeant Horan testified that upon seeing three Black males in the 

vehicle, he inferred that the third was the getaway driver. While Sergeant 

Horan' s inference was reasonable, with the dearth of information available at 

the time regarding the suspects, it could easily be argued that police would 

have also been able to stop a single Black man in a car, or on foot, based on 

the assumption that the robbery suspects split up after the crime. The reality is 

that the ambiguous nature of the description could have resulted in Black men 

in any configuration and using any mode of transportation being stopped 

because the only descriptors of the suspects were race and sex. 

Even Sergeant Horan testified that the only information he could 

confirm based on the initial report was the race and sex of the vehicle's 

occupants during the following exchange with the prosecutor: 

29 
<l .. • 

l)q 53 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, May 29, 2024, A-002045-22



PROSECUTOR: And when you walked up, were you able 
to confirm any other part of the description in regard to the 
transmissions that you received from dispatch? 

SERGEANT HORAN: · Other than all three occupants being 
male, Black and the clothing, there was nothing else to 

confirm. 

Although Sergeant Horan mentioned the clothing, he testified that as he 

approached the vehicle after executing the stop, "[a]n officer at the scene 

relayed information that the suspects were wearing dark or black 

clothing or jackets." Information acquired after a stop cannot 

retroactively serve as the basis for the stop. For constitutional purposes, 

what matters is the information Horan possessed when he activated his 

overhead lights and pulled the car over. At that point, as discussed, he 

did not have a description of the clothing worn by the robbery suspects. 

He also did not know that the car had been reported stolen. All he knew 

was that the suspects were Black men. 

That brings us to the other factors that the State argues contribute to a 

finding of reasonable suspicion based on the totality of the circumstances. 

Sergeant Horan testified that when he shined the spotlight on defendants' car 

and illuminated the interior, the three men did not react at all. He recalled 

that, as he observed defendants for a second or two, "[a]ll three heads 

remained straight ahead, focused on their path. No squinting, ducking, 
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shielding their eyes, which is, in my experience, uncommon." The State 

argued that Sergeant Horan's use of his patrol car's spotlight and defendants' 

behavior in response is critical to our analysis. The State even conceded at 

oral argument that without defendants' non-reaction to the spotlight, it would 

be very difficult to argue that reasonable suspicion existed prior to the stop. 

As this Court and many other courts have recognized, nervous behavior 

or lack of eye contact with police cannot drive the reasonable suspicion 

analysis given the wide range of behavior exhibited by many different people 

for varying reasons while in the presence of police. See Rosario, 229 N.J, at 

277. In some cases, a defendant's alarmed reaction is asserted as justification 

for a stop, but in other cases, a defendant's non-reaction is argued to form the 

basis for reasonable suspicion. See, e.g., United States v. Escamilla, 560 F .2d 

1229, 1233 (5th Cir. 1977) (explaining that the defendants' decision not to 

"acknowledge the officers' presence" cannot play any role in reasonable 

suspicion, in part because it would conflict with the court's previous holding 

that repeated glances at officers were suspicious and "would put the officers in 

a classic 'heads I win, tails you lose' position"); cf. United States v. Sokolow, 

490 U.S. 1, 13 (1989) (Marshall, J., dissenting) (noting that law enforcement 

profiles of drug couriers have a "chameleon-like way of adapting to any 

particular set of observations" (quotation omitted)). In short, whatever 
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individuals nwy do -- whether they do nothing, something, or anything in 

between -- the behavior can be argued to be suspicious. 

Thus, as with race and sex, a suspect's conduct can be a factor, but when 

the conduct in question is an ambiguous indicator of involvement in criminal 

activity and subject to many different interpretations, that conduct cannot 

alone form the basis for reasonable suspicion. · 

Even considering the closeness of Sergeant Horan's encounter with 

defendants in terms of spatial and temporal proximity to the robbery does not 

add significantly to the analysis of whether the stop was lawful. Horan was 

approximately three-quarters of a mile from the 7-Eleven when he spotted 

defendants' vehicle traveling away from the store and executed the stop. The 

record is u11clear as to precisely when the robbery occurred. Sergeant Horan 

testified that he heard the radio dispatch regarding the robbery "just around 

midnight" or "a quarter after midnight" when dispatch indicated that the 

robbery "just happened." Horan then testified that he encountered defendants' 

vehicle approximately three minutes after receiving the dispatch. 

The State argues that the timing of the robbery is clear because dispatch 

used the term "just" in describing when the robbery occurred. Certainly, at 

some point after the robbery someone in the 7-Eleven called 9-1-1, but we do 

not know when that was in relation to ,>ihen the robbery occurred and when 
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dispatch alerted police. In this case, a matter of minutes makes a difference 

given the area in which the suspects could reasonably be expected to be after 

the commission of the robbery. Again, proximity in terms of time and place 

can certainly be factors in determining whether reasonable suspicion existed. 

On this record, however, where the 7-Eleven was located on a roadway close 

to a major interstate highway and the record is unclear as to when the robbery 

actually occurred, the asserted proximity in time and place is not sufficient to 

support the finding of reasonable suspicion. 

Finally, we note that the non-specific and non-individualized factors 

asserted here do not add up to a totality of circumstances analysis upon which 

reasonable suspicion can be found. "Zero plus zero will always equal zero. 

To conclude otherwise is to lend significance to 'circumstances [which] 

describe a very large category of presumably innocent travelers' and subject 

them to 'virtually random seizures."' State v. Morgan, 539 N.W.2d 887,897 

(Wis. 1995) (Abrahamson, J., dissenting) (alteration in original) (quoting Reid 

v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438,441 (1980)). 

In this case, Sergeant Horan, with his· years of experience, had a hunch. 

That, however, is not the standard. The information Horan possessed did not 

amount to objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion, so the motion to 

suppress should have been granted. 
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VI. 

\\ 
For the foregoing reasons, the decision in Stafe, v. Nyema is affirmed. 

The decision in State v. My«s is ,everned, Myern's c~tfon is mated, and 

the matter is remanded to the trial court for further proceed,ings consistent with 

this opinion. 

. J . 
CHIEF JUSTICE RABNER and JUSTICES ALBIN, PATTERSON; 

FERNANDEZ-VINA, and SOLOMON join in JUSTICE PIERRE-LOUIS's 

. opinion. 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 
LAWDMSION MERCER COUNTY • ' 

CRIMINAL 

STATE OFNEW JERSE'(. 

VS, 
Pros. File No. 11'1409-01 , 

Jamar Myers 
M01;ION FOR 0DISMISSAL 

OF INDit!TMENT 

DEFENDANT 

The Mercer County Prosecutor respectfully moves for the dismissal offudictment 

Number 11-08-0833-1 charging the de:fo,1dant, in the above .captioned case with 

1. Robbery (first degree), N.J.S.A. 2C:15-1; 2C:2-6 . 
2. Theft by Unlawful Taking (third degree), N.J.S.A. 2C:20-3a 

• 3. Aggravated Assault (fourth degree), N.J.S.A. 2C:12-1b(1); 2C:2-6 . 
4. Terroristic Threats (third degree), N.J.S.A. 2C:12-3a; 2C:2-6 • 
5. Possession of a Firearm for an Unlawful Purpose (second degree), N.J.S.A. 2C:39-4a; 2C:2-6 
6. Unlawful Possession of a Handgun (second-degree), M.J.S.A. 2C:39-5b; 2C:2a.6 • 
7. Possess!On of a Defaced Flrearm (fourth degree}, N.J.S.A. 2C:39-4d; 2C:2-6 
8. Theft by Receiving Stolen Property (third degree), N.J.S.A. 2C:20-7a; 2C:2-6 

. 10. Unlawful Taking of a Means of Conveyance (fourth degree), N.J.S.A. t;:C:20-10d; 2C:2-6 

Upon the following grounds: 

There is iflsufiicient e\~d_ence upon which to Predicate successful prosecution. 

/1,/ Angelo. J. Onofri . 

IT IS SO ORDERED on this 25TH day of February, 2022 _ 

A.J.S . .C. 
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STATE OF NEW JERSEY 

v. 

JAMAR MYERS, 

Defendant. 

BEFORE: 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 
LAW DIVISION, CRIMINAL PART 
MERCER COUNTY, NEW JERSEY 
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Public Defender, Jessica Lyons. 
What Mr. Myers seeks to do is withdraw a 

guilty plea that he entered before the Honorable Robert 
Billmeier on or about November 29 of 2016. And on that 
date Mr. Myers appeared with counsel before Judge 
Billmeier and generally speaking, he entered a guilty 
plea as follows. He pled guilty to Count 3 of 
Indictment Number -- what was that? 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: That was my cell. 
Sorry. 

THE COURT: Okay, no more of that. 
He pled guilty to Count 3 of Indictment 

Number 14-02-232 which charged him with first degree 
felony murder. He also pled guilty to Count 1 of 
Indictment Number 11-08-833, which charged him with 
armed robbery in the first degree. There were also 
guilty pleas to violations of probation on Indictment 
Numbers 08-03-231, 09-04-439 and 10-01-0100. 

And subsequent to the guilty plea being 
accepted by the Court, the defendant was sentenced 
consistent with the plea agreement and there was later 
an appeal of the conviction in the armed robbery case 
that resulted in a Supreme Court decision, 249 N.J. 
509, State v. Nyema and Myers. And the matter is now 
before the Court for a motion to withdraw the guilty 

plea that was entered before Judge Billmeier in 
November of 2016, is that a nutshell version of where 
we stand today? 

MS. LYONS: Yes. 
THE COURT: Okay. And so the record is 

clear, the pleadings in this matter were submitted by 
the defendant in a self-represented capacity. Mr. 

5 

Myers submitted his own paperwork in connection with 
this. And the defense through Ms. Lyons has chosen not 
to submit anything in writing herself and the State has 
made a similar choice. The Court agreed that it would 
entertain oral argument in this matter even though it 
was a motion filed by a self-represented defendant but 
Ms. Lyons is going to handle the argument for him. 

And, Ms. Lyons, if you're ready, I'll hear 
your position now. 

MS. LYONS: Thank you, Judge. And, Judge, 
just to go a little bit deeper into the procedural 
history 

THE COURT: Of course. 
MS. LYONS: -- yes, 14-02-232 is what I'd 

refer to as the murder/felony murder/robbery 
superseding indictment. The Indictment 11-08-833 is 
what I'll refer to as the robbery case. There was the 
motion to suppress in that 11-08-8'33 robbery case, 
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Hesketh, 
THE COURT: 

but the way 
MS. LYONS: 
THE COURT: 

know, deliberate. 

Right. 
you said 

Yes. 
-- and I 

Right, okay. It was Mr. 
things 

know it wasn't, you 

MS. LYONS: No. And to be quite clear, none 
of us, meaning myself, Your Honor or Ms. Cook were the 
parties involved back then. 

THE COURT: Right. 
MS. LYONS: But I know that we are all 

experienced and can relate to things of similar nature 
happening in other cases that we've either overseen or 
handled ourselves. But the plea transcript is very 
clear that, you know, the colloquy went on in the 
morning that basically, this is your last chance to 
plea. So this was not· an otherwise, you know, set up 

8 

as a final disposition conference, set up as a possible 
plea negotiation, set up as a way where, you know, Mr. 
Myers was walking in thinking he was going to have more 
time to speak to the attorney or go through anything 
else. 

And there's a long colloquy that goes on 
about discovery, about this, about that, about videos, 
about the 404(b) but needless to say, after the 
morning, you know, ends and that colloquy goes, an 

opportunity is brought to Mr. Myers to have another 
conversation with Mr. Hesketh and Mr. Hesketh asks at 
that time to have a conversation. 

Obviously, I'm not going to, you know, 
suggest what I think happened during that time but 
after however long those conversations took place, it 
was the afternoon when parties came back onto the 
record after this recess and that is when plea papers 
came forward. So obviously there were discussions off 
the record, there were discussions between Mr. Myers 

9 

and Mr. Hesketh and, you know, that ended up being in 
what was the result of plea forms and even with respect 
to the plea forms that were submitted. 

Obviously, this was and I'm sure at the time 
an interest to wrap everything up, right, which, again, 
is not out of the ordinary. So, we have both cases and 
a variety of violations of probation that were all 
being rolled in together and the plea form is signed on 
the same date. The plea is taken on all the cases 
including the violations and there is the preservation 
of the right to appeal the 404(b) decision ,as well as 
the motion to suppress and that is explicit in the plea 
forms. 

And then the plea is also concurrent not only 
to the sentences amongst everything that's on here so 

• 
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And if properly suppressed at the trial level, would 
there have been a different outcome? Would there have 
been a different offer, you know, because of these 
404(b) implications as it relates to the homicide case? 

Coupled with that is also a realistic fear 
that I will say had to do with threats that Mr. Myers 
was feeling, was receiving and what he thought he 
wanted to do because he thought he had no other choice 
but to protect his family. He received letters both 
during and since making an assertion of innocence post 
conviction and at the time he pled because he was under 
the threat and duress of his co-defendant being told 
that if you don't take the weight for this, if you 
don't, you know, say this, then I'm going to come after 
you and your family. 

You know, and at first maybe there were 
certain anonymous threats that came through but it 
became very clear who was driving these threats to Mr. 
Myers and his family. You know, we know where your 
family lives and that, you know, if he wasn't going to 
take the charges, that his family would be killed. 

Then the timing of this, I think, shows how 
viable those threats were and how that impinged on Mr. 
Myers' thought process at the time of plea because 
post-conviction, you know, during the appeal process 

when the robbery charge gets vacated and the State 
dismisses and Mr. Myers, you know, is still serving 
time on the homicide is when Mr. Myers starts saying 
well, wait a minute, I'm innocent. This is what was 
happening and finally spoke up and broke that code of 
silence. 

13 

And then shortly thereafter within like a 
month later his mother and brother who are present here 
in court are then subject as victims to a horrific home 
invasion and shooting which clearly, I mean thankfully 
allowed their lives to be not taken, it's only by the 
graces of God that they are both here today to be able 
to sit here in this court and support Jamar but are 
severely injured, his brother especially based on 
charges that Pete Nyema, his co-defendant, is currently 
charged with and is sitting being detained on in this 
very county. 

So, the fact that even though Mr. Myers still 
sits serving the 30-year sentence on the homicide, even 
though there's no real reason for Mr. Nyema to think 
that Mr. Myers at this point in time is going to have 
his conviction vacated, is going to get out of jail, is 
going to stop serving the 30-year sentence, his co­
defendant acts on that threat to make sure that Mr. 
Myers knows you better stay the course and you better 
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some reasons already with respect to how that went 
about and why. He has made it in his own prose papers 
and so I think that that is definitely something that 
is for the Court to consider. 

And then in terms of -- I would also say with 
respect to being misinformed or having a different 
understanding of what a material element is of plea 
negotiation, you know, it was his reliance on 
conversations that he had with his attorney. In 
addition to Slater I would ask the Court to rely on 
State v. Kovack, K-o-v-a-c-k, 91 N.J. 476. And also in 
terms of just plea bargaining in general that obviously 
our intended purpose is that, you know, it be fairly 
construed on both sides and that the results must not 
disappoint the reasonable expectations of either, and 
that's State v. Thomas. And that is what Mr. Myers' 
understanding was of the plea. 

And for all those reasons, you know, again, 
like I said, Judge, not that one is more important than 
the other, Mr. Myers continues to be in a very 
difficult spot. I think one of any of the reasons is 
enough in and of itself to take back his plea but when 
you're taking all three totally in the totality of the 
circumstances, the posture of the threat and duress 
from the co-defendant and especially conversations that 

he had with counsel and what his understanding of the 
plea, it is quite clear that he did not fully 
understand the terms and for a variety of reasons he 
should be allowed -- the prose motion should be 
granted and his plea should be vacated. 

THE COURT: Okay, thank you very much, Ms. 

Lyons. 
Ms. Cook, please. 

17 

MS. COOK: Thank you, Your Honor. The 
defense certainly raises some serious concerns 
regarding retaliations and threats that may have been 
made to Mr. Myers after he entered this guilty plea as 
well as after sentencing in this case and the State 
certainly is concerned about the crimes that were 
committed against his family and we are actively 
involved in investigating that case to try and figure 

out what happened. 
That being said, Your Honor, what is before 

the Court today is the defendant's motion to withdraw 
his guilty plea and while there are a number of factors 
subjectively that entered into his mind when he was 
weighing whether or not to go to trial including the 
possibility that he could be found guilty of murder in 
the first degree. He could be found guilty on another 
file for robbery, he could be found guilty in 
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much larger than the 30 with a 30 that he received in 
this case. And as discussed, he also ended up being 
able to roll up Pennsylvania charges also for a robbery 
that he faced significant exposure for. 

Additionally, Judge, the other factor for the 
Court to consider is whether the withdrawal in this 
case would be of unfair prejudice to the State or be an 
unfair advantage to the accused and this case, the 
murder case is one of the most serious cases that a 
Court can have. There's a person who died and that 
case, a significant amount of time has passed that 
would make it an unfair prejudice to the State to now 
have to retry that case and begin that process all over 
for that victim and that family. 

So, lastly, Judge, if the Court, just to wrap 
it up, if the Court were to look at the objective 
factors as outlined in Slater, the motion for 
withdrawal of the guilty plea in the defendant's case, 
it just can't be sustained. Now, he may have some 
factors that other motions would be appropriate for but 
for a withdrawal of his guilty plea, it's just 
insufficient, Judge. So, that's the State's position. 

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Cook. 
Do you need 
MS. LYONS: Judge, can I just briefly? 

21 

THE COURT: Of course. Of course. Of cours.e 
you can. 

MS. LYONS: The only thing I want to make 
clear is as it relates to the Slater factors, you know, 
for reasons I've already stated, Mr. Myers has, in my 
opinion, made the colorable claim of innocence. 

As to the nature and the strength of the 
reasons and the fair and just reasons and those other 
Slater prongs, that is what I am arguing when I rely 
heavily on his -- yes, I understand the State's 
subjective reasoning qualification of Mr. Myers. But 
the nature and the strength of his reasonings for 
withdrawal is everything that I said as it relates to 
those elements of fear, duress and convers'ations that 
he had with his prior counsel. 

And, again, you know, I won't go through the 
lack of knowledge and what I would view as a not 
knowingly and voluntarily given plea but quite 
honestly, yes, that is what we have is his subjective 
reasoning but that is what is in his mind at the time 
that he pled. That has to count for something because 
that is his thought process as to what he was doing 
when he did weigh as the State correctly points out 
weighing his options. 

And, again, it is not a ·coincidence that this 
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upon my family and the fact that I stated that my 
family was threatened and I received that threat while 
I was charged with this crime is one of my plausible 
reasons of colorable innocence. 

Not only that, but the fact that evidence 
that was from the robbery case, that had no bearing on 
my guilt or innocence in the homicide case. The 
clothing that was allowed in from the robbery that was 
later suppressed by the Supreme Court because it was 
illegally, unconstitutionally obtained by the State and 
it was allowed under 404(b) into my homicide trial 
which would have left me without the ability of having 
a fair trial under my Sixth Amendment right. So that's 
why I state pertain to the colorable claim. 

Now, to the nature and the strength of that 
claim, I also believe those fall under the nature and 
strength of my claim and my reasons of why I pled 
guilty and why I feel I have grounds under State v. 
Slater. Not only that, when the State says under the 
fourth prong of if it would hamper the State's case, 
reading from what I actually wrote, the passage of time 
has not and cannot hamper the State's ability to 
present important evidence. 

The defendant -- I sat in Mercer County 
Corrections for seven years awaiting trial which gave 

the State seven years to obtain any and all possible 
evidence it could find. 

25 

Furthermore, within those seven years the 
State had not found any credible evidence, they found 
the physical evidence. The only thing the State has is 
four individuals who claim I confessed -- two 
individuals within the jailhouse who claim I confessed 
to them, and two other individuals, one Jerome Comb 
(phonetic) who came out three years later after the 
crime was committed once he caught a drug and weapons 
possession case and claimed I confessed to him although 
some of his facts that he claimed was contradicted to 
the evidence of the actual case when he claimed that I 
confessed to him that I robbed the pharmacy for pills. 
And it was a known fact that the employees and victims 
of the pharmacy said the suspect got away with nothing. 

Now, the State's star witness, Aigin Drove 
(phonetic), has made four (indiscernible) statements. 
The only thing the State did have was the four 
witnesses. At any given time they could subpoena those 
witnesses and get them to court so there's nothing that 
hampers the State from obtaining any evidence 13 years 
later from when the time the crime happened because 
there's only four witnesses who claim I confessed to 
them and one who claimed I played a part of the crime 
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would commonly know it he appeared before Judge 
Billmeier. The record will reflect that the Court has 
received what's a 30-page transcript in this matter. 
Pages 1 through 12 of the plea transcript which is 
fully a part of this record reflect what occurred with 
Judge Billmeier, Mr. Myers and counsel on the morning 
of November 29, 2016. The two assistant prosecutors 
were there, the attorney for Mr. Myers who was Edward 
Hesketh, a very experienced criminal defense lawyer, 
was there with Mr. Myers. 

Judge Billmeier began by indicating to Mr. 
Myers that he had been in jail since around May of 
2011, more than five-and-a-half_years at the time. The 
judge indicated that he had cleared his calendar for 
December and that it was essentially trying for the 
trial to start. Judge Billmeier ·noted that there were 
some motions that were going to be addressed prior to 
jury selection but he also indicated that any 
opportunity to resolve the case by way of guilty plea 
was going to go away once the.y started the proceedings. 

And Mr. Hesketh was joined by his co-counsel, 
Mr. Garzia. Judge Billmeier recognized that counsel 
had been working very hard to try to resolve the case 
and the Court indicated that they were going to move 
forward with the trial and the judge assured Mr. Myers 

29 

that the jury would make the ultimate determination and 
assured him as well that he was going to get a fair 
trial. 

The Court went over what the defendant's 
exposure was in the various cases that he had and 
talked to him a little bit about what his exposure was. 
There appears to be agreement that Mr. Myers would 
qualify as a persistent offender and the State 
indicated its intention to move for an extended term if 
he got convicted. 

Judge Billmeier asked the State to place the 
final plea offer on the record and the State did place 
the final plea offer on the record and the State 
indicated its intention to seek consecutive sentences 
should there be convictions at trial. 

Mr. Hesketh also spoke and he spoke about his 
ability to review the defendant's discovery with him 
and he also talked to him about other things including 
video-related transcript. The Court referenced some of 
these issues and asked the prosecutor to be specific 
about what it is that the State intended to use 
concerning some of this video evidence. And the judge 
also referenced that videos were shown during the 
course of the pretrial hearing. 

The defendant had the ability to review those 
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received or the transcript I received reflects that the 
first 12 pages occurred -- show what happened during 
the time period when the Court was contemplating 
calling up the jury to get ready. The defendant and 
counsel requested some time to talk. They were given 

that time. 
I think what I was saying when the phone went 

off a moment ago was defense counsel has pointed out 
that the Court and counsel were fairly experienced.with 
these and what happened there is hardly uncommon. It's 
very common for cases to resolve at the last minute, 
sometimes with the jury is sitting downstairs, 
sometimes with a jury ready to come in in a day or so. 
But the last-minute resolution that all parties agree 
is fair and in the interest of justice is not an 
uncommon thing. 

Defense counsel requested and received the 
opportunity to meet privately with his client and they 
came back in the afternoon. And I know it's the 
afternoon because the transcript reflects the Court 
saying good afternoon to everybody. And by that point 
the plea papers had been completed and the Court was 
prepared to accept the plea. 

And I'd like to take a moment and go through 
the plea papers. Again, they're part of the record 

33 

here. But it is important for me to discuss in general 
terms what the plea papers show. 

The plea papers show, as I said earlier, that 
the defendant would be pleading guilty to Count 3 of 
one indictment which charged him with felony murder, he 
would be pleading guilty to Count 1 of a second 
indictment which charged him with first degree armed 
robbery. There's an acknowledgment here completed into 
the form that he was looking at life as the maximum 
sentence on the murder charge and 20 years as a maximum 
sentence on the armed robbery charge. Without 
specificity it notes also that Mr. Myers was going to 
plead guilty to three violations of probation. 

The plea form and its standard answers 
contains the defendant's acknowledgment that he was 
pleading guilty because he committed the offenses, he 
understood that he had to give a factual basis, he 
understood what the charges meant and he understood 
that he was giving up the right to a jury trial during 
which the State had to prove his guilt beyond a 
reasonable doubt, the right to remain silent and the 
right to confront witnesses against you. 

Now, Question 4(d) contains a question that 
relates to whether the defendant is or is not waiving 
any right to appeal and the defendant expressly 
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Court's role in accepting the plea, understood that the 
Court was not bound by the State's recommendation and 
the Court had the. right to reject the plea. 

Mr. Myers signed the form. He initialed it 
on each page. He also completed the supplemental plea 
form for No Early Release Act cases as regards both the 
felony murder charge and the robbery charge. So it's 
important for the Court to note the plea agreement and 
what the plea agreement says. 

The Court has also had the opportunity to 
review the plea itself which is contained on Page 13 
through Page 30 of the transcript which has been 
submitted to the Court by Mr. Myers, I believe. And, 
again, I know that this is part of the record but it's 
important for the Court to note it. 

Mr. Myers after being sworn noted that he 
didn't have any difficulty hearing, seeing or reading 
English, that he was 31 years old at the time, that he 
had graduated from high school and had some college 
education as well, that he was not under the influence, 
that nothing was affecting his ability to think clearly 
or understanding what was happening. 

The judge explained how he was going to 
proceed in taking the plea and admonished the defendant 
that he was not trying to lead him into saying anything 

that wasn't true or that anything that anybody else 
wanted him to say and he understood that. And Judge 
Billmeier also said if you feel you're being forced 
into an answer or being forced to say something which 
is not true by the way I or any attorney asks you a 
question, let me know before you respond. Do you 
understand that? And the defendant answered yes. 

He asked the prosecutor to place the 
agreement on the record. The prosecutor did that'. 

37 

There were a number of things placed on the record most 
of which is what I referenced in Paragraph 13 and 21 as 
to what the sentence recommendation was and what 
happened if they couldn't resolve the Pennsylvania 
matter. 

The Court then asked defense counsel to 
confirm that the plea agreement was specifically what 
had been negotiated and at Page 16 of the transcript 
Mr. Hesketh acknowledged that it was the agreement that 
had been negotiated and he highlighted for the Court 
that Mr. Myers was reserving his right to appeal the 
404(b) decision in the homicide case and the motion to 
suppress physical evidence in what he characterized as 
the Hamilton armed robbery case. But he said that 
other than that, that's what the deal was. And the 
Court acknowledged that Mr. Myers had the opportunity 
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that was the proceeding in terms of broad summary. But 
as I indicate, both the plea form and the plea colloquy 
transcript are preserved as a part of this record. 

Judge Billmeier ultimately did sentence Mr. 
Myers consistent with the plea agreement here. I think 
it was on or about July 7 of 2017. Again, in broad 
summary form, he got a 30-year sentence with a 30-year 
stipulation on the murder charge, he got a 12-year 
sentence subject to the No Early Release Act on the 
robbery charge. These sentences were concurrent to one 
another. The mandatory parole supervision was ordered. 
All mandatory fines and penalties were ordered. 

The defendant appealed the robbery case and 
there was a very interesting procedural history as 
regards the co-defendant in the appeal of the robbery 
case. I don't need to go into that now other than to 
say that the Supreme Court reversed the conviction in a 
lengthy opinion. The opinion is found at 249 N.J. 509 
and that conviction was reversed by the Supreme Court 
in January of 2022. 

,.> As best I can tell, and I ask Ms. Lyons to 
correct me if I'm wrong on this, there was no direct 
appeal of the murder case. There was, however, a post­
conviction relief application that was filed in that 
matter and it was denied by Judge Pereksta. I have the 

41 

order here. I just seem to have misplaced that in with 
all of my other paperwork. Give me just a minute. It 
was denied by Judge Pereksta or, I'm sorry, dismissed 
by Judge Pereksta on February 7 of 2022. And that 
matter involved Mr. Myers being represented by counsel, 
Michael Pastacaldi, P-a-s-t-a-c-a-1-d-i. 

And that is what brings us to this matter 
today. It is an application filed by the defendant in 
his self-represented capacity to get his guilty plea 
back on the murder charge. It's an application to 
vacate the entirety of the guilty plea charge. 

Ms. Lyons articulates a number of broad 
concerns here that she says warrant this. First, 
there's an assertion that the defendant feared not 
being able to have a fair trial, that he believed he 
couldn't prove his innocence in the face of the 
evidence that was being admitted and underlying motions 
not being resolved in his favor. There is also an 
assertion that he had a realistic fear which had to do 
with threats that he was receiving, letters received by 
him during the time period when he was asserting his 
innocence, threats from a co-defendant to get him and 
his family, threats that his family would be killed. 

And in support of these reasons, it is 
asserted that the defendant's mother and brother 
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representations during a plea proceeding and the trial 
court's findings during the plea proceeding generally 
speaking create a formidable barrier that a defendant 
must overcome in any subsequent proceeding. It can't 
be something that is a whimsical change of mind. 
That's not an adequate basis to set aside the plea. 
And this Court notes that it goes without saying at 
this point that I was not the judge who took the plea 
and I had no ability to make observations regarding his 
demeanor and candor at the time of the plea proceeding 
but Judge Billmeier did and he did everything in an 
appropriate way. 

The burden is on the defendant to present the 
plausible basis for his request. And Slater delineates 
four separate factors. Number 1 is the factor that the 
defendant has asserted a colorable claim of innocence. 
There, it must not be just a bare assertion of 
innocence. That's insufficient to justify withdrawal 
of a plea. The defendant must present specific 
credible facts and where possible, point the facts in 
the record that buttresses his claim. 

When evaluating a defendant's claim of 
innocence, Courts may look to evidence that was 
available to the prosecutor and to the defendant 
through the discovery practices at the time that the 

45 

defendant created or entered into his plea. It's not 
the Court's obligation to conduct a mini trial though. 
The Court needs to look at the defendant's assertion of 
innocence and see whether it is more than a blanket 
bald statement that rests instead on particular 
plausible facts. 
~ Defendant says some interesting things here. 

He asserts that he was afraid of not being able to have 
a fair trial. He asserts that he couldn't prove his 
innocence. He asserts that motions had not been 
resolved in his favor which caused him to look at his 
chances of success before a jury a certain way. And he 
also was influenced by external factors that related to 
letters that were received during the time period when 
he maintained his innocence and threat from the co­
defendant to get him and his family. He articulates a 
concern that his family would be killed. 

I'---=. These arguments are largely advanced to the 
Court in oral argument. They're rtot part of the 
defendant's prose pleadings. In fact, those pleadings 
are very sparse in terms of the information that's 
there. He speaks in argument today through counsel, 
letters that he's received and things that have 
happened to his family. The Court doesn't have any of 
that information here. There's nothing for the Court 
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It's important to note that during the plea 
agreement he specifically delineated his obligation or 
his right to appeal the 404(b) motion, to appeal the 
motion to suppress. He did not ever appeal, it seems, 
the underlying homicide case and waited until the 
Supreme Court acted to raise this specific concern. 
~ So, the Court notes that clearly the parties 

contemplated retaining a lot of rights in terms of 
appeals, in terms of dealing with what was going on in 
Pennsylvania but there was never any discussion or 
preservation of any rights to do anything regarding the 
homicide conviction if the robbery conviction 
ultimately got reversed. And clearly to appeal the 
motion to suppress is to retain the right to 
collaterally attack the robbery conviction and there 
was never any effort to retain any right to undo the 
murder conviction if the robbery conviction was somehow 
reversed. So I don't think that the nature and 
strength of the defendant's reasons for withdrawal are 
persuasive. 

The things that the defendant says about not 
being able to get a fair trial, that's a subjective 
belief that was not articulated to Judge Billmeier. If 
that was a fear or concern that he had, he didn't share 
it. In fact, at the beginning of the day on November 

49 

29, 2016 Judge Billmeier went out of his way to assure 
the defendant that he would be given a fair trial. 

The issue of the threats that the defendant 
asserts he has received, that is something which is 
simply asserted at this point. It's not proven in any 
reliable way. There's no separate certification. 
There's no additional proof of any threats. Now, maybe 
that proof doesn't exist, maybe it is only verbal, 
maybe there is nothing in writing. I don't know any of 
that, but none of that was brought to the Court and the 
Court cannot look at it as something that is made so 
simply by somebody saying that it is so. And Ms. Lyons 
argues in detail what the defendant's views were and 
what his perceptions are but those don't prove what 
needs to be proven under these factors as far as I'm 
concerned. 

The trial court Judge Billmeier accepted a 
plea in this agreement and the existence of a plea 
bargain is a factor which the Court is required to 
consider under Slater. The judge made the finding that 
the plea was entered into in a knowing, intelligent and 
voluntary way, there was an adequate factual basis for 
the guilty plea. There was no evidence that the 
defendant had been forced, threatened or coerced and we 
all know Judge Billmeier never would have accepted the 
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Myers cannot pursue certain additional remedies. 
He certainly has ever right to appeal this 

decision of mine and I encourage him to do so if he 
disagrees with it. He has other rights relating to 
pursuing a post-conviction relief application if he 
wants to. He has every right to do those things and he 
should do what is right for him. But the motion that 
is before the Court today is denied for the reasons I 
have asserted on the record. And I will get an order 
into the portal today. 

MS. LYONS: Thank you. 
THE COURT: Thank you, everybody. 
MS. COOK: Thank you, Judge. 

* * * * * 

C E R T I F I C A T I O N 
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I, MARY POLITO, the assigned transcriber, do 
hereby certify the foregoing transcript of proceedings 
on CD, playback number 2:32 to 3:49, is prepared in 
full compliance with the current Transcript Format for 
Judicial Proceedings and is a true and accurate 
compressed transcript of the proceedings as recorded, 
and to the best of my ability. 

/s/ Marv Polito 
MARY POLITO AOC #573 
J&J COURT TRANSCRIBERS, INC. DATE: April 13, 2023 
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1 JUDGE ROSE: Just a minute to set up. While 

2 we're doing that I'll introduce myself. I'm Judge 

3 Rose, and to my right is Judge Smith. We're hearing 

4 the excessive sentencing calendar today. Rest assured, 

5 we're familiar with the files so please highlight for 

2 

6 us what you wish to argue. We're still going to need a 

7 few more minutes. Just give me a moment. 

8 Okay. I can see we're having technical 

9 difficulties all around today. There we go. So, when 

10 we're ready to put court on, yes, we're all set? 

11 Okay . 

12 All right. So, the first matter is State v. 

13 Jamar Myers. A-2045-22. May I have the appearance of 

14 counsel. 

15 MS. GIFFORD: Alison Gifford, Assistant 

16 Deputy Public Defender for Mr. Myers. 

JUDGE ROSE: Good morning. 17 

18 MS. REIN: Erin Rein, Assistant Prosecutor on 

19 behalf of the State. 

20 JUDGE SMITH: Good morning to you. All 

21 right. Ms. Gifford, we'll hear from you first. 

22 MS. GIFFORD: Good morning, Your Honors, and 

23 may it please the court. 

24 Jamar Myers was denied his right to withdraw 

25 from a plea agreement pursuant to Rule 3:9-9 also known 
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1 as the conditional plea rule, which permits withdrawal 

2 when a defendant successfully appeals from a pretrial 

3 

3 ruling. That rule states, if the defendant prevails on 

4 appeal, the defendant shall be afforded the right to 

5 withdraw his or her plea. 

6 In 2016, Mr. Myers entered into a global plea 

7 agreement in which he agreed to plead guilty to a 

8 felony murder charge in one indictment and an armed 

9 robbery charge in another indictment. In exchange, the 

10 State agreed to recommend 30 with 30 on ·che felony 

11 murder, concurrent to·a 12 NERA sentence on the armed 

12 robbery. 

13 Mr. Myers' plea was conditioned on his right 

14 to appeal the denial of a 404(b) motion from the felony 

15 murder case and a suppression motion from the armed 

16 robbery case. 

17 In 2022, the New Jersey Supreme Court 

18 reversed the denial of Mr. Myers' suppression motion, 

19 finding the police lacked reasonable suspicion to stop 

20 a car he was a passenger in and all evidence found as a 

21 result to the stop was, therefore, suppr-essed. That 

22 was State v. Nyema. 

23 The armed robbery indictment was subsequently 

24 dismissed and Mr. Myers moved to withdraw from his 

25 global plea agreement. 

WWW.JJCOURT.COM 
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1 The court below erroneously denied Mr. Myers' 

2 motion, concluding that the did not meet the 

3 requirements for withdrawal under State v, Slater. 

4 JUDGE ROSE: Right, Where's the support for 

5 factor one? 

6 MS. GIFFORD: Slater doesn't apply here 

7 because when a defendant successfully appeals from a 

8 pretrial motion, that plea withdrawal is governed by 

9 Rule 3-9-3(f) the conditional plea rule, not by State 

10 v, Slater, 

11 JUDGE ROSE: Right. So, the reversal was as 

12 to the armed robbery indictment not as to felony 

13 murder. Didn't he get the least on the felony -- he 

14 pled to 30 with 30 didn't he? 

15 MS. GIFFORD: Right, but this is all part of 

16 a global plea agreement, and so, this --

17 JUDGE ROSE: But what can he get better than 

18 a 30 with 30? 

19 MS. GIFFORD: He gets to go back to the 

20 drawing board because when a defendant successfully 

21 appeals from a pretrial ruling, the bargaining 

22 positions of the parties are significantly different 

23 and that's the rationale behind the conditional plea 

24 rule and as this court held in State v. Dillaretto, 

25 that rule applies where as here the defendant 
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1 simultaneously pleads to multiple indictments. And 

2 that's because the rationale behind the conditional 

3 plea rule is rooting in like the basic principles of 

4 contract law that governs plea agreements. 

5 So, here, for example, the negotiating 

6 positions of the parties was significantly changed 

7 

8 

after that armed robbery case is completely off the 

table. 

JUDGE ROSE: Right, So, what you're saying, 

he wouldn't have led to felony murder, he would have 

11 pled to something less than felony murder, because 

12 there's two different, from what I understand, there's 

13 two different indictments plus there were two other 

14 indictments that were dismissed. 

MS. GIFFORD: Yes. 

5 

15 

16 JUDGE ROSE: And two VOPS's. So, there was a 

17 huge package. I know that armed robbery is out, but 

18 where are we going from 30 with 30? Where does it go 

19·' from there? He's going to have to plead to something 

20 other than felony murder. 

21 MS. GIFFORD: Well, in this case, with the 

22 armed robbery indictment off the table, that actually 

23 could impact his felony murder, the felony murder case 

24 against him because the 404(b) evidence that was going 

25 to come in, in the felony murder case, was tied to that 
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1 armed robbery case that's now dismissed. 

2 So, the strength of the State's case against 

3 him, in that felony murder charge, is actually 

4 significantly different now that that armed robbery 

5 indictment is off the table. 

6 And, so, here, the plea transcript actually 

7 shows that he was ready to go to trial but the State 

8 was saying, well, we're going to, if you go to trial 

9 we're going to give you consecutive sentences on all 

6 

10 these charges. We're going to seek an extended term on 

11 the armed robbery charge. We' re going to put 

12 everything consecutive. The judge said I'm going to 

13 run everything consecutive so, Mr. Myers agreed to 

14 plead guilty because of all of this exposure against 

15 him. 

16 Now, we have ·one indictment off the table, we 

17 have the evidence in the armed robbery case 

18 significantly lessened and so, his decision to plead 

.--19 guilty, he now has the leverage, the bargaining 

J20 positions of the parties is significantly different and 

21 Mr. Myers, under the conditional plea rule, has a right 

22 to reconsider whether he wants to enter into that plea 

23 agreement. 

24 JUDGE ROSE: So, he's looking for a 

25 negotiation not necessarily for trial. He's looking 

·--- - ··-···-••-.---•-··~~_/ 
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1 for a renegotiation for trial. 

2 MS. GIFFORD: Yes, and, ultimately, it's Mr. 

3 Myers decision whether he wants to go to trial on the 

4 felony murder charge. He may very well want to do that 

5 now that the evidence against him is different, due to 

6 the dismissal of the armed robbery case. 

7 JUDGE ROSE: Okay. 

8 MS. GIFFORD: So, I think that's most of what 

9 I wanted to touch upon. Basically, the conditional 

10 plea rule here recognizes that it would be unfair to 

11 bind Mr. Myers to a plea agreement after such a drastic 

12 change in circumstances and so his decision to plead 

13 guilty or go to trial, it's now up to him to decide how 

14 he wants to move forward given that the circumstances 

15 are significantly different. 

16 So, Mr. Myers just respectfully requests that 

17 this Court reverse the decision below so he can 

18 exercise his right to withdraw from his plea agreement. 
\ 

19 Thank you. 

20 JUDGE ROSE: Thank you. Let me hear from the 

21 prosecutor. Oh, I'm sorry, Judge Smith, did you have 

22 any questions? 

23 

24 

25 

JUDGE SMITH: No, Judge. 

JUDGE ROSE: Jump in because I -­

JUDGE SMITH: I think this was very 
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1 sufficient. Thank you. 

2 

3 

JUDGE ROSE: Very well. Thank you. 

MS. REIN: Good morning, Your Honors, may it 

4 please the Court. 

5 I do think counsel hit the nail on the head 

6 when she said, plea negotiations are similar to 

7 contract negotiations and one thing that the State 

8 would like to highlight is that the defendant, the 

9 appellant in this case, got the benefit of his bargain, 

10 Counsel stated the facts very well when she stated 

11 there were multiple different indictments, there were 

12 different cases, even ..-9..0 ... fax .. e,~ this defendant had a 
••• -"~ -~-••--~-_,,--.,r,,-,~,~•••--""'-- "••-~-........ ---.____,-

.-..,..-/ 13 pending case in Bucks County that was intertwined with - .. ,............ • -~-~ ----·--·~~---· •;,--.-,~~---··· ----
14 his plea to run concurrent. 

15 The defendant did get the benefit of the 

16 bargain when he made that plea deal, he got the 

17 minimum, 30/30. There's nothing manifestly unjust 

18 about his sentence. 

~ 19 Additionally, although counsel argues that 

8 

20 bargaining positions have changed, the law hasn't. If 
~ ---,. 

21 the defendant pled guilty to first degree murder, 
• ······-··----· ---------------------

22 again, he would still have to be sentenced to the 

~ 
23 mandatory minimum 30/30. As such, we think that the 

24 only party that would be prejudiced here is the State. 

25 The reality is, it's been 13, almost 13 
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1 years, since this incident has happened. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

JUDGE ROSE: Do you have your witnesses? 

MS. REIN: I'm sorry, Your Honor. 

JUDGE ROSE: Do you have your witnesses? 

MS. REIN: The State does still have their 

6 witnesses, however, it's still been 13 years. Memories 

7 fade. 

8 JUDGE ROSE: Well, how do we know that? 

9 Anybody interview them? 

10 

11 

MS. REIN: I do not know, Your Honor. 

JUDGE ROSE: I didn't think you did, I'm 

12 rhetorical. 

13 MS. REIN: It's okay. And as such, we would 

14 argue that it would be unfair prejudice to the State to 

15 allow this defendant to withdraw his plea. 

16 JUDGE ROSE: Okay. All right, thank you. 

17 Any rebuttal? You don't have to. 

18 MS. GIFFORD: No, Your Honor, I just wanted 

19 to, I guess really wanted to reiterate that Mr. Myers 

20 does have a right to go to trial if he so pleases as 

21 part of having the conditional plea rule now that the 

22 evidence against him is different, his sentencing 

23 exposure is different. He may very well wish to 

24 exercise that right and that's all tied into the 

25 conditional plea rule and why he has a right to 
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1 withdraw after he was successful on the suppression 

2 motion. 

3 JUDGE ROSE: Thank you very much. 

4 * * * * * 

5 C E R T I F I C A T I O N 

6 I, ELAINE HOWELL, the assigned transcriber, 

7 do hereby certify the foregoing transcript of 

8 proceedings on CD, playback number 10:02:56 to 

9 10:11:14, is prepared in full compliance with the 

10 

10 current Transcript Format for Judicial Proceedings and 

11 is a true and accurate non-compressed transcript of the 

12 proceedings as recorded, and to the best of my ability. 

13 

14 

15 

16 /s/ Elaine Howell 

1 7 ELAINE HOWELL AOC #189 

18 J&J COURT TRANSCRIBERS, INC. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

DATE: April 17, 2024 

WWW.JJCOURT.COM 

FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, May 29, 2024, A-002045-22



'FILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, March 27, 2024, A-002045-22 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 
V 
JAMAR MYERS 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 
APPELLATE DIVISION 
DOCKET NO: A-002045-22 
BEFORE: PARTF 
JUDGES: ROSE 

SMITH 

ORAL ARGUMENT DATE: MARCH 19, 2024 

DECIDED DATE: Iv1ARCH 19, 2024 

ORDER 

THIS MATTER HAVING BEEN DULY PRESENTED TO THE 
COURT ON A SENTENCING CALENDAR PURSUANT TOR, 2:9-11, IT IS 

HEREBY ORDERED AS FOLLOWS: 

Having considered the record and argument of counsel, we find that the 
court did not abuse its discretion in weighing the factors under State v. Slater, 198 
N.J. 145 (2009), and thus we affirm the denial of defendant's motion to withdraw 
the guilty plea. State v. McDonald, 211 N.J. 4 (2012). 

MERCER 11-08-00833-I 
14-02-00232-I 

FOR THE COURT: 

Co/' ~~°E? 

LISA ROSE, J.A.D. 

Ma00l 
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JEN1\TJFER N, SELLITTI 
Public Defender 

Hon. Lisa Rose, J.A.D. 
Hon. Morris G. Smith, J.A.D. 

Honorable Judges: 

Re: State v. Jamar Myers 
Docket No. A-2045-22 

Please accept this letter in lieu of a more formal brief in support of 

Jamai· Myers's motion for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 2:11-6. Mr. Myers 

seeks reconsideration of this Court's decision affirming the denial of his 

motion to withdraw from his guiity plea. 1 

In affirming the decision below, this Court found that the trial court "did 

not abuse its discretion in weighing the factors under State v. Slater, 198 N.J. 

1 Pursuant to Rule 2: 1 l-6(a), a copy of this Court's decision is annexed to this 
letter-brief. 
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145 (2009)." (Ma 1)2 But Mr. Myers's withdrawal motion was not governed by 

Slater. Rather, it was governed by Rule 3 :9-3(f) ("Conditional Pleas"), which 

requires that defendants be permitted to withdraw from their guilty pleas 

following successful appeals from pretrial rulings. See R. 3 :9-3(f) ("If the 

defendant prevails on appeal, the defendant shall be afforded the opportunity 

to withdraw his or her plea.") (emphasis added); see also State v. Diloreto, 362 

N.J. Super. 600, 616 n.6 (App. Div. 2003) (acknowledging that the right to 

withdraw under the conditional plea rule applies when "the defendant 

simultaneously pleads to multiple indictments and the pre-plea motion relates 

to only one"). In other words, in the case of a conditional plea, the plea is just 

that - conditional. 

Thus, while a defendant who files a motion to withdraw pursuant to Rule 

3:9-3(e) (before sentencing) or Rule 3:21-1 (after sentencing) must meet the 

factors articulated in State v. Slater, 198 N.J. 145 (2009), a defendant who 

enters into a conditional plea and succeeds on appeal has a right to withdraw 

under Rule 3:9-3(f), and Slater provides no grounds for denying the 

withdrawal motion. 

2 Ma = appendix to this motion 
Sa= SOA appendix 
IT= plea transcript dated November 29, 2016 
2T = sentencing transcript dated July 7, 2017 
3T = motion transcript dated March 3, 2023 

2 
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The conditional plea rule reflects the "basic principles of contract law" 

that govern plea agreements. State v. Means, 191 N.J. 610, 622 (2007); see 

also id. at 618 (noting that plea bargaining affords a "mutuality of advantage" 

to both defendant and the State). If the parties' bargaining positions changes -

which is what happens when a defendant successfully appeals from a pretrial 

ruling - then the defendant has a right to reconsider his options and decide 

whether he still wishes to plead guilty or would prefer to go to trial. 

Our courts have made clear that if "misinformation imparted to the 

defendant could have directly induced him to enter the plea, he should be 

allowed to withdraw from the bargain." State v. Taylor, 80 N.J. 353, 365 

(1979). A defendant who pleads guilty based on an erroneously decided 

pretrial ruling has always pleaded guilty based on "misinformation," as the 

defendant did not have an accurate picture of the State's leverage against him 

when he agreed to plead guilty. The conditional plea rule recognizes that it 

would be "manifestly unjust to hold the defendant to his plea" after such a 

change in circumstances. State v. Kovack, 91 N.J. 476,482 (1982) (citation 

omitted). 

Applying the law above to Mr. Myers 's case, he has a right to withdraw 

from his guilty plea under the conditional plea rule because he successfully 

appealed from the pretrial denial of his suppression motion. State v. Nyema, 

l)q 81 
3 
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249 N.J. 509 (2022). As background, in 2016, Mr. Myers entered into a global 

plea agreement in which he agreed to plead guilty to a felony murder charge in 

one indictment (Ind. 14-02-232) and an armed robbery charge in another 

indictment (Ind. 11-08-83). (Sa 16-22) In exchange, the State agreed to 

recommend a 30-year sentence with 30 years of parole ineligibility on the 

felony murder charge, concurrent to a 12-year NERA sentence on the armed 

robbety charge. (Sa 16)3 Mr. Myers 's plea was explicitly conditioned on his 

right to appeal the denial of a N.J.R.E. 404(b) motion from the felony murder 

case, and a suppression motion from the armed robbery case. (Sa 16, 18)4 

In 2022, the New Jersey Supreme Court reversed the denial of Mr. 

Myers's suppression motion, finding that the police lacked reasonable 

suspicion to stop the car that Mr. Myers was a passenger in, and thus all 

3 The State also agreed to have Pennsylvania run pending charges out of Bucks 
County concurrent to Mr. Myers's New Jersey sentence. (lT 5-10 to 14, 14-16 
to 15-24; 2T 4-23 to 5-20; Sa 18) Counsel's understanding is that the 
Pennsylvania charges were never pursued. 

4 While defendants seeking to appeal from pretrial rulings other than 
suppression of physical evidence or entry into pretrial intervention must 
preserve the right to appeal in the plea agreement (Sa 16), guilty pleas are 
always conditioned on the right to withdraw if a pretrial motion to suppress 
physical evidence was wrongly decided. Diloreto, 362 N.J. Super. at 615-16 
(citing R: 3:5-7(d); R. 3:9-3(£)). Though not necessary, Myers explicitly 
conditioned his plea on the right to appeal from the denial of his suppression 
motion. (Sa 16) 
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evidence found as a result of the stop was suppressed. Nyema, 249 N .J. at 531-

35. The armed robbery indictment was subsequently dismissed, and Mr. Myers 

moved to withdraw from his global plea agreement. (Sa 36, 38-44) Mr. Myers 

had a right to withdraw from his plea pursuant to Rule 3 :9-3(f) and Diloreto, 

which states that the right to withdraw applies where, as here, "the defendant 

simultaneously pleads to multiple indictments and the pre-plea motion relates 

to only one." 362 N.J. Super. at 616 n.6. 

It is not necessary for Mr. Myers to demonstrate why he may want to 

withdraw from his plea agreement, as the conditional plea rule states that a 

defendant in his circumstances "shall" be permitted to withdraw, regardless of 

the consequences. R. 3:9-3(f); see also Diloreto, 362N.J. Super. at 616 

(acknowledging that if a defendant "succeeds on the appeal, and there is other 

evidence to warrant prosecution, a defendant may choose not to withdraw a 

guilty plea if a favorable sentence recommendation was made as part of a 

negotiated disposition, or because charges dismissed incident to the negotiated 

plea would be resurrected upon withdrawal," but that "our plea preservation 

rules give the defendant the right to withdraw a guilty plea when the right to 

appeal survives the plea and defendant succeeds on appeal"). 

Notably, however, the State's leverage against Mr. Myers has changed 

such that he may wish to withdraw from his plea agreement and proceed to 
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trial on the felony murder indictment or attempt to negotiate a plea to a lesser 

charge in that indictment. On the day that he pleaded guilty, Mr. Myers was 

ready to go to trial, but he decided to plead guilty due to his sentencing 

exposure from a combination of the indictments against him. The State told 

Mr. Myers that if he went to trial on the felony murder indictment and was 

acquitted, it would seek an extended term on the armed robbery indictment, 

which would subject Mr. Myers to life in prison. (1 T 4-11 to 25) The State 

also threatened to seek consecutive sentences on all pending indictments if Mr. 

Myers proceeded to trial. (1 T 5-24 to 6-7) 

Because Mr. Myers's armed robbery case has been dismissed, his 

sentencing exposure is significantly less than when he decided to plead guilty, 

as he is no longer facing a potential life sentence if he is acquitted of felony 

murder, nor is he facing the threat of consecutive sentences on the two 

indictments. The evidence against Mr. Myers in the felony murder case is also 

weaker, as the N.J.R.E. 404(b) evidence that was going to be introduced at his 

felony murder trial came from the dismissed armed robbery case. (3T 10-19 to 

11-23) Put simply, the negotiating positions of the parties changed because of 

Mr. Myers's successful appeal. It is for this reason that the conditional plea 

rule permits defendants in Mr. Myers's position to withdraw from their plea 

agreements. 

6 
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Mr. Myers respectfully requests that this Court reconsider its decision 

affirming the trial court's denial of his withdrawal motion under the 

inapplicable Slater standard. 

Dated: March 28, 2024 

Respectfully submitted, 

JENNIFER N. SELLITTI 
Public Defender 
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant 

BY:~ 
ALISON GIFFORD 
Assistant Deputy Public Defender 
Attorney ID: 310912019 
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STATE OF NEW JERSEY 
V 
JAMAR MYERS 

MOTION FILED: 03/28/2024 
ANSWER(S) 
FILED: 

ORDER ON MOTION 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 
APPELLATE DIVISION 
DOCKETNO.: A-002045-22TS 
MOTIONNO.: M-004001-23 
BEFORE: PART F 
JUDGE(S): LISA ROSE 

MORRIS G. SMITH 

BY: JAMAR MYERS 
BY: 

SUBMITTED TO COURT: April 04, 2024 

ORDER 
/l 

! 1 

,. 

THIS MATTER HAVING BEEN DULY PRESENTED TO THE COURT, IT IS, ON 
THIS 4th day of April, 2024, HEREBY ORDERED AS FOLLOWS: 

MOTION BY APPELLANT 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION GRANTED 

SUPPLEMENTAL: 

The motion for reconsideration is granted. Accordingly, this court's March 19, 

2024 is vacated and the matter is transferred to the plena1y calendar~ The Clerk's Office 

to issue a scheduling order. 

I 1-08-00833-1 
\4-02-00232-1 MERCER 
DRV 

FOR THE COURT: 

d~ 
LISA ROSE, J.A.D. 
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CASE SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT Printed: 10/17/2012 13:55 

Trenton Police Department OCA: 11005402 

THE INFORMATION BELOW IS CONFIDENTIAL- FOR USE BY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL ONLY 

Case Status: PENDING-ACTIVE 

Offense: HOlvflCIDE01'dJ:JRDER 

Case Mng Status: PENDING-ACTIVE Occured: 04/29/20 II 

I?.llriri · trulf@ye' 0 eratio"I'IJ¾~ber· of .9:m@tourias"<Jffam;rrtl\!,ittl:!!n";Y~•e,[e,~0ver.e;'" • • • : ll~s',f{.lra1lca •. ear · ••KL be-the 

-¥in_temalh~@f aifirea,~c•H'QWel,1!i)J';''tf!.e,fu,:.§arrn:thatWaSc~1iribecf by' p/llYre~as%et.;'Jiec0:i¢l<eli.d_~)%t£'iN 
tdlM~~ • 

MONDAY JUNE 6, 2011 

I was again contacted by Sergeant Crutchley who stated that the TEAMS Unit Central would be conducting a dive 
operation in tlie area near the entrance of Stacy Parkman attempt to locate the firearm believed to have been thrown 
into the rive by Jamar lYfyers. During this search Trooper Graeber was able to see a silver colored revolver with a • 
wooden handle. Trooper Graebel believed this weapon matched the description provided to Sergeant Crutchley on 
Friday May 20, 2011. The handgun was located approximately 40 feet south and thirty feet west of a drainage pipe on 

• the bank of the river. For more complete details refer to report submitted· by the New Jersey State Police regarding this 
search. • 

Once the weapon was recovered it was processed and photographed by Detective Pacillo, of the Trenton Police Crime 
Scene Unit. Upon completion of the processing of the weapon it will be forwarded to the New Jersey State Police 
Ballistic Laboratory for ballistic analysis. 

FRIDAY JUNE 24, 2011 

Detective Sergeant Chris Doyle received a phone call from Investigator Fitzgerald of the Mercer County Department of 
Corrections who stated that Jamar Myers wanted to speak to someone about the Brunswick Pharmacy hut not in the 
building. Upon hearing this Detective Sergeant Robert Rios prepared a writ requesting that Jamar Myers be turned over 

to the Trenton Police Department for questioning. After reviewing the writ Judge Ankowicz granted the request. 

Arrangements were made and Jamar Myers was conveyed to Trenton Police Headquarter by Detective Crusen and 
myself. Mr. Myers was escorted to a third floor interview room in the Criminal Investigation Bureau that was equipped 
with a recorder that enabled us to capture both video and audio. • 

At approximately 1955 hours the interview with Jamar Myers·beganand Mr. Myers made it clear that he requested this 
interview and that he asked Correction Officer Morgan to put him in touch with someone who is investigating the 
Pharmacy Murder because he wanted to talk about it. Mr. Myers was provided with a Mercer County Rights Form, 
which he signed. 

I then asked Mr. Myers what exactly he wanted to talk about and he stated that some people were cqming to his hocie 

and bothering his farniJy. Mr. Myers was not sure he knew who the people were and he believed that the people might 

have been either Detective Crusen or 111yself. We both assured Mr. Myers that we were at his residence one time wlieri 
we executed the search warrant Mr. Myers appeared_ to be satisfied with our answer and see111ed to drop ·the subject. 
As the conversation continued Mr. Myers acknowledged that he has a problem with E Pills, meaning Ecasty Pills. I • 
agreed with Mr. Myers that he has a number of problems.and that his addiction to pills was one of his problems. At· 

Page 56 
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ANGELO J, ONOFRI 

ACTING MERCER COUNTY PROSECUTOR 

MERCER COUNTi,~OURTHOUSE 
BROAD AND MAR~T STREE1'S 

TRENTON, NEW JE~EY 08608 
(609) 989--6305 •• 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 

Plaintiff 

V, 

·JAMAR MYERS AND PETER 

NYEMA, 

Defendants 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEl'l JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION - MERCER COUNTY 

INDICTMENT NO, 11-08~0833 

FILE NO. 11-1409 

CRIMINAI. ACTION • 

CERTIFICATION 

I, JOHN E, KELLY, Hamilton Township Police Depa·rtment, 

Badge #336, being of full age, certify as follows: 

1, I am a patrolman in the Hamilton •rownship Police 

Department. 

2. I have been assigned to P.roperty and evidence room in the 

Hamilton Township Police Department since October 2013. 

As such, ·1 am familiar with the facts of this case. 

3, In August 2015, I was contacted by Detective Dean 

McCli:,ese of the Mercer County Prosecutor's Office 

regarding in-car video recording from Hamilton Police 
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Department case number 11-18237, relating to an armed 

robbery involving Jamar Myers and Peter Nyema. 

4, I checked the CAD system to determine which police 

vehicles were ;i.n-volved in that investigation, 

5. I then checked the L3 in-car camera video recording 

system for_ all car numbers listed on the CAD_ report 

related to this investigation. 

6, The L3 system indicated that a video may have be~n 

recorded by a police vehicle around the time of the armed 

robbery, 

7. 'l'he L3 systems indicated that the video would need to be 

restored uti:lizing back-up disc #795. 

8. I then checked our back-up disc inventory and was unable 

to locate disc #795. 

9. I located an authorization :form, dated October 19, 2012, 

·to destroy back-up discs #1052 through it14 61, 

discs were destroyed June 5, 2014. 

Those 

10, Based on that document and my investigation, I believe 

back-up disc #795 was destroyed. prior to October 19, 

2012. 

Dated: November 18, 2015 

. KELLY, #33 
Patrolman 
Hamil ton l'ownship Police 
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· ·., ·, NOT • FOR ·PUBLICATTON ·WITHOUT ·hl?PROVAL -OF 

THE COMMITTEE ON OPINIONS 

STATE·' OF NEW JER:lEY, 

Pl'aintiff, 

v. 

Jamar Myers AND 

Peter Nyema, 

Defendants. 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Jamar Myers, 

Defendant. 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

MERCER COUNTY 

LAW DIVISION - CRIMINAL PAiT 
INDICTMENT NO, 11-08-.083-3 

CRIMINAL ACTION 

FILED 
SEP :-; O 201€ 

SUPERIOR CUUtH OF NJ 
MERCER 1/ICINAGE 
CRIMINAL DIVISION 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

MERCER COUNTY 

LAW DIVISION - CRIMINAL PART 

INDICTMENT NO. 14-02-0232 

CRIMINAL ACTION 

OPINION REGARDING N.J.R,E, 

404(8) EVIDENCE 

·- ·- ... .. - .,... . 
~-· .'i-:.,ct: ., .• 'i-"-':-•~i~;'/{F,,_:::j ,~~ ➔; 

MICHAEL GRILLO, ESQ. AND MICHAEL NARDELLI, ESQ., ASSISTA.'1T MERCER COUN"rY 

PROSECUTORS, FOR THE STATE OF NEl•I JERS.EY. 

EDWARD J. HESKETH, ESQ. AND RONALD S. GARZIO, ESQ. , FOR THE DEFENDANT, 

JAMAR MYERS. 

'STEV'EN LEMBER, ESQ., FOR THE DEFENDANT, PETER NYEMA. 

,J 

Hm!ORABL!l ROBER'li' C. Bl LL!1EIBR, J , S . C. 

September 30, 2016· 

1 
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. ~-

The State seeks to introduce· tlif! surveillance video· evidence froin. 

the ?-Eleven robberies in Hamilton Tminship and Pennsylvania to •identify 

Myers· ag the suspect. in his trial·· for th~ Brunswick Avenue Pharmacy 

homicide in Trenton and as the· suspect in the attempted robbery· at the 

VizzonFs_Pharmacy in Hamilton ~•o"ms_hip under N.J.R .. E. 404(b). The State 

also asserts Ny~m.a wa-3 the second suspect with his face covered at the 

Hamilton Township ?-Eleven robbery as depicted on the surveillance video. 

Under a··N.J.R.E 40•l(b)analysis, the· State seeks to 'have not only Myer. 

but· also Nyerna joined to 'the Myers homicide at the .Brunswick Avenue 

Pharmacy and Myers attempted robbery at ·vizzoni' s ·Pharmacy joined for 

trial purposes. 

The court finds the identity of individua:l(s) depicted by the four 

surveillance videos i,i unknown since in each case the suspect(s) has his 

face covered. co-def.endant Drew has entered into a negotiatedplea with 

the State in consideration for his cooperation at co-defendants trials, 

ie.· to testify. that Myers is the 'masked suspect in the Bruns•,1ick Avenue 

Pharmacy and the Viz:<oni's Pharmacy crimes since he drove Myers to both 

locations. In addition, Drew is. expected to testify that approximately· 

a week later, he drove Myers to the 7-Eleven store in Pennsylvania: and 

is the individual shown in the video. Approximately an hour later, Drew 

will testify he drove both· Myers. and Nyerna to the Hamilton Township 7-

Eleyen· to cc,mmi t the robbery at that location and ·Myers and Nyema are 

' . 
the masked per.sons identifi'ed in the surveilTance video. The State will 

also produce evidence at defendants·•. trial that ·Myers, Nyema and ·Drew 

were stopped in .a:n ai.ttomo):'.)ile that was speeding away from the Hamilton 

15 
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Towhship.7-Eleven robb_e1'y. A search of the· car produced cash·and clothi.ng 

worn by the suspects depicted in tlie video at the Hamilton To,·mship 7_ .. 

Eleven robbery and ·for one of the suspects shown at the Pennsylvania ·'] -

Eleven robbery- occurr Lng_ one hour earlier. However, -Drew's credibility 

will be- subject to cross-examination to . show he "gave up" his co­

defendant·s in exchange for a generous plea bargairi, Drew also has a 

history of changing hiri stories and has a_ prior· criminal record. Drew's 

. credibility will also be attacked for all,;,gedly writing a letter to Myers 

as·serting everything he told the police was a lie concerning the co­

defendants involvement in these robberies. 

'l'he State contends bec:;ause of Defendant Myers' left-handedness and 

distinctive gait showing a bowing of his right leg from his childhood 

surgery and distinct clothing worn by the suspect, he is clearly 

identifiable in the t.wo 7-Eleven robbery video surveillances and this 

evidence is admissible.pursuant to.N.J.R.E, •104(b) to demonstrate Myers; 

identity in the phar.n1acy Indictment; In opposition, Defendants Myers and 

Nyema. argue the State's proposed other-wrongs and/or acts evidence to 

prove their identit)' does not meet the admissibility requirements 

established by N.J.R.E. 404(b) as interpreted and applied b_Y State ,v; 

Cofield, 127 N.J. 328 (1992), and its progeny, --.--

t. 

The New· Jersey- Supreme. Court has declared that "[oJ th~r crimes 

evidence is considered highly prejudicial." State v. Vallejo, 198.N,'J. 

122, 133 (2009) ( citing State v. Stevens, 115 N. J. 289, 309 (1989)) .. 

Whil_e evidence of. past crimes or wrongs may_ be relevant; such. evidence 

_16 
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• ~GNMENT; .. PLEAS; MOTIONS;-PRETRIAL; DISCOVERY ' • . 3:9-3 

(.,:.. A challenge :.to ~a.suppressio[!-:'denial is;' how.ever/ preserved ~b'y the, express'· te1ms~0f R,,3; 5_::;7 fd) .• B'ee,,e·.g ;-, 
State:v~'Velezy ·335-,N.J..·.:Sttpet;:5.52 (App:· Div:: 20.00)~,certi.fodism'd .187'-N ::r · .624{2001),:so-,h.oldi:ng,.as·ito-'a • 

. claiin ofa:aciaJ,.p:wfilingias the. basis-for a>ttaffic. stop. 1?-r:etrial orders· admitting confessions are;howev.er; 'llot • 
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t
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: ' The cburt; hcnr;rever, has. t~e . dis_c~eti_onA0,,.iefu~e· .th!;?: plea-,in :.orde.r-.to · preserve. ~he S~t~ '.s :-right to :·seek 
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1
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' .t~Iating t~ pl~a.s an_~_~eiite,ilce.s ai_i:ci s~alh~~gag_¢ _ni'~is·~ussi~hs·a~c;ml~iic4.~atters as_l\'.M{p.ro·w'.<>(e a:fafr 

'ind ~xpedlfious-·alsposi~io1i'of ilie' c_as~; ·btit except as'hereinafie'i· auth~rizecl the Jud~lshaU take 'no.p.~_ft 
• in such .discussions. • • • • • · u r (b) Eritry of Pie~: Wh-~µ_the'pr·~secutor aiid\ieie'i\s~"-~ounsel 'reach ·an agreeinent'coiicerning the 

fi, offense 01' offens'es to_ vlhi~h id'ef~:hdifnt·villl'p'le'a<fon·:toiiditiri~(thit 6liie1· ~lia_tges· pending ag~ij.st _the 
aefendant wilf-.. b,e dismissed . or an agreem·ent conc~rning the. 's.e_ijte~c.e. t:9-at .. t~~_. prQs~iJ'#,~~:·.mn 
hicomm~nd,· or wJ;i'en pin~su'artt to pafagraph ( c) the defend~nt pliads ·guilty·bas·~ifo.n_.-ip,d'i'cat(oii;~ ;b.Y.: the · 

. tourt of die maxim:uni sentence to· be impos~d, such a~1;eenient·a·nd such lndications1sb·in1. be,pl~ced 'on 
lhe record·iil-open ~ourt at tQe·tinie the plea is entered:. · _. • • · · ' -. · . , ·:.·· · ,, .';:ii·· · · : · • 

; ( c) Discfo~rire to-·Cotitf .• On request of the··prose~utor· ~rid defeiise:·cou'i1seI/tl!~e ·c~u.i/1ir'{~ie:preseti~.e' 
of both coun~el ·may--per~if the· disclosure to it of the ·!entative· agree,me.'!t-¥.~_i(t\i'(t#~~i~sJ~:~r~(~j- in 
·advance of tlie time for··tender· of the plea ,61; if nq tentatjye; .agre~,m~nf,h~s·. b.!re-µ-.r.~a~I.Jecl;:_(be :..st.~tu.s 9f 
f!egotiations toward_ a· plea agreeiiient: ·The court iuay· tJleri in-dic~te to ·.the>prosecutor,and.-defense 

·, counsel wh~ther it will· con·cur iµ the tentative agreement or, ifno tentative agte·eil:j.ent·~as'·befn re~ch~d 
and with·the cons~nt ofhoth ~oli~sel, the ma:xin,mm sentence-it would iril;pq_s.~)~.':t'ifteye.~ttll¢):Iefe#<J.ah:t 

,.- enters-a plea ·of gu1lty,-··assuniing, ho,vever, in· both cases tlfat the·inforpfati~i(ii;i.i}je-p,res~~ft:i:i..c:¢.r.~Rot:t 
. ~ttheiime ·o:t) eritence is as ·bas· been represented to the coifrt·at the time of the •disclosu'i~e-aiid,supports 
: .- it~ • deter.miffatiori··~thatAhe · futerests -·of:,j ustice 'Would,'.:'be.,s.er-ved . theteby. ·'ffithe.,agr.ee-ment. is <r,each-ed 
: .w.ithout, such· disclo.sur.~ ·or:M ~the 1 court agrees: conditioimlly to :-accept the. plea ..-agr.eement;a~:sset ,fprth 

.... !ll_!>!>'ve, '.01•:if:tlie plea -is.to be::based :on·the·:co~1:t's·conditioii~};i.ndication ab_o"U.t tfi·e-sentel)ce;\all the-terms 
~;the;plea; .in'dudin_g,-1:he;cour.Bs c:o_ncur.reii.ce, .or-,its. in'dication concetni'ng, s~litence~ sliaU ·be· phrced-oii 

• itlte· r¢cord. ,in,: opev:, 'cou1;ta t ,tffe: time::-th e ·-plea'. is• ei1iered.:,Nothing! :i1Lthis Rule.-.s):iall, be, :construed, tQ 

'~-)uthoiize::the:'co1ir:i:thldis~iss:or-·.<ldwngbide • .. a:nt. ch-~r,ge,withoµt]'the..rcoilse~;t-".ofrthe·,prosecutor.·, ;':·: .,(::-, 
: • ;t~-!' ( d)~g.:ve.e~ents llhvolvin·g. the;lligJ:.!titotA.ppimLWhenever,-~1:J1lea•:agi;eementrin~bides.1?uprov.ision :t1ia:t 
j l~t:endant wiJ1,not app.eal; '.tp.e:court s·h'all::adv.i:setthe·.d·efendant;tpa:Fnotw,~tlistandfug: the-:ihdusiott oT 
. tliis, tnmv'i:sion,i tlie.d.e.f eiidant: has•. the:.:tigh t to1taJ5.e'~a.:-tt.m,e1y-appeal:iftthe~pie-a fagr-e~merit is,.ac.cepted, but 
'th~at m:th~·, defond~ut·does· .s.o~: ;the,pJea: agreemenf.may be:-a'nnulled · ~t,the 1option.- of.the :pr.osecutor;dn 
M,ijfoh'~veut all ch-~1:geSJ•shallJJe-:1·esfor~d-,to,the:s~n'r~ statiis.as :innnediatelythefore,the·efttry..of·th'e;ple:a;, 

- . 
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3 -:9~3[1] ·: ·,:3:/·, ·, i•:~' : , ; : f , RUIJES GOVERNING .. _CRIMINAL-·PRACIICE 

In-the ·event the 'defendant fileS:-a~- appeal in. a cas.e ·µi: which. the plea:. agreement in duded. a j).ro'Vision 
• that-:the:defenda-nt. w.ill::notJippeal;"tlie:State;·mu$tex~t:cise its ,rig~t-to annul-the.ple.a-'a.greemen_t no later 

tban s_even :days prfor--to the.date ~~heduled• for_ oral a,r.gu_ment:or,submission .wi~hout ,ai;gumen.t . . 
. ·, ; ::(e) Wi.thdraw'al of.Plea.: 'If.at .the~tirµ~ of sentCrQ.cing; the cour.t:-determines that tbe intete.sJs ·ofjusttce 
would not_ be. ~erved -by effe_cmating the agreement reached by the pr:osecutor .and defense counsel Ol' 

b~<~P:°-~~-g ,~en.lence Jn.: acco~dan,c.e·:with • the. ~ourt~s-: ~~~vfous~ind_i~a tio1:1s: of: sen te.nc:e; . the-ceo.tirt may 
va<;.ate tfi.e.plea.-.ar;"-the;defendant sba_ll be ,pe:tnntt~<Lto w1thdraw--.the :plea,,· :, ·:-. ·-. • ·.,. :. '. .,-.. ·_ ·: · i, · : ·-

10{1(fJ [Conditiorial .Pleas~ 0'\Yith ·the appr:.0.:val:of-the .cour-t1ahd th'ejconsent-of the prosecutinga~9rney, a 
. d~f,f~-d~a1,1t_Jnay entef'' a;c_o'Jidi_tional p l~a·iof;guilfy;_ reserving-~,n-,the :recor4 th'e.:.right to, appeal from the 

adve1;~e. determin~tion _of any- -specified pretrial imotion .. -Jf•-the,:defendant; pr_e'vails_ oii ·ap.peal, the 

d~fen,d~t-shall,b-:-e afforded -the oppQrturiity· to :~ithdraw·.-his· :or her plea~: Nu thing in -this, ni:Ie .shall be 
co.pstrue<;I _as limiting.the:fight:of.:appeal·p.ro:v.itled for ,in:R.-3·:5.-7(d},- . ;-·--.. : :_ • . ': ~-- ·:.~ •• 

~ ,. ·{g})!le~, C!lt -~).ff~ Afte,11:th~:pretrial c'op.(er.ence,h'aS._--been·~o~d~¢ted a:nd._.a.trial ·da.te set, the:coutt shall 
notr:accept :µegoti~,te.d·,plE:a~·-abseil~,_tlie,appiroval .ofothe,.Criminal:Ptesiding:J:udge; base_d· .on a material 
chaµ.ge o( cir_c.11mstance, or the need .to .-avoid, :if pi;otr_a~tedittial,_or -~-ma_nifest•_injustice. ; • 

Note: _Adopted Jr~?' 1_7, 1975 _t~· be effective _Septero~~~ !{,.. .1 ~7 f: P~r;i_gq1ph (~). ad?pte{fu1f ~9, 19J7;-t~::bi-_ef(fe'~Af-e. Septtml:!~r 6, 1977; 

1J.-?8}~1P}h51~ .rt;1r,~J.~il_tf;<!,f~ y: J_;.p~5~,gy~~h.(,f).ajpPt~d, 1.µly_}J, ~ 9_89 ;tq_,~<r-J~e"~1;v.e: ~ppt~~f?,er ,~: \98_?~P~~~~~ap~~ (b)~ :(~) al),d ( e) and 
capt_1qns for par~graphs (b) and ( c) amended·'May 23, ~?-~9, to :bf:effee;t}~e ,J_tµi~ 1_5,)~?9;,p~a~raph @) alll~n1.~d,_~n~ ?9! 1990 to be 
effectrve' Septemb~r 4,-;1990; ·paragraphs (a) and. (f) -a~end~d;·paragrapl}. (g) ·adopted July· 13, 1_994 to be effective.January l , 1995; 
captiori;.to:p_iij;~aplffg):'ai;nel-ide(l1Jufy·1J:ioootoibeceffe~fiv.¢•Septeirioei:'5;;woo. ,, ,_,._ :,, •. •• _.-!~ ~ -.... ' ' • • 

!. ·< '---'' ~ r=:·/ • .-,::;,_'-::,_ , .,· ·.G .:;··i- -'.· __ , -~--- _·:·. ~bJ»':ruiME'C0UR'if c§"6~NTARY·: •. ;..:: ·\:-·· ,-_.'. .,· • :; ·,. '', ·11 ·: =.· _:·, ___ . 

. -·A "material change-of circumstance" means a change occurrjng after the pretrial conference that strengthens or weakens the case of 
either the .prosecution. or-• .the'ciefense .sufiici~ntly to ,varrant a change,in• their plea-bargaiµing position. -.It may be-·either·a change in fact 

,OJ: i.l}. theJm~~.Itdge-o.£:s;.2."!,.lP.J,~.L;~oi,n~.typi9a_~ exiy;n_p_le~. t!Jat,may.-con_stfo1te .D:!~teri~J. c~ange:o.f c'i-r<?u!Ilstanpe fl£~ -,".hen_.new charges are 

p}J,9- ~ft,~_(t_~e. :eJ_9.a C·Ut}?ff.,_~~s}ten F.P:?lieq~ ;a_ ~-µ?,fi~~~I-~ 9~~~e)?f~~o~~r--r.a~.,o~~u.1ed~ :a 'rim._e~~-.b:_C?J??:e~ ,no_ ,I~nger ~v~ilable, a 
mistrial- or hung Jury occurs; or some evidence 1s newly d1scovere~-- Ifowever, a change that wo:uld 01:dmardy. h_~ve been _antic1pated by 
a reasonably competent prosecutor or defense attorney, including some of the foregoing examples, is ·not niaferial; rior is·a cnange that 
restil{s J1;9pi ;§OUJ1'seljif:la'ck.of;ordinafy .diligeil:ce; 'A 'fp~otracted•tiial'?,is Orte that-,vill prob~bly fasMw'o :weeks or-J.Uore.,_One example of 

manifest injustice is a sexual assault case in which the victim is a child:)f-the tri~l- ii;:l_ik_ely.t(J):hav~ a ,sµbstantial!adve;rse_iriipact on the 
child;· t_he ·cou~ may grant waiver. "Manifest injustice" doe~ not exist simply becal;s~~the parties are able and willing _to enter into a plea 
bargainon.orbeforethedateoftrial. . .- . , • _;.c .. ·•'-.l,.-!:<.· -- , '·:-: .: ·:?· . .;,;·~,, -: ,J.''· .. _- .1 .-.. -:'- • , 0.• •• .. •• 

t .-, .. ,A.,pl~. c~t-off·.J;UJe_ "Y-a,s J~CQIJltQena_ed; by. ;~vel v.ein1.erµ.);).er~ ~f, the ~JIRr.e~e, ~qm:t-~i;imil;t;:i.l; Pra¢,t~c·e:C9P.lfjiittee jP, :a_ di$$_eri.f file4 with 
t.he. )99f_-Q4,,C.rimiµ_a( .Pj.-aptiqe .Cgnµnitt!-<e _Recqfl?JPe-!l.<laH_qns .. on Rl,lle& Ne9!!S$!!cy. .t9. Ii;npleiµ~nt .t4e .. <;;,:hpin_a! ,Divisio[). Operating 
St'andarcfa.'.•s.ee'.137' (:N'.JJ..:.J.} '54, ·16~ 17. .• 'rliat recommendation' .,vas aclo}ited a"rid .further ri:icid°ifi°ed b); .thl Su_.P.reme 'Co\J.it as ·set forth 
:a.":f;~$e:•=.:i•\:)~~-, ~-i~• .. ~.:_.y •,i.t1~-=.:.1, .• . -. -:,:, -:..,.-.,1-: : ~•"){,-_,.:·-,;;:i'J..•:.:••,~•••.:.t::f•Je:•:i•:•:.• -." •.·, •,: .. _r:~•; •' . . · _,j:_< .,.:-•::,.:_•• .. • :/••~.-:_ -:': . -' :r:.:;:.•:•; .'.lc ::.;; ,,.~•..,--c.,,.: •. 

.:• i-::: • ·,:• •. • ., • 

,- ·)_, ,,.~;:- -~~--•·. -:.··; •,· :_.1,,;",:~-1---:;'t- ,_.._- ~:.,,\,-.- _;,,t:.,.,,.-._,-j <;P¥M.EJ:~rr ;.: . .-._ -...... ;. ,';! ,-< -: --.,.YJ.,· _ ... __ . __ .. -_ . 

.. , .• :_: : ; :-. ~ '.,.;;;e:;: __ ;. [~i~~:•· . --~- ,~;~W~t?-17?P~ A.!¼?h,'-$~_s. ~t:,~r•:e A.~~p~~~nts: .,s~.e, 91,i.li.~~ ~~~op , _ ·.. . _ ·- , . _ 
·J·:.~~ov~ .. ~ :~~)r~:_·l--- .-! ~-, t'! • -- =~ ,. ·.- , •. -: .. .. ~~ -,. .. . .. • ... ···, :-; :: ., .. 1.::.('.s:Y. .:':. ··.: .. •. ~~:t .. ·-~:·- ·.,? .. ·~ ~ .. ~ .. ':: . 
'2:·. Paragraplt(a)t l'lel{Discµ'ssion§ ·Geµefallj. : "· .. ,..-_._ .... "-=":· : . ·: - ··,_. . 

·-!~::~!t::f~~;~:tl1o~~~.~!~~~.':t!_ :'\:/~-~:-t.3.j:·>t:/t·· _.. ~:,· :?_/;.t~\X:\\:::·, _-. .-~,-"_,_·•;-•';.=_;_ \_'-'~•- ~ ·=:_-·._-_\· 

4.1: .Genefalprinciples: • • • • ·_ :.,_t "i::~ : ,:. ~-:: • ~ =-=~ ... !?·; • . . : !:: ::;.,~·r .,.>.·: ·:••;. -=i-:. 1 ·:,·1,_: :"' • 

·:,~\!~f:i:~~~~)1/F}!;{l~y~!~i!t'"';.;:, - _· .. -.,,,_. '•) ,. ·~•i• ' . _· -,.,~: :, • _. ·:, =:·i •;-:--. ·; ,< ··? ·i ,,._.-- .:_.- •. _-,,,_..,,~·. -.· .... ;-
(,t :,v,"4_:•:1tej;cti6i?o:Ppiei{~bi~'p.-i~a:~·.:'~;:;_:--·. -. ".·"'• ·-; ~_:,::.;r.~-; -~i ·:· :: ·.-!- _; .- : ' ---1 ' ·1 ;;•?· '.' ,'' . ·L::~·- ~-.: . -:. _-,.--. ::·::. , '•: . 

·:s, "P-aragri1pli '(ti)t½:g}ecfo1ents~Iiivoivinktne:-Righttq:'A.ppia:c _;,.-,:• ,_.. ·, : •. :: -, __ ; . -:)j '. ·_ ,:_i ·; ;. ·., '.t: :·=. -; ,,,:-,. ,,, 

-p,:\ ;Pi;irirgr~ph,.(eh.Withdrawilh,of-P-l~a::- , :,; ;,, ' s·;. v·:f ;:, -, :! ; • '. -- ~---- ~=-. ; . , -:. . • ': •• . ::-_;_,):-'.. ::' L ,-· :·: ·~ _;_ ';, r ',:-· ;- , . . ··. ,\ 

:.·,I ~ ; .P•;J: --;, ~P}!~~9ftapf(t,,y!t~9fjii~-f;ll~:· ·-. :.- .. -: : ; ~: ·: :.: .:.-- ··;-.. ·;~ ~-.. -~ {,_. r·. 1~•; . • /_ !; : : : ..... ... _;. -: - : . •. ::•. -·-: ,·. -; : ::.:: -~:.~:.bf' . :·; ·:··:·; ·:· .... ·:: : = : .. ~· ·t , .: 

·, .. ., _·. 6.:};,_,,lr.qs,~su,t9(~~)Y.it~H~~\'fa_C _ .. , --,: • '" ~- _ ;; . '. . .··. _ ·.,· .. ;: .· •. -.· .. ··. -,· :. • .. · _. : ,. ·. '-.--.-~. . .":-, ,•'.: :-:- :_ ·. ,-.,., ·_. ·,,; __ ,_,._ :, __ : -~ -:_, ·., __ .. '.',._ .. • · -.. ,· . -
• •• .. 6.3 . ...-.~erfcir:friaU:ce:6fpl~a·a@ee~ent." - • ' . -. .. . : . - . . . .. . . . _ • 

:t:,!!!!ft:![;~~})!f:~~~!~t1.~:Yt2.~::_:::~:t~ ~--:::.;···.;._:\'._:":;:._.-~;::=~ :;_ :·; : '.· )i\\ <:--~·~'/'_-2·.:.-:\:t.,t· .. :::··~-~; /·/ ·:/. ·; < --,_ • .. 

1.d :: :,@.vervie\v.~:fhis-pule~ ,followfo generally :the:. guidelines -_cs_et-::'forth,,in, the,A.drtrinistrative. Jvfemorand~ 
-a:idopted,by <the~Supreme iGo:qrt ,in ·HJ.'iJO., 1See 94 iN.-JikJ:--Index ·P:agEdt{197 T). ·And see, State,v. Korzenowski, 
tl:23 . .,N :.li3 S.~per: ,"45.4r,c4&6 ,(6:<\pp. ·Dhr.:, .191:3 }; d:::ertIB.. -den. ~63-: ,bLJ.: .-32 'T. ( 19.73 )/ hi. whk:4 ·.the =.text. of the 
M6moraqdum•w·as Fep;roduced;.:It.follo~s as.-welrihe practic.~,w.hich.-ha:d. dev.eloped~·Pi;tfsuantthereto,;an~ ~s 
pointed10ut-- in:tlie.:R.¢port,(6f the ,Co.n;y::o.ittee,:oniCriminaLikahtioe~' 98iN iJ£:l.T. _Inde-X! :Page ;_3.30.;(1975); Js JO 

substantialtace~i.d o/.-ii~ the "iprocedure-§"approy.ed in'. Jhe:A.B:A. -Sta~dards: Relating ,to ,Pl~a·s {of ·Guilty;. S·ec. -3,,.3 
~('Approv:¢d-iD.11aft,1968.).d~eeials0;,-g§il.enal-\,y;: as to,the _r0l~ .. o.fi-;pleas-negb.tiatioai,nthef~rni1inaljtJstie~ process, 
·,state,:v,.d&dJ.ars;Zi4;N;,J :-80.peJx~3.2 :(App:d)iv.--T988),,':oe:rtiLdenkldsl nt-J. 605.,(H!-8-89_;· ... · .. ,_ . .-__ ;:; ·; .; --·: - •. ·;, 

t .2 '• .J!-ar.agraph :~a).;·r:Plea;'Discµssiori_sJ©~qer;illyJ i-Paragraph {a}iauthorizes. ·p_lea' )iegotjation. ,discussions 
.betw.een::the,pros_ecutor.1amJ:,defens~~:counsel:but. ~ithout-:-the· coµrt.'-s;:p~rticipati0n,- except.as authorized by 
.paragrapht(o}·of,the-rnle.,l'hls,fl.lle:;;~':institutionalize~' plea·b~r.2:~inu:r2::;See St_ate:v.-:Bell~my, :I t/.8 N,l 127, .134 
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ARRAI G _NMENT; P LEA BARGAINING; P LEAS § .12.22 

Form was promulgated by Administrative Directive ·#15-01 is-
• sued -O-ctober 12,-2001. 

,. _ T4_e ~rim}11.al _ca~e :rµanager's office . iri_ eac:J:i_ county will, on 
request, _pr.ovid<f t:J:ie Jc;tt~s'.{; _ _versiq~ o(tlie~·e toirns to couiis.el. They 
are '·ayail~ble in ·Erigli.sli ari:tl' ~pa,~1.sh.- • • • 

The ~p_prop~iate forms . should b~ completed, at least in 
duplicate_;. before the defendant appears before the judge to .plead 
guilty. The original_ is. handed. to the judge who after taking the -
piea gives it to ·the criminal-- d1vision 1nanager for .filing. A copy is 
given to the . prosecutor for· his/her file_. Defense counsel should 
have a copy fo1~ his/her file, 

The execution of the fotrb. or forn1:s by the defendant will weigh 
liea:y1.ly agair:ist a later ~ontention by the d~feI_1.dant that the plea 
was· 3?-0t -~ritered voluri.ta,ri~y ~tid unq¢is-t~:p.ding:ly;2 -Howev~r1 th_e 
execution of a form does not conclusively · establish that the plea 
was enter~d voluntafily 3:nd ~nde~standingly.3 Th~refore, at the 
time ·t1;i.e. plea is _tend~1.·-~d, ·merely ·ta~igg_ the 9a~fc ·st~ps outlined 
in§ 12.18, and executing the for:r,n still1ea-Ve$ ro.om for the defen­
dant to later raise the_ allegations-discussed in .§ 12.18. In order 
to foreclose successful challeriges by the defendant to the entry of 
the _guilty plea, detailed questioning of th.e defend.ant is r~quired 
wlieri he/she tenders the pl_ea. 'rl1E~ _que_$-tions-the_ defendant should 
be asked when he/she tenders a guilty .plea are set forth in 
§ 12.33. 

§ 12.21 Statem.ent by defendant-Form.s 

Researc4 References 

West's Key Nmnber D~gest, Criminai Law ~273(4.1) 
C.J.S., Cdrn.inal Law §§ .384, 389 

Thes¢·fo:r.n1.s. are fre.quently revised. Qont~ct the Criminal Divi­
sion • Ma.na,ger to get th~ la test versions. They are in the 
Sep.temb_er .9, 2002 issue of the N~w Jersey Law Journal, 169 
N~J.L.J. 1070. • 

§ 12.2,? Conditional guilty pleas 

Res_e _arch Refer~nc~s 

West'~-Key ·Numbe; Dig~st, Criminal Law ~1026.10(5) 
C.J.S., Criminal Law § 1680" • • 

2·state v. Berman, 47 N.J. 73,_ 
219 A .2d 413 (1966). 

~State v. Deutsch., 34 N.J. 190·, 
168 A .2d ·12- (196,1). 
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-. CRIMIN ..iµ, PRACTICE .Al'sl'D . P1:toCEDURE-

~ule .. 3:9-3(f) provides for . "conditional pleas" of gu:i,lty. 1 A 
"cond;i.tional plea"• of guilty is a . guilty plea where ' the defe.ndant 
r~serves the right to appeal from · the adverse determination _of 
any specified- pretrial -1notion.,- .If,the defend.ant wins. t:he ·appeal, . 
he/she is then afforded. an opportunity to withdraw his/lier . guilty 
plea. ~he kinds of pretrial 'lllotions· that a defendant ·might .want 
to appeal following a "conditional plea~~ of guilty are: (1) a: deter­
mination that a statement of· the defendant is admissible; (2) a 
determination .. that a pretrial identification of the . def.endant is 
a:drriissible; (3) a · determination that a sound recoi-ding is admis­
sible; (4) an order denying a motion-to· suppress·-evidence in·cir­
cumsta,nces in which· the defendant' contended :that the· eviden~e 
should have been suppressed qn grounds other than a violation of 
the ··Fourth:Ain~ndment or·· Art. I; par. 7 of the ·New Jersey ·Con:-• 
sthut.ton; ·and (5) ·a:ny other· determination regarding the ad1nis­
sibility of evidence rriade at a pretrial hearing. • '. • ·: • 

A defendant may enter a "conditional plea" . only with the; 
consent ~f the ·prosecutor. and· the approval of the • court. In order 
to appeal an adverse de!ermination of a p·retrial motion following 
the entry of a guilty plea, defense counsel must state on the. 
record: • . • • 

(1) that his/her client is entering a "conditional plea" of guilty 
pursuant to. Rule 3:~-3(f); . . • 

(2) that his/lier client reserves 'the. right to . appeal from 'the 
adverse determination· of one o·r more specified pretrial motions. 
The ·prosecutor should only consent to the entry of a "conditio:ri'al 

plea" of guilty in those ·rare· situations ~here the decis~on of ·the 
appellate court will dispose of the c~se. If an appellate decision· 
adverse to the State will prevent the State from proving a priina 
facie case, then the case is an appropriate ·one for the entry of a 
conditional plea. In such a situatiqn, the decision of the appellate· 
court will dispose of the case because it will result in a ·dismissal 
of the indictment. However, in· circumstances where an appellate 
decision adverse to the State will not pr~vent the State from 
proving a prima facie case, then the prosecutor shpuld not cqnsent 
to the entry -of a "conditional plea." In such circumstances, the 
"conditional plea" might only serve to p9stp·one the trial. 
Postponement will aid the defense. Witnesses foi the State 1nay 
be lost, and memo1;ies may dim.· The prosecutor will be left trying 
an old stale case. 

Rul~ 3:5-7(d) give·s a defendant a right to appeal ·from a denial 

[Section 12.22] 

'
1If .the defendant. reserves the 

right to appeal one or more adverse 
determinations 'but <:loes not specify 

570 

a~oth~r issue or issues, the n the lat­
ter issue or issues are waived. State v. 
S zemple, 332 N.J.Super. 3 22, 7/53 A.2d 
732 (App.Div.2000). 
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COUNTERSTATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL HISTORY1 

A. April 29, 2011, Homicide and Armed Robberies 

On February 26, 2014, a Mercer County Grand Jury returned Indictment 

Number 14-02-0232-I, charging defendant with murder, first degree, contrary to 

N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a (Count I); murder as an accomplice, first degree, contrary to 

N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a; 2C:2-6 (Count II); felony murder, first degree, contrary to 

N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3a(3) 1 (Count III); robbery, first degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:15-

1 (Count IV); four counts of possession of a weapon for an unlawful purpose, second 

degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-4a (Counts V, VI, VII, XII); two counts of 

unlawful possession of a weapon, second degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-5b 

(Counts VIII, IX); tampering with evidence, fourth degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 

2C:28-6(1) (Count X); and attempted robbery, first degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 

2C:15-1; 2C:5-1 (Count XI). Da1-13.  These charges resulted from two related 

crimes committed by defendant on April 29, 2011: first, was defendant’s attempted 

robbery of Vizzoni’s Pharmacy in Hamilton; second, was defendant’s armed robbery 

and murder at the Brunswick Avenue Pharmacy in Trenton.  

 
1 Due to the unrelated nature of defendant’s two cases, these sections have been 
separated for accuracy of the record. 
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The State filed a pretrial motion pursuant to N.J.R.E. 404(b) to introduce 

evidence of other wrongs and/or other acts. On September 30, 2016, the trial court 

granted, in part, and denied, in part, this motion.   

On November 29, 2016, defendant pled guilty to first-degree felony murder, 

Count III of Indictment Number 14-02-0232-I. The State agreed to dismiss all other 

counts of the indictment and to recommend the mandatory minimum sentence. On 

July 27, 2017, defendant was sentenced in accordance with this plea deal to thirty-

years of incarceration without parole. Defendant acknowledged what he was 

pleading to, acknowledged the concurrent nature of the sentences, and stated he did 

not have any questions about the consequences of this plea. Defendant was also 

advised of the burden related to attempting to undo a guilty plea. 

Defendant appealed all of his pretrial rulings together. On April 12, 2019, the 

Appellate Division affirmed the trial court’s decision on the N.J.R.E. 404(b) motion. 

On February 12, 2021, the Supreme Court of New Jersey issued an Order in which 

it declined to hear defendant’s case regarding the N.J.R.E. 404(b) issue. 

On April 14, 2022, defendant filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. After 

hearing oral argument, the trial court denied defendant’s motion on March 3, 2022.  

On March 13, 2023, defendant filed a notice of appeal of the denial of the 

motion to withdraw the guilty plea with the Superior Court, Appellate Division. On 

March 19, 2024, the Appellate Division heard oral argument in this matter and 
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affirmed the denial of defendant’s motion to withdraw the guilty plea. Defendant 

filed a Motion for Reconsideration on March 28, 2024.  

B.  May 7, 2011 Armed Robbery  

On August 23, 2011, a Mercer County Grand Jury returned Indictment 

Number 11-08-0833-I, charging defendant with robbery, first degree, contrary to 

N.J.S.A. 2C:15-1 (Count I); theft by unlawful taking, third degree, contrary to 

N.J.S.A. 2C:20-3a (Count II); aggravated assault, fourth degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 

2C:12-1b(1) (Count III); terroristic threats, third degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:12-

3a (Count IV); possession of a firearm for an unlawful purpose, second degree, 

contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-4a (Count V); unlawful possession of a handgun, second 

degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-5b (Count VI); possession of a defaced firearm, 

fourth degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:39-3d (Count VII); theft by receiving stolen 

property, third degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:20-7a (Count VIII); unlawful taking 

of a means of conveyance, fourth degree, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:20-10d (Count X). 

Da14-25. These charges were a result of defendant’s armed robbery of a 7-Eleven 

in Hamilton that occurred on May 7, 2011.  

Defendant subsequently filed a motion to suppress evidence. On October 4, 

2013, the trial court granted defendant’s motion to suppress in part. Specifically, the 

court suppressed the gun found in the vehicle, but found that the clothing and money 

found in a separate area of the vehicle would be admissible.  
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On November 29, 2016, the State, in an attempt to resolve all of defendant’s 

cases, offered defendant a plea deal to resolve this case. Defendant accepted, and 

plead guilty to first-degree robbery, Count I of Indictment Number 11-08-0833-I, in 

exchange for a recommendation of a 12-year term of incarceration, subject to the No 

Early Release Act, to run consecutive to the sentence on Indictment Number 14-02-

0232-I. On July 27, 2017, defendant was sentenced in accordance with this plea deal.  

Defendant appealed all of his pretrial rulings in a single appeal. On April 12, 

2019, the Appellate Division affirmed the trial court’s decision on the suppression 

motion. Subsquently, the New Jersey Supreme Court granted limited certification, 

solely of the suppression issue in this case. The Supreme Court declined to hear the 

issues regarding defendant’s other case.  

On January 25, 2022, the Supreme Court issued an opinion reversing the 

denial of defendant’s suppression motion on the 7/11 robbery. The Supreme Court 

dismissed defendant’s conviction for this case and remanded the matter to the trial 

court. At that time, the State declined its right to further prosecute this matter because 

defendant was already serving a thirty-year sentence on his felony murder 

conviction.  
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COUNTERSTATEMENT OF FACTS 

 During the plea colloquy, defendant admitted that on April 29, 2011, he 

entered the Brunswick Pharmacy on Brunswick Avenue in Trenton, New Jersey. He 

further admitted he was armed with a handgun, and entered the store for the purpose 

of obtaining Percocet with a fraudulent prescription. Defendant admitted that after 

entering the store, he decided to commit armed robbery. Specifically, defendant 

admitted that he pulled out the gun and demanded that the victim give him Percocet.  

Most importantly, defendant stated that during the course of this attempted robbery 

the gun “went off” and shot and killed the victim. (1T:21-12 to 23-1). 

 At the motion to withdraw the guilty plea, the trial court noted the heavy 

burden was on the defendant. The court highlighted that defendant’s assertation of 

innocence was a blanket, bald statement. Additionally, the court found defendant’s 

reason for withdrawal weak. Defendant knew the consequences of his plea and his 

reasonable expectations were met. Most notably, the trial court found “the parties 

contemplated retaining a lot of rights in terms of appeal [at the time of the plea]… 

but there was never any discussion or preservation of any rights to do anything 

regarding the homicide conviction if the robbery conviction ultimately got 

reversed.” (2T:48-7 to 48-13). Finally, the court acknowledged the rights the State 

gave up when entering this plea and highlighted the unfairness which would result 

if defendant were permitted to withdraw his plea.  
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LEGAL ARGUMENT 

POINT I 
 

a. THE CONDITIONAL PLEA RULE DOES NOT APPLY  

Defendant argues the trial court wrongly denied his motion to withdraw his 

guilty plea under the conditional plea rule. R. 3:9-3(f). Defendant cites basic contract 

law in support of this argument.  In short, defendant explicitly states that as a result 

of the pretrial motion in the 7-eleven case being overturned, he is entitled to 

withdraw his guilty plea on this pharmacy robbery, a wholly separate case.  

The conditional plea rule states that “[w]ith the approval of the court and the 

consent of the prosecuting attorney, a defendant may enter a conditional plea of 

guilty reserving on the record the right to appeal from the adverse determination of 

any specified pretrial motion. If the defendant prevails on appeal, the defendant shall 

be afforded the opportunity to withdraw his or her plea.” R. 3:9-3. Additionally, R. 

3:5-7(d) expressly permits “a defendant to challenge on appeal an unlawful search 

and seizure of evidence after entering a guilty plea.” State v. Davila, 443 N.J. Super. 

577, 586, (App. Div. 2016).  

There is no law, nor case law, that allows the conditional plea rule to apply to 

a defendant’s multiple unrelated indictments and pleas. This is a matter of common 

sense and logic. Rather, our courts have already determined that the conditional plea 

rule does not apply to multiple unrelated indictments, unless there was explicit 
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intention from both the State and defendant at the time of the pleas.  State v. Dunns, 

No. A-0851-19T1 (App. Div. Mar. 9, 2020) (slip op. at 6). 

In Dunns, the defendant pled to separate indictments, and was sentenced to 

serve one sentence concurrent to the other. Thereafter, defendant appealed the trial 

court’s denial of his motion to sever on one of his two cases. The appellate court 

reversed the trial court’s decision. Defendant was then allowed to withdraw his plea 

in that case only. The State then moved to withdraw the second plea, citing principles 

of basic contract law and fairness.  See ibid. 

The appellate court upheld the denial of the State’s motion, and illustrated the 

difference between plea agreements and general contract law. Dunns, slip op. at *5. 

The appellate court found the “two plea agreements were separate and were not 

intended by both parties to represent a single global resolution of all criminal matters 

pending against defendant.”  Ibid. In this decision, the court highlighted that it was 

not “expressly state[d] on the record that the second agreement was part and parcel 

of the first agreement. Nor did the prosecutor expressly set as a condition of its plea 

offer that the State could withdraw from the second agreement if defendant were 

permitted to withdraw from the first agreement.” Dunns, slip op. at *6.  The appellate 

division’s opinion made it clear that “[i]n the absence of a clear indication in the 

record that both parties intended for the two agreements to rise or fall together,” plea 
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agreements on separate indictments should be viewed separately for the purposes of 

withdrawing a guilty plea.  Dunns, slip op. at *1.   

Following the persuasive opinion and reasoning in Dunns, here the crimes 

underlying the concurrent – but separate – sentences were committed by defendant 

over a week apart. The cases each had different facts, victims, and codefendants. 

Additionally, the indictments to which defendant pled were filed years apart. When 

the State articulated the plea deals on the record, it was clear the pleas were separate. 

(1T:5-15 to 5-20).  The State specifically offered, “that he plead guilty to murder, to 

receive a 30-year period of New Jersey State Prison with a 30-year period of parole 

ineligibility. That would run concurrent to not only the Pennsylvania charge but to 

the robbery in Hamilton as well, I believe the number we placed on it was 12 

NERA.” Ibid. A review of the record illustrates that the State clearly intended two 

separate, distinct resolutions, while allowing defendant the benefit of serving those 

two separate, distinct sentences at the same time. This is further evidenced by the 

fact that, at the time of the guilty pleas, the trial court took the factual basis for the 

guilty pleas one at a time. (1T:21-12 to 24-18). Additionally, there are two separate 

Judgement of Convictions in this matter. Da64-70.  

It is clear defendant pled to two unrelated indictments. In addition, the trial 

court created a thorough record at the time of the plea which is absent any proof that 

the State intended to allow defendant to withdraw from the second agreement if 
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defendant were permitted to withdraw from the first agreement. Contrary to 

defendant’s assertions, the reversal of a pretrial motion in an unrelated case is wholly 

irrelevant when determining whether a defendant is entitled to withdraw his plea in 

the case at hand. As such, the conditional plea rule is not applicable in the current 

case. 

 
 

b. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED THE 

SLATER FACTORS.   

 Defendant states that the trial court’s decision must be reversed because it 

applied the wrong standard of law to defendant’s motion to withdraw his guilty plea. 

Here, the trial court correctly analyzed defendant’s motion to withdraw his plea 

using Slater factors. See State v. Slater, 198 N.J. 145, 151 (2009).  

In Slater, the Court outlined a framework to assess claims to withdraw a plea:  

[I]n evaluating motions to withdraw a guilty plea, trial 
courts should consider the following factors: (1) whether 
the defendant has asserted a colorable claim of innocence; 
(2) the nature and strength of defendant's reasons for 
withdrawal; (3) the existence of a plea bargain; and (4) 
whether withdrawal would result in unfair prejudice to the 
State or unfair advantage to the accused. 

[State v. Lipa, 219 N.J. 323, 332 (2014)]. 

At the hearing for the motion to withdraw, the trial court discussed these 

factors and their applicability in the present case extensively. (2T:44-13 to 52-1.) 

The court found that defendant was merely making a bald assertation of innocence. 

AMENDEDFILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, October 11, 2024, A-002045-22, AMENDED



10 
 

(2T:45-18 to 46-8). Additionally, the trial court found the nature of defendant’s 

reasons for withdrawal unpersuasive, and the strength of the reasons to be without 

proof. (2T:49-3 to 49-16). Lastly, the trial court found clear prejudice to the State 

and unfair advantage to the defendant. (2T:50-14 to 51-20).  

“The withdrawal of a guilty plea is within the broad discretion of the trial 

court.” State v. Bellamy, 178 N.J. 127, 135 (2003); see also R. 3:21-1. “We will ... 

reverse the denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea ‘only if there was an abuse 

of discretion which renders the lower courts' decision clearly erroneous.’ ” State v. 

Hooper, 459 N.J. Super. 157, 180 (App. Div. 2019) (quoting State v. Simon, 161 

N.J. 416, 444 (1999)). “Although the ordinary ‘abuse of discretion’ standard defies 

precise definition, it arises when a decision is ‘made without a rational explanation, 

inexplicably departed from established policies, or rested on an impermissible basis.’ 

” Flagg v. Essex Cty. Prosecutor, 171 N.J. 561, 571 (2002) (quoting Achacoso-

Sanchez v. Immigration & Naturalization Serv., 779 F.2d 1260, 1265 (7th Cir. 

1985)). 

In the present case, the trial court applied the correct standard of law with 

fleshed out reasoning and thorough explanation. As cited above, the trial court went 

through every factor individually and found that every factor weighed against 

allowing defendant to withdraw his plea. It is clear the trial court was well within its 

discretion when denying defendant’s guilty plea.  
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c. RELITIGATION OF THIS MATTER IS A VIOLATION OF VICTIM’S  
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 

 
 

The New Jersey Legislature has a clear interest in protecting the rights of 

victims of crimes. The Victims’ Rights Amendment (VRA) set forth enumerated 

rights of crime victims. N.J. Const. art. 1, para. 22. The New Jersey Constitution 

specifically states, “A victim of a crime shall be treated with fairness, compassion 

and respect by the criminal justice system.” N.J. Const. art. I, ¶ 22. The court must 

interpret the above principles and apply them in every case involving a victim, as to 

not violate the rights of those who have already been violated. In the present case, 

this Court must balance the defendant’s constitutionally based interests with the 

victim’s constitutional rights.  

On April 29, 2011, this Defendant murdered Arjun Reddy Dyapa. He was a 

husband. He was a father. He was a brother. He was an uncle. The victims in this 

case, who survived Mr. Dyapa, have the right to fairness, compassion, and respect 

from the criminal justice system. They waited over five years for Defendant to admit 

that he murdered their loved one. Nothing can bring back Mr. Dyapa, but at least his 

family got justice and closure. Defendant’s newest attempt to relitigate a crime that 

he has already admitted to is directly against the interest of these victims. These 
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victims will be retraumatized. As directly stated in the Constitution, it is the job of 

the this Court to respect these victims.  

 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the aforementioned reasons, the State respectfully requests that this 

Court deny defendant’s Motion for Reconsideration of Denial of Defendant’s 

Appeal of Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea.   

           

 Respectfully submitted, 

THERESA L. HILTON 
       Acting Mercer County Prosecutor 

 
     

BY: ERIN REIN 
Acting Assistant Prosecutor 
Special Deputy Attorney General 
NJ Attorney ID 410042022 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Defendant-appellant Jamar Myers respectfully refers this Court to the 

procedural history and statement of facts set forth in his brief previously 

submitted in this matter. 

 

LEGAL ARGUMENT  

 

Myers relies on the arguments made in his previously filed brief, and 

adds the following: 

 

HAVING PREVAILED ON APPEAL, 

DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO WITHDRAW HIS 

PLEA.  
 

 Almost three years ago, before the Supreme Court, Myers won a reversal 

of the denial of his motion to suppress evidence. Ever since then he has been 

trying to do exactly what his plea agreement allowed him to do in this very 

circumstance: seek to vacate that agreement and proceed to trial. The State’s 

brief puts forth three reasons he is not entitled to the benefit of the bargain he 

struck. Two should not be considered by this Court, due to the novelty of one 

and the frivolity of the other. All are meritless. The denial of the motion to 

withdraw his plea must be reversed. 

 The State does not lead with the only argument it has pursued since 

Myers began attempting to vacate his plea two years ago: that he is not entitled 
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to do so under State v. Slater, 198 N.J. 145 (2009). The lack of focus on this 

point is likely because it is indefensible. Slater does provide one mechanism to 

withdraw a plea, due to a colorable claim of innocence. Id. at 151. But there 

are many mechanisms to withdraw a plea that have nothing to do with 

innocence and to which Slater has no applicability. For example, a defendant is 

entitled to withdraw a plea when: 

• He pleaded to an illegal sentence. State v. Patterson, 435 N.J. Super. 498, 

518 (App. Div. 2014). 

 

• There is an insufficient factual basis to support the plea. State v. 

Barboza, 115 N.J. 415, 424 (1989). 

 

• He was not informed that the sentence including a period of parole 

ineligibility. State v. Kovack, 91 N.J. 476, 485 (1982). 

 

• He was misinformed about immigration consequences of his plea. State 

v. Gaitan, 209 N.J. 339, 371-72 (2012). 

 

• He was not informed that he would be subject to parole supervision after 

he completes his sentence. State v. Johnson, 182 N.J. 232, 241 (2005). 

 

In short, although some plea withdrawal motions have to meet the Slater 

standard in order to prevail, most do not. This is one of the motions that does 

not have to meet the Slater instead. Instead, Myers is entitled to withdraw his 

plea because he bargained for that right as part of the plea agreement. 

The State does not dispute that when Myers pleaded guilty to charges 

from both indictments on the same day he explicitly preserved his right to 
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appeal the motion to suppress physical evidence under the conditional plea 

rule on the single plea form that encompassed all of the charges. Instead, the 

State argues for the first time that Myers’s conditional plea somehow did not 

encompass both indictments he was pleading guilty to. This argument must be 

rejected. 

As an initial matter, this argument was waived by the State failing to 

raise it below. It is well-established that “the points of divergence developed in 

proceedings before a trial court define the metes and bounds of appellate 

review.” State v. Witt, 223 N.J. 409, 419 (2015) (citing State v. Robinson, 200 

N.J. 1, 19 (2009)). “The jurisdiction of appellate courts rightly is bounded by 

the proofs and objections critically explored on the record before the trial court 

by the parties themselves.” Robinson, 200 N.J. at 19. “Parties must make 

known their positions at the suppression hearing so that the trial court can rule 

on the issues before it.” Witt, 223 N.J. at 419 (emphasis added). If a party fails 

to “properly present[ ]” an issue “to the trial court when an opportunity for 

such a presentation is available,” the court on appeal “will decline to consider” 

the issue. Ibid.  

The State never disputed below that all parties understood the plea 

agreement to provide Myers the right to withdraw from the plea agreement in 

its entirety of he prevailed on appeal. Therefore there is no record of this 
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belatedly introduced intent the State asserts it had eight years ago for “two 

separate, distinct resolutions,” (an assertion belied by the fact that there was in 

fact one resolution for all of the pending charges). (State’s brief 8) The State 

cannot now for the first time invent a new rationale for its opposition to this 

motion and assert unsubstantiated facts in support of that opposition. It had 

one complaint for the last two years: Myers did not meet the Slater standard. 

That is the only issue that should be considered on appeal.  

Substantively, the State marshals no legal support for its proposition that 

when two separate indictments cannot be encompassed in one plea bargain, a 

defendant winning an issue he preserved on appeal requires that the defendant 

be allowed to withdraw from the agreement as a whole. The State ignores the 

published case of State v. Diloreto, 362 N.J. Super. 600, 615-16 (App. Div. 

2003), in which this Court held that right to withdraw from the entirety of a 

plea agreement after prevailing on appeal, as codified in the conditional plea 

rule, applies when “the defendant simultaneously pleads to multiple 

indictments and the pre-plea motion relates to only one.” Id. at 616 n.6. It cites 

instead one unpublished case, State v. Dunns, A-0851-19T1, 2020 WL 1130327 
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(App. Div. Mar. 9, 2020),1 which aside from not being precedential, does not 

support the State’s argument.  

Dunns is a case about limiting the State’s right to withdraw from a plea 

agreement, not the defendant’s right. In Dunns, “[t]he State and defendant 

negotiated two plea agreements, entered on different dates, to resolve the 

multitude of charges” that were charged in “several indictments.” Id. at *1. 

The defendant won an appeal on the denial of a severance motion and sought 

to withdraw from only one plea agreement. Ibid. The State sought to vacate 

both agreements, arguing that they were part of a global resolution. Ibid. This 

Court affirmed the order denying the State’s motion, noting that while our 

Court Rules “explicitly preserv[e] a defendant’s right to seek withdrawal from 

a plea agreement under certain circumstances . . . ‘[o]ur Rules do not contain a 

corresponding right of the State to withdraw from a plea agreement.’” Id. at *5 

(quoting State v. Means, 191 N.J. 610, 620 (2007)). See also State v. Warren, 

115 N.J. 433, 443 (1989) (“[A]lthough notions of fairness apply to each side, 

the State as well as the defendant, the defendant’s constitutional rights and 

interests weigh more heavily in the scale.”).  

 
1 The State does not state that there are no contrary unpublished opinions 

known to counsel, as required by Rule 1:36-3. 
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In contrast, in this case the defendant is seeking to withdraw from a plea 

by using the right to do so granted to him by the conditional plea rule. He also 

pleaded guilty to all of the charges from both indictments on the same day, 

making a clear a global resolution, in contrast to the two separate plea 

agreements in Dunn. This Court has properly understood that when a 

defendant pleads guilty to multiple charges from separate indictments in order 

to resolve all of those indictments together, that decision is informed by an 

understanding of the totality of the evidence against him, including by adverse 

evidentiary rulings. A defendant who prevails on one of those issues is now 

facing a materially different set of circumstances and can withdraw his plea of 

he so chooses. See, e.g., State v. Adl, A-5530-16T3, 2019 WL 3714467, at *6 

(App. Div. Aug. 7, 2019) (reversing the denial of an order to suppress that 

stemmed from the facts of one case and “remand[ing] to afford defendant an 

opportunity to withdraw his guilty pleas to three offenses[,]” from multiple 

unrelated indictments) (Ra 1-5).2 See also State v. Hager, 462 N.J. Super. 377, 

388-89 (App. Div. 2020) (where the defendant was convicted of resisting arrest 

at trial and then entered an unconditional plea to a severed charge, this Court 

reversed the resisting conviction based on an evidentiary ruling and vacated 

 
2 Ra – Appendix to defendant’s reply brief. Pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, counsel is 

unaware of any unpublished opinions known to counsel. 
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the guilty plea because it “accept[ed the] defendant’s representation” that the 

improper ruling “led directly” to the plea being entered).  

In short, this Court understands that a defendant who enters a conditional 

plea agreement and has bargained for the right to appeal certain issues has 

bargained for the right to withdraw from that agreement in its entirety if he 

prevails on appeal. Myers gave up all of the constitutional rights attendant to 

his right to a trial when he lost two critical pretrial motions. The unfavorable 

suppression ruling was linchpin that allowed evidence of the crimes charged in 

one indictment to be admissible in a trial for the crimes alleged in the other 

indictment. That loss made the evidence against him in both cases significantly 

worse for him. And so he accepted a “final order to resolve this murder case as 

well as any other pending charges against Mr. Myers[;]” in other words, a 

global, unified resolution to all charge. (1T 5-1 to 6-1) When the Supreme 

Court reversed the denial of the motion to suppress, the bargain was no longer 

as much of a benefit to Myers. And so he wants to withdraw from it, exactly as 

the conditional plea rule allows.  

As to the State’s final argument against withdrawal, regarding the VRA, 

Myers responds only to note that the cursory argument is also tantamount to 

waiver. State v. Williams, 461 N.J. Super. 80, 105 (App. Div. 2019) (declining 

to address a cursory argument raised in a footnote); N.J. Dep’t of Env’t Prot. v. 
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Alloway Twp., 438 N.J. Super. 501, 505 n. 2 (App. Div. 2015) (“An issue that 

is not briefed is deemed waived upon appeal.”). 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the denial of Jamar Myers’s motion to 

withdraw from his guilty plea must be reversed.  

Respectfully submitted, 

 

JENNIFER N. SELLITTI 

Public Defender 

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant 

 

BY: ____/s/ TAMAR Y. LERER_______ 

   Deputy Public Defender 

      Attorney ID: 063222014 

 

Dated: October 18, 2024 
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Opinion

PER CURIAM

*1  Defendant Mikiel Adl was indicted for controlled
dangerous substance (CDS) and weapons offenses arising out
of a warrantless search of a house in Edison. Following the
trial court's denial of his motion to suppress evidence seized
in that search, defendant reached a global plea agreement
involving that indictment and two other indictments. He
pled guilty to second-degree conspiracy to distribute CDS
while in possession of a firearm and second-degree certain
persons not to possess a weapon, which both arose out of the
warrantless search, and second-degree witness tampering. In
accordance with the plea agreement, he was later sentenced
to an aggregate prison term of twelve years with a six-

year period of parole ineligibility. Pursuant to Rule 3:5-7(d),
defendant preserved his right to appeal the denial of his
suppression motion.

Defendant raises the following arguments on appeal:

POINT I

BECAUSE NEITHER THE ARREST WARRANT FOR
A NON-RESIDENT NOR CONSENT OR APPARENT
AUTHORITY ALLOWED POLICE TO ENTER AND
SEARCH THE HOME, THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS
SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED.

A. The Police Entry Into The Dwelling Cannot Be
Justified By The Arrest Warrant For Non-Resident
Bradley.

B. Adl's Act Of “Stepping Aside” For The Police Did
Not Equate To Consent To Enter.

C. Adl's Act Of Answering The Door Did Not, By
Itself, Provide The Police With A Reasonable Basis To
Believe That He Had Apparent Authority To Consent To
A Search Of The Premises.

D. The State Has Waived Any Exigent-Circumstances
Argument By Declining To Raise It Below.

POINT II

BECAUSE THE IMPOSITION OF THE
DISCRETIONARY PAROLE BAR VIOLATED
ALLEYNE V. UNITED STATES, THE PAROLE
DISQUALIFIER ON THE WITNESS-TAMPERING
COUNT MUST BE VACATED. IN THE ALTERNATIVE,
BECAUSE THE SENTENCING JUDGE IMPOSED
A DISCRETIONARY PAROLE BAR WITHOUT
ARTICULATING ITS REASONS FOR DOING SO,
RESENTENCING IS REQUIRED.

A. The Imposition Of The Discretionary Parole Bar
Violated Our State And Federal Constitutions.

B. Alternatively, The Sentencing Judge Imposed The
Discretionary Parole Bar Without Making The Requisite
Findings, And Therefore, Resentencing Is Required.

Prior to oral argument, we requested the parties to submit
supplemental briefs addressing the implications of our
decision in State v. Bradley, Nos. A-3707-15, A-0060-16
(App. Div. Sep. 28, 2018), certif. denied, 237 N.J. 318 (2019),
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where we reversed the decision of a different trial court
denying a similar motion to suppress evidence arising from
the same warrantless search that defendant sought to suppress,
and our Supreme Court's decision in State v. Kiriakakis, 235
N.J. 420 (2018), regarding the constitutionality of imposing
a period of parole ineligibility on the witness tampering
conviction under N.J.S.A. 2C:43-6(b) without a jury trial. In
his submission, defendant argues:

POINT I

THE COURT PROPERLY RECOGNIZED IN
BRADLEY THAT THE EXACT SAME ENTRY
AND SEARCH AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE
WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL, AND BECAUSE
THE FACTS ADDUCED AT BRADLEY'S
AND ADL'S SUPPRESSION HEARING[S] WERE
LEGALLY INDISTINGUISHABLE. SUPPRESSION IS
REQUIRED.

*2  POINT II

ALTHOUGH THE ISSUE RAISED IN POINT [II A] OF
DEFENDANT'S OPENING BRIEF IS CONTROLLED
BY THE SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN STATE V.
KIRIAKAKIS, RESENTENCING IS STILL REQUIRED
FOR THE REASONS EXPRESSED IN POINT [II B].

Having considered these arguments in light of the applicable
law and the record, we reverse the denial of defendant's
motion to suppress based on essentially the same reasoning
we followed in Bradley, as applied to the present record.
Accordingly, we vacate the convictions for second-degree
conspiracy to distribute CDS while in possession of a firearm
and second-degree certain persons not to possess weapons,
and remand so that defendant can move to vacate his guilty
pleas. That being said, for the sake of completeness, we
conclude the record does not support his contention that the
court did not set forth its reasons for imposing a discretionary
parole disqualifier for the witness tampering charge – which
he now concedes did not violate his constitutional rights.

I

Since the events leading up to the law enforcement officers'
decision to conduct the warrantless search were fully detailed
in Bradley, we need not repeat them here. Suffice it to say,
that more than ten police officers went to the Edison house
to execute an arrest warrant against Malcom A. Bradley –

believing he was present in the house – who was accused
of fatally shooting a victim while they were in separate cars
waiting at a stoplight in Plainfield. As a result of the evidence
seized during the warrantless search, defendant and five co-
defendants, including Bradley, were charged in forty-nine
counts of Indictment No. 11-07-01083. Defendant was named
in eight of those counts; CDS and weapons offenses, and a
charge of second-degree conspiracy to distribute CDS while
in possession of a firearm, N.J.S.A. 2C:39-4.1 and 2C:5-2. On
that same date, the one-count Indictment No. 11-07-01088,
also arising from the warrantless search, charged him with
second-degree certain persons not to possess a weapon,
N.J.S.A. 2C:39-7.

Defendant moved to suppress the evidence seized in the
warrantless search. At the suppression hearing, the State
presented the sole testimony of Sergeant Michael Triarsi of
the Union County Prosecutor's Office. He stated that at 11:44
p.m. on March 25, 2011, possessing an arrest warrant, he
knocked on the door of a house in Edison to apprehend
Bradley. He was wearing plain clothes and had a police
badge around his neck. Law enforcement did not know that
defendant was present in the house nor did they suspect him
of any wrongdoing at that time.

According to Sgt. Triarsi, a man, who he later identified as
defendant, opened the door. Sgt. Triarsi asked, “where is he
[?]” and defendant stepped to the side, which Sgt. Triarsi
said he understood to mean “[c]ome on in.” The officers
located Bradley in the den located to the right of the front
door. The officers found a handgun “underneath” Bradley and
observed narcotics, baggies, and “things of that nature” in
his immediate vicinity. The police arrested Bradley, secured
defendant and his girlfriend Heather Ganz, along with three
other occupants, and applied for a search warrant. Bradley
admitted to possession of the handgun and the narcotics in his
vicinity, but denied possession of anything else in the house.
During the subsequent warrant search, additional contraband
was found.

*3  In addition to Sgt. Triarsi's testimony, the State played the
home surveillance video, which it obtained from co-defendant
Ganz. The video was not played at Bradley's motion to
suppress hearing. Although the video is blurry and interrupted
by flashes of light, it shows that when Sgt. Triarsi knocked on
the front door there were two other law enforcement officers
on the steps directly behind him. The officers do not appear to
have their guns drawn, although they are holding their right
hands close to their sides. It appears from the video that after
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defendant opened the door, he moved left, and Sgt. Triarsi and
two officers on the steps entered the residence followed by six
other officers, some of whom appear to be in uniform.

Defendant was the only witness presented on his behalf. He
testified that as he opened the door to leave the house the
police shined a light in his face, threw him to the ground and
handcuffed him. Although he was dating Ganz at the time of
the search, he denied having the authority to let anyone into
the house and said that it was not his intention to let the police
enter.

After reserving decision, the court issued an order and

a written decision denying the motion to suppress. 1  The
decision was based upon the court's assessment of whether
there was an exception to the prohibition against warrantless
searches because defendant gave third-party consent to the
police to search the house. Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S.
177, 186 (1990). The court found the police officers' belief
that defendant had the authority to consent to a search was
objectively reasonable in view of the attendant facts and
circumstances. Id. at 188-89; State v. Bruzzese, 94 N.J. 210,
219, 221 (1983). The court held:

Based on all the testimony
presented ..., the facts establish
that [defendant] opened the door in
response to the police knocking; he did
not object to police entry or state in
any way, shape, or form that the police
were not allowed to come in; police
asked about Bradley's presence and
[defendant] stepped aside in response
to the question. The act of stepping
aside by [defendant] can fairly be
interpreted as granting permission to
enter the premises. The reasonableness
of that inference is also buttressed
by [defendant's] failure to verbalize
any objection to the officer's search
into the residence.[ ] Based on these
circumstances, the court finds that the
police had an objectively reasonable
basis to believe that [defendant]
possessed common authority over the
property to be searched and that

his actions and inactions granted the
officers consent to enter the residence.

1 Although the court was aware that Bradley
had previously moved in Middlesex and Union
vicinages to suppress the evidence obtained from
the warrantless search of the house, there is no
indication in the record that the court was aware
of those rulings or reviewed the transcripts or
opinions rendered in those cases.

Ten months later, defendant reached a global plea agreement
resolving three indictments. He pled guilty to second-degree
conspiracy to distribute CDS while in possession of a
firearm under Indictment No. 11-07-01083 (count two) and
second-degree certain persons not to possess weapons under
Indictment No. 11-07-01088 (count one). He also pled guilty
to second-degree witness tampering under Indictment No.
11-12-01872 (count three), which arose from a separate
incident involving threats defendant made to a woman arising
from their mutual involvement in a legal proceeding. In
accordance with the plea agreement, defendant was sentenced
to: a six-year prison term with a three-year parole bar
for second-degree conspiracy to distribute CDS while in
possession of a firearm; a five-year prison term with a five-
year parole bar for second-degree certain persons not to
possess weapons to run concurrent to the CDS offense; and
a six-year prison term with a discretionary three-year parole
bar under N.J.S.A. 2C:43-6(b) for second-degree witness
tampering to run consecutive to the CDS offense and to run
concurrent to the certain persons offense.

II

*4  We first address defendant's contention that the trial
court erred in denying his motion to suppress because the law
enforcement officers' warrantless search in the house was not
justified because they did not have valid consent to enter the
house to execute the arrest warrant against Bradley. The State
disagrees based upon the court's factual findings and legal
conclusions that valid consent to enter the house was given

by defendant. 2

2 Issues regarding the scope of the law enforcement
officers' execution of the arrest warrant and the
search incident to an arrest, and whether there were
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exigent circumstances to enter the house, were not
present in this appeal as they were in Bradley.

Under our standard of review, we must defer to the trial court's
findings of fact “so long as those findings are supported by
sufficient evidence in the record.” State v. Hubbard, 222 N.J.
249, 262 (2015) (internal citations omitted); see also State v.
Gonzales, 227 N.J. 77, 101 (2016) (recognizing that factual
findings will be upheld if there is sufficient credible evidence
in the record to support the findings).

However, we owe no deference to the trial court's conclusions
of law. See State v. Hinton, 216 N.J. 211, 228 (2013) (internal
citations omitted). Nor are we “obliged to defer to clearly
mistaken findings ... that are not supported by sufficient
credible evidence in the record.” State v. Gibson, 218 N.J. 277
(2014).

To a considerable extent, the court's ruling on the suppression
motion embody a mixture of factual and legal determinations,
and the significance, under search-and-seizure principles,
of factual details that emerged at the hearing. Our scope
of review is therefore a mixed one, depending upon the
particular facet of the trial court's decision in question.

It is well-established that a resident of property may vitiate the
warrant requirement by consenting to a search by the police.
State v. Domicz, 188 N.J. 285, 305 (2006); see also State v.
Legette, 227 N.J. 460, 474-75 (2017) (ruling the State failed
to establish consent to justify the warrantless police search of
a residence).

An “essential element” of such consent to conduct a
warrantless search is the individual's “knowledge of the right
to refuse [it].” State v. Johnson, 68 N.J. 349, 353-54 (1975);
see also Legette, 227 N.J. at 475 (reversing a finding of
consent by a defendant who had been stopped by an officer on
a reasonable suspicion of illegal drug use, because the State
had not shown the defendant “thought he could refuse [the
officer's] search into his apartment”). In a noncustodial setting
such as the present one, the State does not necessarily have
to establish that police officers expressly advised the person
who allowed their search of the right to refuse consent, but
that burden remains on the State to demonstrate that person's
knowledge of right to refuse. Johnson, 68 N.J. at 354.

“[C]onsent to a warrantless search ... must be shown to
be unequivocal, voluntary, knowing, and intelligent.” State
v. Sugar, 108 N.J. 151, 156 (1987). Consent is a factual

question determined by an examination of the totality of the
circumstances. State v. Koedatich, 112 N.J. 225, 264 (1988).

Applying these legal standards, as we did in Bradley,
we respectfully disagree with the court's conclusion that
defendant's opening of the house's front door and standing to
the side, gave the large group of assembled police officers
valid consent to enter and search the dwelling. Sgt. Triarsi did
not testify that he or any of the other officers present advised
defendant of his right to refuse consent. Nor did the State
establish that defendant was already aware of that right.

*5  The video clearly shows that defendant leaned aside after
he encountered the officers at the door. See State v. S.S.,
229 N.J. 360, 374-81 (2017) (clarifying the limited scope of
appellate review of factual findings based on video evidence,
but declaring that “[a]ppellate courts have an important role
in taking corrective action when factual findings are so
clearly mistake – so wide of the mark – that the interest
of justice demand intervention”); see also State v. A.M.,
237 N.J. 384, 395-96 (2019). This is insufficient proof that
he knowingly and voluntarily consented to their search into
the dwelling. Wearing garb that identified him as a law
enforcement officer, Sgt. Triarsi knocked on the door with
several other officers assembled behind him. Rather than
identify himself or converse with defendant, Sgt. Triarsi
immediately demanded to know “[W]here is he[?]”; referring
to Bradley.

The totality of circumstances objectively would have been
intimidating or alarming for a citizen opening the door to
this encounter. As the Court observed in Johnson, “[m]any
persons, perhaps most, would view the request of a police
officer to make a search as having the force of law.” 68 N.J. at
354. Hence, “[u]nless it is shown by the State that the person
involved knew that he had the right to refuse to accede to
such a request, his assenting to the search is not meaningful.”
Ibid.; see also State v. Rice, 115 N.J. Super. 128, 130-31 (App.
Div. 1971) (ruling that where a police officer knocked on an
apartment door and entered, without any words being spoken
between the officer and the person who opened the door, the
search was not with knowing consent and instead was, “[a]t
best ... permitted in submission to authority”).

Accordingly, we are constrained to rule that the court's
conclusion that defendant's actions and inactions granted the
officers consent to enter the residence is unpersuasive and not
supported by substantial credible evidence. We thus conclude
the consent exception to a warrantless search does not apply.
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We likewise are unpersuaded that the record suffices to
establish defendant had apparent authority to allow the
officers into this private dwelling. The United States
Supreme Court has applied the apparent authority doctrine
“when officers enter without a warrant because they
reasonably (though erroneously) believe that the person
who has consented to their search is a resident of the
premises[.]” Rodriguez, 497 U.S. at 186 (emphasis added);
see also Georgia v. Randolph, 547 U.S. 103, 109 (2006)
(noting that police may reasonably rely upon consent
given by “a co-occupant whom the police reasonably,
but erroneously, believe to possess shared authority as an
occupant.” (emphasis added)).

The Court has warned in this context that Fourth Amendment
rights must not be “eroded ... by unrealistic doctrines of
‘apparent authority.’ ” Stoner v. California, 376 U.S. 483,
488 (1964). The trial court's analysis here threatens such an
erosion. It is not objectively reasonable for police to assume
that whenever an adult answers a door to a dwelling, the adult
has the apparent authority to consent to the police entering.

None of the officers asked defendant if he owned or lived
in the house. They obtained no information before entering
about his reason for being on the premises. Defendant's mere
conduct in opening the door in response to Sgt. Triarsi's
knocking, and in thereafter leaning his body away from the
officers' path, does not provide sufficient objective indicia
that he possessed the right to decide who may enter the
premises.

Indeed, the police appeared to know little about the house
other than they suspected Bradley was inside. They had no
information about who lived there or whether defendant was
their relative or a guest of the residents. There simply is not
enough evidence in this record to conclude, as a matter of law,
that defendant possessed the apparent authority to consent to
the police search.

*6  Having concluded that the record or the applicable
law does not support the consent exceptions to the warrant
requirement, we must consider the ramifications of that
conclusion. It is clear that the firearm and CDS that were
seized from the house after their illegal warrantless search

were “fruits of the poisonous tree” and should have been
suppressed. See State v. O'Neill, 193 N.J. 148, 171 n.13
(2007). Consequently, this matter must be remanded to afford
defendant an opportunity to withdraw his guilty pleas to three
offenses and have the judgment of conviction vacated.

III

In his initial appellate brief, defendant contends a remand
is necessary for resentencing because the imposition of a
discretionary parole bar on the witness tampering conviction
violated Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 99 (2013).
However, in his supplemental brief, he acknowledges that
our Supreme Court rejected the identical argument in State
v. Kiriakakis, 235 N.J. 420, 442 (2018). Yet, he continues to
press forward with the alternative argument he initially raised
that the court imposed a discretionary parole bar without
articulating its reasons for doing so. State v. Bessix, 309 N.J.
Super. 126, 129-30 (App. Div. 1998); see also State v. Sainz,
107 N.J. 283, 290 (1987).

Normally, we would not address this issue because we
reverse the court's denial of defendant's motion to suppress
and, therefore, a remand is necessary so that defendant
can withdraw his guilty pleas. However, for the sake of
completeness, we address and reject defendant's remaining
contention.

The record clearly provides that the court set forth its reasons
for imposing defendant's sentence in accordance with the
plea agreement. In weighing the sentencing factors, the
court noted defendant's age and his extensive and significant
criminal history (including parole violations) and concluded
that aggravating factor three, N.J.S.A. 2C:44-1(a)(3) (the risk
of re-offense), applied. The court specifically found that no
mitigating factors applied. Thus, there is no basis for a remand
based upon alleged errors made at sentencing.

Reversed and remanded for proceedings consistent with this
opinion. We do not retain jurisdiction.

All Citations

Not Reported in Atl. Rptr., 2019 WL 3714467
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